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Welcome to the Annual Report 2023 of 
J. Safra Sarasin Group. We are pleased 
to announce that the Group delivered 
another year of robust performance –  
a testament to the vitality of its core 
business, which is characterised by pru-
dence and financial discipline. We 
find ourselves standing firm as one of 
Switzerland’s leading banking groups.

As we review the events of 2023, we take pride in the 
Group’s resilience and ability to thrive in the face of 
persistent external challenges. Adapting to a complex 
economic and market environment marked by global 
conflicts, rising inflation and market volatility, we 
remain confident in our ability to consistently de- 
liver an exceptional service to our clients. We have 
recorded a strong increase in operating profit, fuelled 
by net new money inflows and rising global interest 

Group Chairman’s Foreword &
Report of the Board of Directors

rates, underscoring our longstanding reputation as a 
steadfast partner and a secure haven for our clients and 
their assets.

An approach based on reliability 
and long-term thinking
At the very core of our principles is our resolve to having 
a forward-thinking perspective. As a family-oriented 
business we are aware that to ensure the continued 
financial well-being of our clients over generations we 
must always keep sight of the long-term trends that will 
shape the future. This means embracing a strategic way 
of thinking in which we meticulously manage risks and 
opportunities, ensuring decisions align seamlessly with 
the financial aspirations of those we serve. 

Client-focused wealth management
Our risk management approach is not just caution; it is 
a bold commitment, a testament to our ambition as 
dedi cated stewards of our clients’ wealth. Infused with 
a culture of entrepreneurship, the Group has a philo-
sophy of personal accountability that not only bolsters 
the overall work ethic of its staff but also contributes to 
its re silience. Aligned with our clients’ priorities, we 
 tailor our wealth management approach to ensure a 
personalised and client-centric experience. Rooted in 
our heritage, we not only strengthen our reputation for 
stability but also strategically position ourselves to pur-
sue valuable opportunities. Staying true to our role as a 
dependable partner highlights our skills in managing 
un certainties and exercising sound judgment while 
remaining committed to the enduring values of pre-
serving wealth for the next generation.

Pioneering sustainable wealth 
and asset management
Finance has a role to play in shaping a more sustainable 
future, and J. Safra Sarasin Group has long been a pio-
neer in devising sustainability policies and integrating 
them into concrete actions. This commitment originates 
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from 1986, when a fire at a Basel-based pharmaceutical 
facility caused a hazardous chemical spill into the Rhine 
River. This was the catalyst for the Group’s consider-
ation of environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
 factors. Our claim of being a sustainable Swiss private 
banking is not a mere assertion; it is a tangible, concrete 
commitment with 35 years of expertise in sustainable 
investments. We champion the adoption of differen ti-
ated solutions, advocate for complete transparency and 
maintain sustainability policies that lead to clear and 
measurable impact. The efforts of the Group’s Corpo-
rate Sustainability Board and ESG Committee have 
been pivotal in fortifying its corporate sustainability 
and sustainable investment strategy, underscoring the 
importance of transparent sustainability policies. 

Sustained momentum in 2023
Operating income rose by 20.4% to CHF 1.7 billion in 
2023 compared to 1.4 billion in 2022 with a record net 
interest margin.

Operating expenses reached CHF 801.9 million in 
2023 against CHF 753.2 million in 2022. This increase 
reflects our continuous efforts to strengthen the Group’s 
client offering, which remains a high priority, including 
the hiring of new teams within private banking and 
asset management as well as in support functions to 
reinforce the expansion of the Group’s activities.

The Group’s net profit rose steadily by 6.9% to CHF 
470.3 million for the year 2023, up from CHF 440.2 
million in 2022. 

The consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2023 
decreased to CHF 42.5 billion. The Group’s liquid assets, 
held with different central banks, remained stable at 
CHF 15.0 billion at the end of 2023. 

The Group remains strongly capitalised with share-
holders’ equity of CHF 5.8 billion and a CET1 ratio of 
47.0% at the end of the year. Standard and Poor’s contin-
ues to rate the Group as “A” for long-term and “A-1” for 
short-term counterparty credit.

With net new money inflows of CHF 7.4 billion for the 
year and positive market performance, client assets 
under management reached CHF 204.3 billion.

Total headcount (full-time equivalents) increased to 
2,503 at the end of 2023, up by 3.2% from 2,425 a year ago. 

The Group operates in more than 30 locations world-
wide. In 2023, in line with the Group’s strategy to 
strengthen its presence in key markets, we opened a 
new branch in Paris, focusing on private banking and 
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institutional clients domiciled in France, and another 
branch in Baden (Switzerland), serving individuals, 
families and institutions in the region. 

Outlook for 2024
We are now embarking on the next phase of the disinfla-
tion journey, one that should see central banks strive to 
align inflation rates with their targets. This is likely to 
be an increasingly complex challenge and will involve 
further curbing inflation in essential services, which are 
primarily shaped by the dynamics of the labour market. 
The persistently stringent monetary stance is expected 
to continue its influence on the economy, leading to a 
further slowdown in activity. Forecasts suggest an addi-
tional deceleration in the US economy, fostering a more 
balanced labour market.

We continue to monitor the major technological de -
velopments that are transforming and shaping global 
trends across sectors, particularly in the case of artificial 
intelligence (AI). Its multi-faceted applications may even-
tually reshape the investment landscape, unlock invest-
ment opportunities in new sectors, alter the value of 
traditional industries, influence global economic power 
balances and create new market trends in combination 
with other forms of disruptive technologies.

Despite the challenges at hand, the Group’s unique set 
of values, diversified offering and solid financial posi-
tion make it well equipped to continue its pursuit for 
excellence. Our robust balance sheet gives us complete 
confidence in our ability to weather any headwinds.  
We are committed to our core values of stability, trust, 
solidity, discretion, efficiency and sustainability and 
will continue to invest in our staff and technology to 
meet the evolving needs of our clients. We wish to re - 
cog nise the efforts and ongoing dedication of all our 
employees as we work together to achieve our long-term 
goals. We are also deeply grateful for the continued con-
fidence and support of our clients.

We are determined to transform the coming years 
into avenues for progress and positive evolution, while 
staying true to our values, traditions and pioneering 
spirit. We strive to honour the trust our clients have 
placed in us, year after year, generation after generation, 
and we are proud to stand at their side again in 2024. 

Jacob J. Safra
Chairman of the Board of Directors
J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd.
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Consolidated income statement

2023  

CHF 000

2022  

CHF 000

Operating income 1,735,908 1,441,497

Operating expenses –801,972 –753,222

Consolidated profit 470,329 440,159

Consolidated balance sheet

31.12.2023  

CHF 000

31.12.2022  

CHF 000

Total assets 42,487,705 45,620,342

Due from customers 10,471,962 12,463,861

Due to customers 31,344,222 33,942,729

Equity 5,757,234 6,187,870

Ratios 2023 2022

Cost-income ratio 46.2% 52.3%

CET1 ratio 47.0% 44.1%

Consolidated Key Data



Consolidated Key Data
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Assets under management

31.12.2023 

CHF million

31.12.2022 

CHF million

Assets under management 204,262 197,937

Headcount (full-time equivalents) 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Consolidated headcount 2,503 2,425

Assets under management by booking centre
(CHF billion) 31. 12. 2023

 Switzerland

 Europe (excluding Switzerland)

 Asia

 Other

 Switzerland

 Europe (excluding Switzerland)

 Asia

 Other

Headcount by location
(full-time equivalents) 31. 12. 2023

Total 204.3 Total 2,503

111.456.3

15.1 21.5

1,262777

349 115





Year in Review
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Moving into 2024, China’s business cycle is poised for 
stabilisation as policy support counters the effects of 
the housing downturn and the impact of regulatory 
changes continue to influence investor sentiment. China’s 
strategic focus on robust expansion in manufacturing 
industries, coupled with weak domestic demand, is 
anticipated to amplify global goods supply. The conclu-
sion of the hiking cycle signals an opportune moment 
for fixed income investments as US bond yields peak. 
The uncertain global economic outlook for 2024 pre-
sents opportunities which our team remains resolute in 
identifying. Our dedication to protecting clients’ finan-
cial interests will continue to be our guiding principle. 

Reinforcing our presence in key markets
We have taken another step to strengthen our foothold 
in our home market and established a new branch in 
Baden, Switzerland. This initiative underscores the 
Group’s dedication to addressing the diverse financial 
needs of individuals, families and institutions in the 
region. Simultaneously, Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Lux-
embourg) SA has continued its expansion with the 
opening of a new branch in Paris, thereby asserting 
itself as a leading wealth and asset manager in Europe. 

Building on our expertise and offering
In 2023, we further bolstered our business with the 
addition of a highly skilled Debt Capital Markets (DCM) 
team, based in Zurich. This is in line with the continued 
strengthening of our services to Swiss businesses and 
institutions and our position in the Swiss financial 
marketplace. Handpicked for their exceptional exper-
tise, the DCM team enhances the Group’s capabilities in 
navigating the intricate landscape of debt capital mar-
kets with a primary focus on bond origination and 
underwriting in Swiss francs for issuers. Comprising 
dedicated professionals covering the entire fixed income 
value chain, this allows us to deliver unparalleled ser-
vice to both issuers and investors. We are focused on 
prudent expansion and tailored financial solutions as 

2023 was a year characterised by  
strategic milestones, commitment to 
our values and resilience in the face  
of challenges. These successes took 
place against a rugged backdrop of 
a slowing pace of global growth, high 
 inflation and geopolitical crises.

Year in Review

The year 2023 was a period of tumultuous market con-
ditions, propelled by a combination of factors: higher 
interest rates, persistent inf lation concerns and the 
looming spectre of a potential recession. The Federal 
Reserve’s assertive rate-tightening cycle, commencing 
in March 2022, took centre stage, introducing another 
layer of complexity to an already volatile environment 
and posing significant challenges for investors. Disin-
flation progressed over the year, leading central banks 
to halt their interest rate hike cycle.
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Year in Review

we anticipate that the DCM team’s market intelligence 
and track record will contribute to the evolution of our 
offering. We are also pleased to note that the Group’s 
existing businesses of private banking and asset man-
agement are thriving and will continue to experience 
growth in the future as we bolster the teams with new 
talent. Finally, we have deployed new digital banking 
solutions, providing clients with novel ways of access-
ing the Group’s capabilities and expertise, and will con-
tinue to invest in relevant emerging technologies in the 
future.

Leading on sustainability reporting
For nearly two decades we have published sustainabil - 
ity reports detailing the Group’s practices in a trans-
parent manner. The Group’s milestones, including the 
introduction of our proprietary Sustainability Matrix®, 
sustainable country ratings and becoming a founding 
signatory to the United Nations Principles for Responsi-
ble Banking (UN PRB), underscore our commitment 
and dedication to sustainability. Since the inception of 
the Group’s sustainable investment offering in 1989 all 
the way to more recent initiatives like the Net Zero Asset 
Managers, we remain dedicated to sustainability prac-
tices which guide our development and ensure that the 
Group’s sustainable investment offering is in keeping 
with the aspirations of clients seeking to combine finan-
cial growth with positive impact. Furthermore, the re-
calibration of our leading methodology for the Country 
ESG Rating, now factoring in income bias, is a tangible 
expression of our continuous improvement and leader-
ship in this field.

A sound basis for achievement
In choosing “Roots” as the theme for this year’s Annual 
Report, we sought to reaffirm what makes the Group’s 
approach to wealth and asset management distinc - 
tive: our activities anchored in more than 180 years of 
ex perience in devising and implementing strategies 
that protect and grow the wealth of our clients over 

generations. This deep rooting in stewardship is not 
only a mere historical marker but a fundamental basis 
for all the Group’s decisions. Having strong roots also 
means being established in locations where clients  
are based, enabling them to benefit from our tailored 
and diverse offering. The Group’s solid capitalisation, 
achieved over the years through careful financial man-
agement, provides a firm foundation from which we can 
make decisions in line with our growth ambitions.

We are proud to report that our efforts have been 
 recognised through several prestigious awards: in 2023, 
we were honoured with the Global Finance award for 
the “Best Private Bank for Social Responsibility”, the 
PWM/The Banker “Best Private Bank for Sustainable & 
Impact Investing” award as well as the ESG Investing 
Awards’ “Best Bank for Sustainable Finance”. We were 
also very pleased to receive the Global Finance awards 
for the “Best Private Bank in Switzerland” and “Best 
Private Bank for Social Responsibility” for 2024. These 
awards serve as an acknowledgment that our values and 
commitment to a tradition of private banking and asset 
management form a strong basis for future success.

In 2024, J. Safra Sarasin continues to stand strong, 
prioritising clients’ asset growth with unwavering 
standards, driven by the Group’s entrepreneurial spirit. 
We express gratitude to our teams and especially to our 
clients, for their trust as we forge ahead on our journey 
in the years ahead.

Juerg Haller Daniel Belfer
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd





Market 
Environment
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Review 2023
2023 was all about a swift disinflation after the world 
economy had experienced the highest inflation rates in 
40 years in 2022. Supply-side bottlenecks and disrup-
tions which led to the scarcity of many goods during the 
pandemic normalised. Goods inflation dropped quickly 
while food and energy costs fell as the initial commodity 
price shocks from the Ukraine war dissipated. As a 
result, headline inflation surprised to the downside for 
most of the year in the US and for the second half of the 
year in Europe. At the end of the year, US and euro area 
inflation rates returned to 3.1% and 3.4%, respectively. 
As disinflation progressed, central banks stopped their 
rate hike cycle in the second half of 2023, leaving their 

policy rates at high levels. Tight labour markets and the 
consequent concern of elevated services inflation kept 
central banks on hold through the rest of the year. 
Companies around the world have experienced diffi-
culties in filling in job vacancies in the last three years. 
As a result, they became more hesitant to lay off work-
ers. This stabilised household incomes and private con-
sumption even in countries that experienced slower 
growth than the US.

In Switzerland, the strong Swiss franc helped contain 
the inflationary pressure, allowing the Swiss National 
Bank (SNB) to end its rate hike cycle earlier and at a 
much lower level than other central banks. Relatively 
small rate hikes in turn weighed less on the economy 
and contributed to stronger economic growth than in 
the euro area.

Many investors had anticipated that the fastest and 
strongest rate hikes since the 1980s would deliver weaker 
activity across the globe. Their expectations were met 
for Europe but not for the US. Fiscal expansion in the 
US turned out to be the largest in its history outside 
recession years, prompting upward revisions of growth 
expectations throughout the year. Job security and fis-
cal support provided US consumers with strong spend-
ing power. Tight monetary policy in Europe, however, 
did lead to weaker growth. The trade-heavy euro area 
was also weighed down by the downside surprise of 
China’s reopening impetus. As China exited the pan-
demic curb at the end of 2022, there was great opti-
mism surrounding the subsequent rebound to be similar 
to the ones experienced in the US and Europe before. 
Sentiment, however, turned from the second quarter as 
the housing correction deepened.

Another market consensus in 2023 was that bond 
yields would drop. However, strong growth and high 
services inflation led to rising US bond yields and the 
expectations of higher-for-longer interest rates. Such 
expectations drove the 10-year US government bond 
yield to peak at 5% in October. Once it became clear the 
Federal Reserve (Fed) was done with its rate hike cycle, 

The resilience of the US economy  
surprised financial markets throughout 
2023. Lower interest rates in 2024 
should provide opportunities in bond 
and equity markets.

Market Environment
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Market Environment

bond yields declined sharply in the fourth quarter and 
ended the year at the same level of 3.9% as the start of 
the year. The US dollar followed bond yields, ending the 
year slightly weaker than at the start. Risk sentiment 
improved over the year and credit spreads tightened.

These macro surprises translated to divergent equity 
performance. Stable economic growth drove US equities 
25% higher by year-end, while a weaker euro supported 
the 15% gain for euro area equities. Chinese equities 
started the year at the highest level and lost 11% by 
year-end as weak sentiment did not recover. Other 
emerging market equities performed well as growth 
remained resilient in large countries like Brazil and 
India. 

Outlook 2024
The next phase of the disinflation process, where infla-
tion rates drop back to central banks’ targets, will be 
more challenging. It will require further compression of 
core services inflation, which is mainly driven by wage 
dynamics. The tight monetary stance should continue to 
work its way through the economy and cool activity 
 further. Without another fiscal stimulus, the US econ-
omy should slow further and the labour market should 
become more balanced. This, however, might take some 
time given the structural demographic changes and the 
long and variable lags with which monetary policy is 
affecting the economy. In Europe, wage negotiations 
this year should reflect the more benign inflation envi - 
ronment.

In this environment, central banks walk a fine line to 
ensure inflation rates reach their targets. The Fed, with 
its dual objective of stable prices and maximum employ-
ment, might start its rate cut cycle around mid-year  
as the economic dynamic slows further and inflation-
ary pressures subside. In other advanced economies, 
central banks will likely follow suit despite lingering 
inflation concerns. Weaker growth and relatively high 
interest rates could make investors more concerned 
about sovereign risks in 2024.

We expect China’s business cycle to stabilise as policy 
support offsets the drag from the housing downturn. 
However, abrupt changes in various regulations and 
policies in the past two years might continue to weigh 
on investor sentiment. Weak domestic demand in China, 
together with its robust expansion in strategic manu-
facturing industries, should increase the supply of 
goods globally. This would contribute to lower goods 
prices but could also risk higher global trade tensions.

In Switzerland, the services sector should continue 
its expansion this year while the output in the export 
oriented industrial sector should remain below poten-
tial, reflecting the real appreciation of the Swiss franc. 
The perspective of lower inflation rates should allow 
the SNB to ease monetary conditions in the first half of 
the year.

The end of the hiking cycle typically marks the peak in 
US bond yields. Declining inflation rates should  provide 
an opportunity for fixed income investments as bond 
yields fall further. Yield curves usually steepen when 
policy rates and rate expectations are falling. In this 
environment, high-quality bonds and developed mar-
ket equities should provide good investment opportu-
nities. Lower US rates could also lead to a depreciation 
of the US dollar and drive the gold price higher eventu-
ally. Finally, a weaker US dollar is also generally asso-
ciated with a better performance of emerging market 
equities.





Corporate  
Governance
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Corporate Governance

BJSS is a company incorporated under the laws of 
Switzerland with its registered office in Basel. It holds 
a banking licence and has the status of a securities 
firm.

J. Safra Holdings International (Luxembourg) S.A., 
Luxembourg, holds the entire share capital and voting 
rights of JSSH.

Both JSSH and BJSS are supervised by the Swiss 
Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA.

Consolidated supervision
The JSS Group qualifies as a financial group within the 
meaning of Article 3c al. 1 of the Swiss Banking  
Act over which FINMA exercises consolidated super-
vision. The scope of consolidated supervision applies 
to all direct and indirect subsidiaries, branches and 
representative offices of the JSS Group.

JSSH has delegated to BJSS governing bodies all 
duties, responsibilities and competencies related to the 
management and operation of its current business. 
These responsibilities include the organisation, the 
financial consolidation and risk diversification as well 
as the supervision on a consolidated basis of the JSS 
Group’s activities.

Accordingly, the implementation of the criteria for 
the consolidated supervision of the JSS Group is the 
responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Group 
Executive Board (GEB) of BJSS, under the auspices of 
the Board of Directors of JSSH. The main functions and 
departments at the level of BJSS and, in particular, the 
following functions and departments exercise group-
wide consolidated supervision over the JSS Group:

• Finance
• Credit
• Legal and Compliance
• Risk Office
• Trading and Treasury
• IT
• Group Internal Audit

Group structure and shareholder
J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. (JSSH) is a holding com-
pany incorporated under the laws of Switzerland with 
its registered office in Basel. JSSH is the shareholder 
of Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd (BJSS) and other direct 
and indirect subsidiaries and, as the case may be, their 
branches and representative offices (each a “Group 
Company” and together the “J. Safra Sarasin Group” or 
the “JSS Group”). Reference is made to the organisa-
tion chart on page 29 and the information provided in 
the section “Group Companies” of this report.

Corporate Governance at J. Safra 
Sarasin Holding Ltd. ensures that the 
management and supervision of the 
Group are focused on the long-term 
success of the organisation to the 
benefit of all stakeholders.



J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd., Annual Report 2023 | 21

Corporate Governance

The duties and responsibilities of the above functions 
are governed by the regulations, directives, working 
directives and guidelines issued by JSSH and/or BJSS. 
The implementation of an adequate and effective frame-
work of consolidated supervision throughout the JSS 
Group ensures, inter alia:

• Compliance with the relevant accounting standards 
of the JSS Group;

• Compliance with consolidated capital adequacy 
provisions for the JSS Group;

• Compliance with risk provisions on a consolidated 
basis for the JSS Group;

• Compliance with the liquidity requirements of the 
JSS Group;

• Adequate system of internal controls and super- 
vision of the governing bodies of all the Group 
Companies and separation of functions;

• Operation of a group-wide system of directives  
that serves as a management instrument for the 
implementation of regulations and processes which 
are necessary in the context of consolidated 
supervision;

• Group-wide measures to combat money laundering 
and the financing of terrorism;

• Group-wide regulatory compliance, risk  
management and internal audit; and

• Immediate access to any information required to 
ensure the integrated management of all Group 
Companies.

Board of Directors

Area of responsibility
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of JSSH is the 
ultimate governing body of the JSS Group. It lays down 
the JSS Group’s objectives and business strategy and 
supervises the GEB, entrusted with the management of 
the business.

Furthermore, the Board is responsible for the financial 
situation and development of the JSS Group and 
approves the capital and liquidity plans as well as the 
financial statements.

The Board is also responsible for all business mat-
ters that the Articles of Association and the law do  
not specifically reserve for the General Meeting of 
shareholders.

The Board signs off the group-wide risk manage- 
ment framework and is responsible for monitoring and 
controlling the main risks of the JSS Group as required 
by Swiss banking regulation and for implementing an 
appropriate business organisation and the consolidated 
supervision framework.

The Board delegates the running of the JSS Group to 
the GEB (under the leadership of the CEO) in accord-
ance with the applicable Organisational Regulations 
and is regularly briefed by the CEO and the other mem-
bers of the GEB.

The allocation of responsibilities between the Board, 
the GEB and the CEO is further specified in the 
Regulations on Allocation of Competencies of JSSH.

Internal organisational structure
Meetings of the Board are convened by its Chairman 
or, should he be impeded, by the Vice-Chairman or 
another member of the Board. Meetings take place as 
often as business requires, generally once a quarter. In 
addition, any Board member may submit a request that 
a meeting be convened. Usually, the Boards of BJSS 
and JSSH meet on the same day and both meetings 
together last several hours. In 2023, the Boards of JSSH 
and BJSS each met four times.

Board members have access to all information con-
cerning the business and the affairs of the JSS Group 
as may be necessary or appropriate for them to fulfil 
their duties. During Board meetings, any Board mem-
ber is entitled to request information on any matter 
relating to the JSS Group regardless of the agenda.
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As of 31 December 2023, the composition of the Board 
of BJSS was as follows:

• Juerg Haller Chairman
• Flavio Romerio Vice-Chairman
• Philippe Dupont Member
• Jorge A. Kininsberg Member
• Jacob J. Safra Member

Collectively, the members of the Board have a thorough 
understanding of the banking and financial services 
sector in general and of the JSS Group in particular as 
well as the global regulatory environment.

Jacob J. Safra
Born in 1975; lives in Switzerland; 
Bachelor of Sciences in Economics; Finance Major – 
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, 
Philadelphia, USA

Jacob J. Safra has been responsible for the main busi-
ness activities of the J. Safra Group outside of Brazil 
since 1998. From 1998 until 2005, he served as COO and 
subsequently CEO of Safra National Bank of New York, 
USA, where he was also Vice-Chairman and, since 
2021, Chairman of the Board of Directors. In 2002, 
he became a Director of the Joseph Safra Foundation, 
a position he holds to this day. Jacob J. Safra has been 
a member of the Board of Directors of BJSS (including 
Banque J. Safra (Suisse) SA) since 2005 and became 
Vice-Chairman of JSSH in 2008 and Chairman of the 
Board in December 2020. He is also a member of the 
Board of Directors of various entities of the J. Safra 
Group and member of the Board of Banque J. Safra 
Sarasin (Monaco) SA (from 2006 until 2014 as Vice-
Chairman and since 2014 as Chairman). In addition, 
he has been a member of the Board of Directors of 
Chiquita Brands International since 2015. In 2023, he 
was distinguished by the Brazilian Government with The 

The Board of BJSS has set up an Audit & Risk Com  - 
mittee.

Information and control instruments 
vis-à-vis senior management
The GEB and the CEO ensure the implementation of 
the Board’s decisions and approved plans and projects. 
The GEB and the CEO are responsible for the opera-
tional management of the JSS Group.

In coordination with the Chairman of the Board, the 
CEO is responsible for promptly informing the Board 
and/or the Audit & Risk Committee of any aspects of 
the JSS Group or a Group Company that are material 
for decision-making and monitoring.

In addition, the CEO or, in certain cases, the compe-
tent Division Head (or Function Head) provides the 
Board with the information it requires to carry out its 
supervisory and control functions. This includes regu-
lar information about the general course of business, 
the JSS Group’s financial performance and the imple- 
mentation of the JSS Group’s risk management frame- 
work.

The Board may invite Division Heads and/or 
Function Heads to Board meetings to discuss specific 
matters.

Composition of the Board
As of 31 December 2023, the composition of the Board 
of JSSH was as follows:

• Jacob J. Safra Chairman
• Philippe Dupont Member*
• Juerg Haller Member*
• Jorge A. Kininsberg Member*
• Flavio Romerio Member*

* Independent member
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Order of Rio Branco, Grand Cross degree, for his out-
standing merits and honourable actions.

Philippe Dupont
Born in 1961; Luxembourg national; 
lives in Luxembourg; 
Master’s Degree in Law – University of Paris, France; 
Master of Laws (LL.M.) – London School of 
Economics and Political Science, UK; Member of the 
Luxembourg Bar

Philippe Dupont began his professional career as a 
lawyer in 1986. He is a founding partner of Arendt & 
Medernach and specialises in banking and finance 
with a focus on bank regulatory, lending, structured 
finance, securities laws and litigation. He is the cor re- 
spondent of the International Institute for the Uni- 
fication of Private Law (UNIDROIT) for Luxembourg 
and further acts as conciliator and arbitrator at the 
International Centre for Settlement of Investment Dis- 
putes of the International Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development. Philippe Dupont has been a member of 
the Board of Directors of BJSS and JSSH since 2012.

Juerg Haller
Born in 1957; Swiss national; lives in Switzerland; 
Graduate of the Zurich University of Applied Sciences 
(ZHAW); Graduate of the Advanced Management 
Program – Harvard Business School

Juerg Haller began his professional career at  
Raiffeisen Bank Baden-Wettingen in 1973 and worked 
for J.P. Morgan in New York and Zurich from 1981 to 
1984. He was employed with the UBS Group (originally 
Swiss Bank Corporation) in various senior leadership 
positions including 17 years as a Group Managing 
Director and Member of the Group Managing Board in 
the areas of Wealth Management, Corporate Banking 
and Investment Banking from 1984 until July 2019. 

His last function at UBS was Executive Vice-Chairman 
of Global Wealth Management. In 2019, Juerg Haller 
was elected as Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
BJSS and a member of the Board of Directors of JSSH.

Jorge A. Kininsberg
Born in 1950; Brazilian national;  
Bachelor in Business Management – Mackenzie  
University, Faculty of Economics/Accounting and 
Administrative Science, São Paulo, Brazil

During his professional career, Jorge A. Kininsberg 
collected extensive experience in the banking sector 
both at the managerial level and as a member of boards 
of directors. Jorge A. Kininsberg held various leading 
managing positions at institutions such as Banco Safra  
de Investimento SA and Banco Safra SA, São Paulo, 
Brazil. In 1982, he became CEO of the Trade Devel- 
opment Bank (Uruguay) S.A., Montevideo, Uruguay. 
Between 1985 and 1989, he was CEO of Safra National 
Bank of New York, USA. In 1990, Jorge A. Kininsberg 
moved to Luxembourg, taking the position as CEO and 
member of the Board of Directors of Banque J. Safra 
Sarasin (Luxembourg) SA, positions he held until early 
2017. Between 2008 and 2015, he was a member of the 
Board of Directors of Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Bahamas) 
Ltd., and in 2018 was again elected to this Board of 
Directors. Jorge A. Kininsberg has been a member of 
the Board of Directors of BJSS since 2017 and a mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of JSSH since June 2019. 
Furthermore, in September 2021 he also became a 
member of the Board of Directors of Bank J. Safra 
Sarasin (QFC) LLC.
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Flavio Romerio
Born in 1964; Swiss national; lives in Switzerland; 
Ph.D. in Law – University of Basel; Master of Laws 
(LL.M.) – University of California, Berkeley;  
Member of the Swiss Bar

Flavio Romerio has extensive experience in banking 
regulation, compliance and corporate governance. In 
1995, he joined the law firm Homburger AG in Zurich 
and became Partner in 2002. Flavio Romerio has been the 
Head of Homburger’s White Collar & Investigations Team 
since 2012. In 2019, he was elected as Managing Partner 
of Homburger AG and is responsible for developing and 
implementing the firm’s strategy and overseeing the 
firm’s management. He is a regular speaker on enforce-
ment and compliance issues and hosts the annual semi-
nar on internal and regulatory investigations at the 
Europa Institute of the University of Zurich. Flavio 
Romerio was appointed as a member of the Board of 
Directors of JSSH and as a member and Vice-Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of BJSS in June 2022.

Audit & Risk Committee
The Board of BJSS has set up an Audit & Risk Com- 
mittee (the “ARC”).

As of 31 December 2023, the ARC was composed of 
the following members:

• Jorge A. Kininsberg Chairman
• Philippe Dupont Member
• Flavio Romerio Member

Collectively, the members of the ARC have a thor- 
ough understanding of all Group Companies and the 
international banking industry and its regulation. The 
ARC maintains regular contact with the audit com- 
mittees of the Group Companies. It receives copies of 
minutes of such committees and ensures consistent 
implementation of its own decisions within the JSS 
Group.

The ARC is responsible for the definition of general 
guidelines on internal audit and financial reporting, 
the monitoring and assessment of financial reporting 
and the integrity of the annual financial statements 
before they are presented to the Board for approval.

The ARC regularly receives information regarding 
compliance with legal and regulatory obligations by the 
Group Companies as well as with regard to the existence 
of adequate and effective internal controls on financial 
reporting. The ARC is also responsible for monitoring 
and assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
internal control systems, specifically risk controls, 
compliance and internal audit. The ARC defines the 
standards and methodologies for risk controls with 
regard to all types of risk (including legal and regulatory 
risks) in order to ensure compliance with the principles 
of the risk policy adopted by the competent supervisory 
authorities, the Board or management bodies within the 
JSS Group. The ARC reviews and proposes to the Board 
the group-wide framework for risk management and its 
guiding principles. It controls and assesses these peri-
odically (at least annually), making recommendations 
of any required changes to that framework.

The ARC assesses the regulatory audit plan, audit 
rhythm and audit results produced by Group Internal 
Audit and the external auditors. It also ensures contact 
with the external auditors at the level of the Board and 
monitors their performance and independence as well 
as their cooperation with Group Internal Audit. The 
Chairman of the ARC regularly reports its activities 
and findings to the Board.

External audit firm
Deloitte Ltd was appointed as the external auditor of 
JSSH and all relevant Group Companies in 2013. For 
2023, the audit firm and its affiliated companies were 
appointed by the General Meeting of shareholders of 
JSSH and most Group Companies for a one-year term 
for the financial and regulatory audits. Re-election is 
possible.



J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd., Annual Report 2023 | 25

Sandro Schoenenberger is the responsible partner 
leading the audit activities. He has held this function 
for JSSH since 2018 and for BJSS since 2020.

Auditing fees
The JSS Group paid Deloitte Ltd and its affiliated com-
panies fees totalling CHF 3,870,000 for services con-
nected with the financial and regulatory audit for the 
year 2023.

Additional fees
The JSS Group paid Deloitte Ltd and its affiliated com-
panies fees totalling CHF 120,000 for services not con-
nected with the financial and regulatory audit for the 
year 2023.

Information instruments pertaining 
to external audit
The ARC holds regular discussions with representa-
tives of the external audit firm regarding the audit 
planning, the results of the audit activity in relation to 
supervisory controls and the preparation of financial 
statements as well as the adequacy of internal control 
systems in light of the JSS Group’s risk profile.

In 2023, representatives of Deloitte Ltd attended six 
meetings of the ARC and one meeting each of the 
Boards of JSSH and BJSS for specific agenda items.

The ARC monitors the scope and organisation of the 
audit activity and evaluates the performance of the 
external audit firm. The audit firm and its affiliated 
companies are independent from JSSH and its Group 
Companies.

Representatives of the external audit firm have 
direct access to the ARC at all times.

Group Internal Audit
Group Internal Audit (GIA) is the internal audit function 
responsible for the entire JSS Group.

The Board has issued regulations for GIA setting out 
its tasks, duties and responsibilities. GIA prepares its 

audit reports without instructions from any other 
party.

GIA reports directly to the Boards of JSSH and BJSS 
through the ARC. In addition, GIA representatives 
report to the respective boards of directors and audit 
committees of Group Companies for their related 
matters.

GIA has an independent and objective assurance and 
consulting role designed to add value and improve the 
operations of BJSS and the JSS Group. It helps each 
Group Company to accomplish its objectives by bring-
ing a systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate 
and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
internal control systems and the JSS Group’s govern-
ance by systematically assessing:

i. the appropriateness and effectiveness of processes 
implemented to define strategy and risk tolerance 
as well as overall adherence to the strategy 
approved by the Board;

ii. the appropriateness and effectiveness of gover- 
nance processes;

iii. the effectiveness of risk management, including 
whether risks are appropriately identified and 
controlled;

iv. the appropriateness and effectiveness of internal 
controls, specifically whether they are commensu-
rate with the risks taken;

v. the effectiveness and sustainability of the imple-
mentation of remedial actions;

vi. the reliability and integrity of financial and opera-
tional information, i.e. whether activities are prop-
erly, accurately and completely recorded as well as 
the quality of underlying data and models; and

vii. compliance with legal, regulatory and statutory 
requirements as well as with internal directives 
and contractual obligations.

GIA has unrestricted auditing rights within the JSS 
Group. It has access at all times to any relevant 

Corporate Governance
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Corporate Secretary. In 2005, he moved to Geneva 
(Switzerland) and joined Banque J. Safra (Suisse) SA 
as Head Legal and Compliance. Stephane Astruc has 
been General Counsel of BJSS since 2013 and a mem-
ber of the GEB since April 2017.

Daniel Belfer
Born in 1975; Brazilian national; lives in Switzerland; 
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration – 
Boston University, Boston, USA; CFA Charterholder

Daniel Belfer began his professional career in 1997 at 
BancBoston Robertson Stephens Inc. in Boston, USA, 
in the Emerging Markets Sales, Trading & Research 
department. In 2000, he joined Safra National Bank of 
New York where he was responsible for Fixed Income 
Trading and Structured Products. In 2004, he was pro-
moted to Head of Trading. From 2008 to 2010, he was 
CEO and member of the Board of Directors of Bank  
J. Safra Sarasin (Bahamas) Ltd. In 2010, he moved to 
Geneva (Switzerland) where he joined Banque J. Safra 
(Suisse) SA. In 2013, he became Head of the Trading & 
Treasury division and, in 2016, Head of the Trading, 
Treasury and Asset Management division of BJSS. 
Daniel Belfer has been CEO of BJSS since November 
2019. He chairs the GEB.

Oliver Cartade
Born in 1976; UK national; lives in Switzerland; 
Bachelor of Sciences in Economics – Wharton School, 
University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA;  
MBA from INSEAD, Fontainebleau, France;  
CFA Charterholder

Oliver Cartade began his professional career in 1998 
at Prudential Securities in New York in the Invest- 
ment Banking division focused on the technology sec-
tor. In 2000, Oliver Cartade joined PIPE9 Corporation, 
an internet start-up focused on B2B e-commerce, as a 
Vice President of Business Development. He then joined 

documents and information required to fulfil its audit-
ing responsibilities.

GIA reports in a timely manner on all material find-
ings directly to the Board through the ARC and the 
GEB. GIA publishes an annual report setting forth the 
key audit findings, including significant risk exposures 
and control issues as well as important activities. It 
submits this report to the ARC, the GEB and the exter-
nal audit firm.

Group Executive Board
Under the leadership of the CEO, the Group Executive 
Board (GEB) has executive management responsibility 
for the steering of the JSS Group and its business in line 
with the direction given by the Board. The GEB is enti-
tled to delegate certain responsibilities and authorities 
to other management bodies such as the Executive 
Committee or other operational committees according 
to the applicable Organisational Regulations of BJSS 
and the Regulations on Allocation of Competencies of 
JSSH. In his capacity as Chairman of the GEB, the CEO 
provides the Board with all information it requires to 
carry out its supervisory and control functions and 
requests the Board’s approval for matters which are in 
the Board’s competence according to relevant internal 
regulations.

The following individuals are members of the GEB:

Stephane Astruc
Born in 1969; Swiss and French national; 
lives in Switzerland;  
Master’s Degree in Private Law – University of Nice 
Sophia Antipolis; Qualified French Lawyer –  
Bar of Paris

Stephane Astruc began his professional career in 1993 
at HSBC Private Bank (Monaco) SA where his main 
responsibilities were Head of the Legal and Compliance 
department, Member of General Management and 
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Kaufman Bros. LP, a boutique investment bank in New 
York, where he focused on M&A and private equity 
transactions across various industries. In 2003, he 
joined Safra National Bank of New York, where he was 
primarily focused on performing research on and 
investing in hedge funds. In 2007, Oliver Cartade moved 
to London to open the London Branch of Bank J. Safra 
Sarasin (Gibraltar) Ltd, where he then became the 
General Manager. In 2009, he also helped set up the 
London Branch of J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management 
(Europe) Ltd, where he became the Managing Director. 
In November 2019, he became Head of the Trading, 
Treasury and Asset Management division. He has been 
Head of the Asset Management & Institutional Clients 
division of BJSS since March 2020. He is a member 
of the GEB.

Elie Sassoon
Born in 1954; Swiss and Brazilian national;  
lives in Switzerland;  
Studied Economics at the Pontificia Universidade 
Católica, São Paulo, Brazil

Elie Sassoon began his professional career in 1977 at 
Banco Safra SA in São Paulo where he was active in 
various back and front office functions. In 1985, he 
joined Banque Safra (Luxembourg) SA in Luxembourg 
first as director of Private Banking and then as manag-
ing director responsible for Operations. In 2000, he 
moved to Geneva (Switzerland) where he joined Banque 
J. Safra (Suisse) SA as a General Manager and where he 
was active in various management functions in the 
Private Banking division. Elie Sassoon has been Head 
of the Private Banking Region II & EXAM division of 
BJSS since 2013. He is a member of the GEB.

Marcelo Szerman
Born in 1977; Brazilian national; lives in Switzerland; 
Bachelor in Business Administration – Finance – 
EAESP – Fundação Getulio Vargas (FGV),  
São Paulo, Brazil

Marcelo Szerman began his professional career in 1999 
at Brascan S.A. CTV (Brascan Holdings/Mellon Bank) 
in São Paulo, Brazil, as an International Equities and 
Futures Sales trader. In 2000, he joined Safra National 
Bank of New York, where he acted as Vice President in 
the Investment Advisory Group. In 2005, he moved to 
Geneva (Switzerland) where he joined Banque J. Safra 
(Suisse) SA in the Trading & Treasury department and 
from 2008 as CEO. From 2012 to 2013, he was CEO of 
JSSH Group. Marcelo Szerman has been COO of the JSS 
since 2013. He is a member of the GEB.

Remuneration

Basic principles
The JSS Group’s compensation principles are issued 
by the Board of BJSS and govern the fundamentals of 
the compensation systems for the entire JSS Group.

The compensation philosophy of the JSS Group is 
based on a transparent and sustainable approach to 
operating a performance-related compensation system. 
Compensation is based on quantitative and qualitative 
performance measurement criteria which are as objec-
tive as possible. Such criteria are graded according to 
specific responsibilities and positions held, with the 
aim to align reward closely with the performance and 
conduct of the JSS Group, the Group Company con-
cerned and the individual employee.

Any performance measurement criteria shall in par-
ticular foster ongoing compliance with all applicable 
laws, rules and internal regulations and promote the 
general risk awareness of employees as well as encour-
age them to perform their business activities in a sus-
tainable, compliant and client-orientated manner.
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Elements of remuneration
The JSS Group aims to offer competitive remuneration 
aligned with the market in order to attract, develop and 
retain employees for the long term.

Total remuneration generally consists of fixed and 
variable remuneration and applicable fringe benefits.

The elements of compensation are communicated to 
employees in a transparent manner and form an inte-
gral part of their employment contracts.

Procedure for determining compensation
Certain members of the Board receive Board member 
fees, graded according to the position held and mem-
bership in committees.

The Board periodically reviews the compensation 
rules and obtains information each year on the opera-
tional implementation of and trends in the compensa-
tion systems. In accordance with the Regulations on 
Allocation of Competencies of JSSH, the Board approves 
the annual total pool for all variable pay and the annual 
salary increase, including for the GEB.

The payment of variable remuneration is at the discre-
tion of management and is in principle contingent on 
the fulfilment of certain conditions, including perfor-
mance and conduct.

Employees and senior executives who hold control- 
ling, auditing, legal, compliance and risk management 
functions are generally paid a fixed salary in line with 
the market. The calculation of variable remuneration is 
not directly dependent on the performance of the busi-
ness units, specific products or transactions.

Risk strategy and risk profile
Private banking and asset management are business 
activities which inevitably entail inherent direct and 
indirect risks.

The main risks are:

• Market, liquidity and financing risk;
• Credit risk;
• Operational and reputational risk;
• Legal conduct and compliance risk; and/or
• Business and strategic risk.

The section on Risk Management (page 54) describes in 
detail the main risks to which the JSS Group is ex- 
posed. The JSS Group considers that its risk manage-
ment framework is a central component of its strategy, 
and keeping it aligned with the regulatory environment, 
business trends and client needs is an absolute condi-
tion for sustainable long-term success.

The Board defines the risk strategy by which certain 
risks are avoided, mitigated or transferred. Residual 
risks are assigned a level of appetite and tolerance. The 
strategy is implemented by the GEB, which ensures that 
the controls and processes are in place and efficiently 
performed. Sound monitoring and accurate reporting 
with a fast escalation process complete the risk manage-
ment framework.

By complementing the expertise of the front units 
with a strong risk culture and adequate levels of con-
trols, the JSS Group strives to preserve its client assets, 
keep a solid capital base and maintain its reputation 
in the long run.
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 Banking status 
Except as indicated, 100% ownership.
(1) Branches in Baden, Berne, Geneva, Lucerne, Lugano, Zurich
 Branches abroad: Guernsey, Hong Kong, Singapore
 Representative Offices: Istanbul, Mexico City ( joint), Tel Aviv
(2) Voting rights. Remaining percentage with Management
(3) Head Office: Gibraltar – Branch: London
(4) Head Office: Gibraltar – Branch: London
(5) The company owns the following subsidiaries: Asia Square Holdings Ltd. (BVI),
 Edinburgh Management Ltd. (BVI), Shenton Management Ltd. (BVI)
(6) Head Office: Luxembourg – Branch: Vienna
(7) The remaining 0.01% of the shares are held by Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd
(8) The remaining 0.05% of the shares are held by Fiduciary
 Representative Office: Mexico City ( joint)
(9) The remaining 0.01% of the shares are held by SIBTL Holding Ltd.
(10) Head Office: Luxembourg – Branches: Amsterdam, Madrid, Milan, Paris
 Representative Offices: Mexico City ( joint), Tel Aviv
(11) Not operational
(12) Not operational yet

Legal structure as of 31. 12. 2023

J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd., Basel

SIBTL Holding 
Ltd., Nassau

52%

Bank J. Safra 
Sarasin 
(Bahamas) 
Ltd., Nassau 
(8)

99.95%

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
Asset 
Management 
S.A., Panama

Banque 
J. Safra 
Sarasin 
(Monaco) SA, 
Monaco

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
Asset 
Management 
(Bahamas) 
Ltd., Nassau

JSS (Gibraltar) 
Ltd, Gibraltar

JSS Servicios 
S.A. de C.V., 
Mexico (9)

99.99%

Lyford JSRE 
(Bahamas) 
Ltd., Nassau

JSS Global 
Real Estate 
Company 
S.à r.l., 
Luxembourg 
(11)

Banque  
J. Safra 
Sarasin 
(Luxembourg) 
SA, 
Luxembourg 
(10)

JSS Private 
Equity 
Investments 
Fund GP 
S.à r.l., 
Luxembourg

J. Safra 
Sarasin Asset 
Management 
(North 
America) Ltd, 
Geneva

Elus Ltd, 
Lausanne

22.50%

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
Polska 
sp. z o.o., 
Warsaw 

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
Investment-
fonds Ltd, 
Basel

J. Safra 
Sarasin Fund 
Management 
(Luxembourg) 
S.A., 
Luxembourg 
(6)

JSS
Tecnologia e
Desenvolvi-
mento Ltda., 
São Paulo 
(12)

JSS 
Administradora 
de Recursos 
Ltda., 
São Paulo (7)

99.99% 

Place de 
Hollande SA, 
Geneva

51% 

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
Gestion 
(Monaco) SA, 
Monaco

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
(Deutschland) 
GmbH, 
Frankfurt

Sarabet Ltd, 
Basel

J. Safra 
Sarasin Trust
Company 
(Singapore)
Ltd., 
Singapore (5)

Sarasin (U.K.) 
Ltd, London

Sarasin 
Investment
Funds Ltd, 
London

Sarasin-Alpen 
& Partners 
Ltd, Dubai 
(in liquidation)
 

19% 

Bank J. Safra 
Sarasin Ltd, 
Basel (1)

J. Safra 
Sarasin Asset 
Management 
(Israel) Ltd,
Tel Aviv

S.I.M.
Partnership 
(London) Ltd, 
London (2)

72.51%

Sarasin & 
Partners LLP, 
London (2)

60%

Marina Bay 
Holding Ltd, 
Gibraltar
(in liquidation)

Bank 
J. Safra 
Sarasin (QFC) 
LLC, Doha

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
(Middle East) 
Ltd, Dubai

Bank J. Safra 
Sarasin 
(Gibraltar) 
Ltd, Gibraltar 
(3)

J. Safra 
Sarasin 
Asset 
Management 
(Europe) Ltd, 
Gibraltar (4)

bank zweiplus 
ltd, Zurich

Sarasin U.S. 
Services Ltd, 
London
(in liquidation)

Corporate Governance

Sarasin Asset 
Management 
Ltd, London

Juxon Ltd, 
Dublin
(in liquidation)

Sarasin-Alpen 
& Partners 
Ltd, Dubai 
(in liquidation)

19% 





Group Companies
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Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd was founded in 1841. As a 
leading Swiss private bank, its many years of banking 
experience have made it consciously opt for sustaina-
bility as a key component of its corporate philosophy.

Within Switzerland, the Bank has offices in Basel 
(head office), Baden, Bern, Geneva, Lucerne, Lugano and 
Zurich. It also has branches in Guernsey, Hong Kong 
and Singapore and representative offices in Israel, 
Mexico and Turkey.

The Bank is recognised as a leader among full- 
service banks in the private banking segment, offering 
all the advantages of the Swiss banking environment 
together with dynamic and personalised asset man-
agement and advisory services focusing on opportuni-
ties in international financial markets. Its team of 
highly experienced professionals develops tailor-made 
products to meet the needs of clients. In addition, the 
Bank offers a comprehensive array of financial ser-
vices. Financial strength, excellent client service and 
outstanding quality are the key elements of its phi- 
losophy. The Bank provides a high level of service 
and expertise when acting as an investment advisor and 
asset manager for private and institutional clients.

Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Monaco) SA
Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Monaco) SA is one of the 
largest banks in the Principality of Monaco. It delivers 
the services of a global bank with the f lexibility and 
agility of a private bank. With its trading desk, the 
Bank has direct and immediate access to the major 
international financial markets.

Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Luxembourg) SA
Established in 1985, Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Luxem-
bourg) SA focuses on private and commercial bank- 
ing, offering an array of products and personalised 
services tailored to the needs of clients. Thanks to its 
expertise in the banking sector, it meets its clients’ 
expectations by developing financial strategies to 

Private banking is a global growth 
market, presenting opportunities that 
the J. Safra Sarasin Group actively seeks 
to exploit. The Group is represented in 
around 30 locations in Europe, Asia, 
the Middle East, Latin America and the 
Caribbean.

The companies described in this chapter are the main 
operating companies of the J. Safra Sarasin Group. For 
a complete list of all companies consolidated under 
J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd., please see the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements on page 67. A chart 
showing the legal structure of J. Safra Sarasin Holding 
Ltd. is available as part of the chapter on “Corporate 
Governance” on page 29. All subsidiaries of J. Safra 
Sarasin Holding Ltd. are subject to consolidated super-
vision by FINMA.

Group Companies
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Zurich, Paradeplatz
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Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Bahamas) Ltd.
Incorporated in 1983 under the laws of The Bahamas, 
Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Bahamas) Ltd. focuses on asset 
management services as well as portfolio management 
for private clients. Its private banking operations have 
expanded strongly in recent years alongside successful 
activities in the wider international markets. The Bank 
has a representative office in Mexico.

Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Gibraltar) Ltd
Incorporated in 2001 with a full banking licence, Bank 
J. Safra Sarasin (Gibraltar) Ltd offers private banking 
services and accepts deposits both from individual 
clients and other banking institutions. From inception, 
the Bank has maintained its growth strategy and 
strong capitalisation.

Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Gibraltar) Ltd, 
London Branch
Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Gibraltar) Ltd, London Branch, 
started operating in 2007. The London Branch is 
authorised by the Gibraltar Financial Services Com-
mission and subject to limited regulation in the United 
Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority and the 
Prudential Regulation Authority. It offers UK residents 

achieve their targets in accordance with their invest-
ment profiles. The Bank has branches in France, Italy, 
the Netherlands and Spain, a tied agent in Poland and 
representative offices in Israel and Mexico.

Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, Hong Kong Branch
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, Hong Kong Branch, was 
established in 2010 by conversion from a Hong Kong-
based investment services subsidiary and is an author-
ised institution licensed by the Hong Kong Monetary 
Authority and the Securities and Futures Commission. 
The Hong Kong Branch offers private banking services 
and accepts deposits both from individual and corpo-
rate clients.

Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, Singapore Branch
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, Singapore Branch, was 
established in 2012 by conversion from a Singapore-
based banking subsidiary and operates under a whole-
sale bank licence granted by the Monetary Authority of 
Singapore. The Singapore Branch offers private banking 
services and accepts deposits from both individual and 
corporate clients.

Basel, Elisabethenstrasse

Gibraltar, Neptune House
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Geneva, Quai de l’Ile
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J. Safra Sarasin (Middle East) Ltd
J. Safra Sarasin (Middle East) Ltd was incorporated in 
2013 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank J. Safra 
Sarasin Ltd, located in the Dubai International Financial 
Centre (DIFC), Dubai, operating under a licence from the 
Dubai Financial Services Authority. It offers residents of 
the United Arab Emirates and other international clients 
comprehensive and bespoke advisory services.

Bank J. Safra Sarasin (QFC) LLC
Bank J. Safra Sarasin (QFC) LLC was incorporated in 
2014 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank J. Safra 
Sarasin Ltd, located in the Qatar Financial Centre 
(QFC), Doha, and operating under a licence from the 
QFC Regulatory Authority. It offers residents of Qatar 
and other international clients comprehensive and 
bespoke advisory services.

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management S.A.
Incorporated in 2008 under Panamanian laws, the 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank J. Safra Sarasin 
(Bahamas) Ltd. provides investment advisory services 
and operates as a broker. J. Safra Sarasin Asset Man- 
agement S.A. is licensed as a broker by the Super-
intendency of the Securities Market (SMV) of Panama.

and international clients access to one of the world’s 
most important financial centres. The London Branch 
develops comprehensive and flexible private banking 
services to individuals and families as well as the full 
array of financial services to corporate clients.

Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, Guernsey Branch
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd established a presence in 
Guernsey in 1992. The Guernsey Branch accepts de -
posits from other banking institutions as well as insti-
tutional clients and offers a discretionary investment 
management service, mainly to private clients, in con-
junction with Sarasin & Partners LLP, London. It is 
licensed and regulated by the Guernsey Financial Ser-
vices Commission.

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management (Europe) Ltd
J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management (Europe) Ltd is a 
subsidiary of Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Gibraltar) Ltd. 
It opened its London Branch in 2010 with the objective 
of focusing its service offering on investment funds, 
thus being attractive to wealth managers who want to 
invest across a wide range of asset classes.

Group Companies

Paris, Rue du Faubourg Saint-Honoré

London, Berkeley Square
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in accordance with Swiss law. It is also a member of 
AOOS – Schweizerische Aktiengesellschaft für Auf-
sicht, a self-regulatory organisation (SRO) and super-
visory organisation (SO) licensed and supervised by the 
Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA. 
The business focus consists in providing investment 
advisory and discretionary asset management services 
mainly to clients resident in the United States of 
America.

J. Safra Sarasin (Deutschland) GmbH
J. Safra Sarasin (Deutschland) GmbH is licensed under 
§ 34f of the German Trade Act and supervised by the 
Chamber of Commerce of Frankfurt am Main, Germany. 
It provides investment advice and investment broking 
services in relation to domestic, foreign and EU regis-
tered open/closed-ended investment funds which may 
be marketed in accordance with the German Capital 
Investment Code.

J. Safra Sarasin Polska sp. z o.o.
J. Safra Sarasin Polska sp. z o.o. was incorporated in 
Warsaw and started its operations in 2019. It is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Banque J. Safra Sarasin 
(Luxembourg) SA and acts as its tied agent.

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management 
(Bahamas) Ltd.
Incorporated in 2014 under the laws of The Bahamas, 
J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management (Bahamas) Ltd. 
focuses on asset management as well as administra-
tion and advisory services for in-house funds.

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management
(Israel) Ltd
Established in November 2017 in Tel Aviv, J. Safra 
Sarasin Asset Management (Israel) Ltd obtained the 
relevant licences for investment marketing and port-
folio management from the Israel Securities Authority 
(ISA) in 2018. It provides investment services mainly 
to private clients.

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management 
(North America) Ltd
Incorporated in 2018, J. Safra Sarasin Asset Manage-
ment (North America) Ltd has its registered office and 
place of business in Geneva. It is registered with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as an 
investment adviser and operates as a portfolio manager 

Madrid, Paseo de la Castellana

Milan, Via Bigli
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J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore) Ltd.
Incorporated under the laws of Singapore, J. Safra 
Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore) Ltd. obtained its 
licence from the Monetary Authority of Singapore 
under the Trust Companies Act 2004 and commenced 
business in December 2010. It offers tailored trust  
and company management services for the wealth pro-
tection and succession planning needs of its clients.

bank zweiplus ltd
Incorporated in 2008 in Switzerland, bank zweiplus ltd 
offers custody services to clients of financial services 
providers, independent asset managers and insurance 
companies and, in so doing, supports these financial 
intermediaries in servicing their clients. The Bank also 
has a sophisticated product offering specifically tailored 
to clients of financial services providers, independent 
asset managers and insurance companies. 

Sarasin & Partners LLP
Sarasin & Partners LLP is a London-based asset man-
agement group that manages investments on behalf 
of charities, institutions, pension funds and private 
clients from the United Kingdom and around the world. 
It is known both as a leader in thematic investment 
and in long-term income and dividend management 
across multi-asset and equity mandates. Consistent 
with a longer-term approach is a commitment to “stew-
ardship” principles, embedding environmental, social 
and governance considerations into the investment pro-
cess. Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd indirectly holds 60% of 
the voting rights in Sarasin & Partners LLP.

JSS Administradora de Recursos Ltda.
Incorporated under the laws of Brazil, JSS Administra-
dora de Recursos Ltda. commenced its activities in 
2017 and operates under a portfolio manager licence of 
the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission 
(CVM). It offers investment advisory and discretionary 
asset management services mainly to private clients.

Singapore, Asia Square Tower 1

Panama, BICSA Financial CenterMexico, Edificio Forum Amsterdam, Rembrandt Tower Istanbul, Süzer Plaza
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Assets

31.12.2023

CHF 000

31.12.2022

CHF 000

Liquid assets 3,232,033 3,562,667

Amounts due from banks 4,342,265 4,366,723

Amounts due from securities financing transactions 8,750,000 8,850,000

Amounts due from customers 7,866,436 9,289,808

Mortgage loans 2,605,526 3,174,053

Trading portfolio assets 2,762,464 2,660,715

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments 901,199 1,212,706

Other financial instruments at fair value 863,256 1,458,001

Financial investments 9,731,952 9,838,799

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 499,509 216,979

Non-consolidated participations 37,904 37,904

Tangible fixed assets 541,818 548,696

Intangible assets 0 0

Other assets 353,343 403,291

Total assets 42,487,705 45,620,342

Total subordinated claims  50,484  106,874 

of which subject to mandatory conversion and/or debt waiver – –

Liabilities
Amounts due to banks 1,089,010 1,720,192

Liabilities from securities financing transactions 741,000 100,000

Amounts due in respect of customer deposits 31,344,222 33,942,729

Trading portfolio liabilities 52,127 15,069

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments 1,152,692 1,249,376

Liabilities from other financial instruments at fair value 857,841 1,091,457

Bond issues and central mortgage institution loans 69,332 78,018

Accrued expenses and deferred income 722,777 414,629

Other liabilities 553,190 719,320

Provisions 148,280 101,682

Reserves for general banking risks 618,965 270,642

Share capital 848,245 848,245

Capital reserve 1,745,862 1,745,862

Retained earnings reserve 1,886,090 2,106,318

Currency translation reserve –274,494 –108,513

Minority interests in equity 462,237 885,157

Consolidated profit 470,329  440,159

of which minority interests in consolidated profit 159,809 79,308

Total liabilities 42,487,705 45,620,342

Total subordinated liabilities  136,069  133,606 

of which subject to mandatory conversion and/or debt waiver – –

Consolidated balance sheet
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CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Contingent liabilities 287,794 297,434

Irrevocable commitments 25,370 21,727

Obligations to pay up shares and make further contributions 1,817 1,817

Credit commitments 0 0

Consolidated off-balance sheet
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CHF 000 2023 2022

Interest and discount income 1,354,529 552,772

Interest and dividend income from trading portfolios 0 0

Interest and dividend income from financial investments 268,422 173,090

Interest expense –941,849 –214,695

Gross result from interest operations 681,102 511,167

Changes in value adjustments for default risks and losses from interest operations –18,193 –50,899

Subtotal net result from interest operations 662,909 460,268

 

Commission income from securities trading and investment activities 639,425 679,715

Commission income from lending activities 3,006 3,742

Commission income from other services 82,728 61,079

Commission expense –82,680 –80,403

Subtotal result from commission business and services 642,479 664,133

 

Result from trading activities and the fair value option 432,705 288,308

 

Result from the disposal of financial investments 11,728 17,399

Income from participations 4,176 3,641

of which, participations recognised using the equity method 0 0

of which, from other non-consolidated participations 4,176 3,641

Result from real estate 9,518 9,433

Other ordinary income 2,648 3,779

Other ordinary expenses –30,255 –5,464

Subtotal other result from ordinary activities –2,185 28,788

 

Operating income 1,735,908 1,441,497

 

Personnel expenses –641,045 –593,568

General and administrative expenses –160,927 –159,654

Operating expenses –801,972 –753,222

 

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets and intangible assets and value adjustments on participations –24,680 –59,281

Changes to provisions and other value adjustments, and losses –56’969 –41,074

Operating result 852,287 587,920

Extraordinary income 27 618

Extraordinary expenses 0 –1

Changes in reserves for general banking risks –348,323 –94,000

Taxes –33,662 –54,378

Consolidated profit 470,329 440,159

of which minority interests in consolidated profit 159,809 79,308

Consolidated income statement
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2023 2022

CHF 000 Source of funds Use of funds Source of funds Use of funds

Consolidated profit 470,329 0 440,159 0

Change in reserves for general banking risks 348,323 0 95,020 0

Value adjustments on participations, depreciation and amortisation of 

tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 24,680 0 59,281 0

Provisions and other value adjustments 48,069 0 34,183 0

Change in value adjustments for default risks and losses 18,193 0 50,899 0

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 0 –290,192 0 –50,539

Accrued expenses and deferred income 327,482 0 50,572 0

Other items 0 0 0 0

Previous year’s dividend 0 –579,246 0 0

Cash flow from operating activities 367,638 679,575

Share capital 0 0 0 0

Capital reserves 0 0 0 0

Retained earnings reserve 0 –1,833 0 –29,392

Minority interests in equity 0 –406,051 0 –45,549

Cash flow from equity transactions –407,884 –74,941

Participating interests 0 –263 0 –361

Bank building 0 0 0 0

Other fixed assets 0 –19,255 0 –18,928

Intangible assets 0 0 0 0

Cash flow from transactions in respect of participations,  

tangible fixed assets and intangible assets –19,518 –19,289

Consolidated cash flow statement
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2023 2022

CHF 000 Source of funds Use of funds Source of funds Use of funds

Medium and long-term business (>1 year)

Amounts due to banks 16,636 0 17,333 0

Amounts due in respect of customer deposits 0 –163,929 58,179 0

Liabilities from other financial instruments at fair value 0 –216,567 0 –385,243

Bonds 0 0 0 0

Central mortgage institution loans 0 –2,462 0 –51,783

Loans of central issuing institutions 0 –2,001 0 –1

Other liabilities 0 –134,267 316,998 0

Amounts due from banks 0 –12,857 0 –2,064

Amounts due from customers 346,933 0 0 –62,471

Mortgage loans 340,169 0 175,577 0

Other financial instruments at fair value 112,640 0 100,149 0

Financial investments 514,206 0 3,266,463 0

Other accounts receivable 0 –558,835 0 –308,385

Short-term business

Amounts due to banks 0 –631,762 906,756 0

Liabilities from securities financing transactions 641,000 0 100,000 0

Amounts due in respect of customer deposits 0 –887,010 2,047,474 0

Trading portfolio liabilities 37,058 0 1,056 0

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments 0 –80,755 379,274 0

Liabilities from other financial instruments at fair value 0 –10,259 27,954 0

Amounts due from banks 0 –153,630 0 –2,665,396

Amounts due from securities financing transactions 100,000 0 0 –8,850,000

Amounts due from customers 774,412 0 782,259 0

Trading portfolio assets 0 –139,830 495,693 0

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments 291,120 0 0 –589,949

Other financial instruments at fair value 475,753 0 681,376 0

Financial investments 0 –857,422 0 –2,225,385

Cash flow from banking operations –201,659 –5,784,136

Conversion differences –69,211 –69,089

Change in liquid assets –330,634 –5,267,880

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Liquid assets at beginning of the year (cash) 3,562,667 8,830,547

Liquid assets at the end of the year (cash) 3,232,033 3,562,667

Change in liquid assets –330,634 –5,267,880

Consolidated cash flow statement
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Presentation of the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity

CHF 000

Share 

capital

Capital 

reserve

Retained 

earnings 

reserve

Reserves 

for general 

banking risks

Currency 

translation 

reserve

Minority 

interests

Result of 

the period Total

Equity on 01.01.2023 848,245 1,745,862 2,467,169 270,642 –108,513 964,465 6,187,870

Currency translation 

differences –165,981 –96,177 –262,158

Dividends and other 

distributions –579,246 –407,884 –987,130

Reserves for general 

banking risks 348,323 348,323

Transactions with minority 

shareholders –1,833 1,833 0

Consolidated profit 159,809 310,520 470,329

Equity on 31.12.2023 848,245 1,745,862 1,886,090 618,965 –274,494 622,046 310,520 5,757,234

Share capital structure and disclosure of shareholders holding more than 5% of voting rights

31. 12. 2023 31. 12. 2022

CHF 000

Total 

nominal 

value

Number  

of  

units

Dividend

bearing

capital %

Total 

nominal 

value

Number  

of  

units

Dividend

bearing

capital %

J. Safra Holdings International 

(Luxembourg) S.A. CHF 000 CHF 000 CHF 000 CHF 000

Share capital 848,245 848,245 848,245 100 848,245 848,245 848,245 100

J. Safra Holdings International (Luxembourg) S.A., Luxembourg, holds the entire share capital and the voting rights of J. Safra Sarasin Holding 

Ltd. JSSH is ultimately owned by Ms Vicky Safra and her children.
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Name, legal form and domicile
J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. (the “Group” or the 
“Holding”) is a global banking group in private bank-
ing services and asset management. As an interna-
tional group committed to sustainability and well 
established in more than 30 locations in Europe, Asia, 
the Middle East, Latin America and the Caribbean, the 
Group is a global symbol of private banking tradition, 
emphasising security and well-managed conservative 
growth for clients.

J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. is headquartered in 
Basel.

Accounting and valuation principles
The Group’s financial statements are presented in ac- 
cordance with the Accounting Ordinance of the Swiss 
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA-AccO) 
and the accounting rules for banks, investment firms, 
financial groups and conglomerates pursuant to FINMA 
Circular 2020/1. Capital adequacy disclosures under 
FINMA Circular 2016/1 are published on our website 
www.jsafrasarasin.com.

Consolidated notes

Changes in accounting and valuation principles
Accounting and valuation principles remained un- 
changed. Selectively, changes to the method of pres-
entation were made to improve the level of information 
provided. Consequences are explained in the notes 
where meaningful. Comparative information has been 
reported accordingly.

Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the True and Fair View principle. The 
consolidation period for all Group entities is the calen-
dar year ending 31 December. The accounting and val-
uation principles of the entities have been adjusted, 
where materially different, to the Group’s consolida-
tion principles.

Consolidation perimeter
The consolidated financial statements comprise those 
of J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd., Basel, as well as those 
of its subsidiaries and branches listed on page 67. 
Newly acquired subsidiaries are consolidated as from 
the time control is transferred and deconsolidated 
once control is relinquished.

Consolidation method
Participating interests of more than 50% are wholly 
consolidated using the purchase method if the Group 
has the control, i.e. if the Group has the power to gov-
ern the financial and operating policies of an entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities. Assets and lia-
bilities, as well as costs and revenues, are stated in full 
(100%). Minority shareholders’ interests in the net 
assets and net profit are stated separately in the bal-
ance sheet and the consolidated income statement. 
Participating interests between 20% and 50% are con-
solidated according to the equity method. The net 
profit and assets corresponding to such holdings are 
reflected in the consolidated accounts according to the 
percentage owned by the Group. Minor participating 
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interests and those of less than 20% are stated as 
unconsolidated participations at their acquisition cost, 
after deduction of provisions for any necessary depre-
ciation in value. When acquiring a participation, the 
difference between the book value of the acquired par-
ticipation and its net asset value is allocated to 
goodwill.

Elimination of intra-Group receivables  
and payables
All items stated in the balance sheet and income state-
ment (including off-balance sheet transactions) result-
ing from business relationships between Group 
companies are eliminated from the consolidated 
accounts.

Recording of transactions
All transactions concluded are recorded according to 
the settlement date accounting principle. Foreign 
exchange spot transactions and security transactions 
concluded but not yet executed are recorded as deriva-
tive financial instruments in the balance sheet posi-
tions “Positive (or negative) replacement values of 
derivative financial instruments”. The corresponding 
assets and liabilities are recorded as contract volume 
in the off-balance sheet. Firm commitments to under-
write securities issues and money market time depos-
its are recognised at the settlement date.

Translation of foreign currencies
Income and expenses in foreign currencies arising 
during the year are translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Exchange  
differences are recorded in the statement of income. 
Assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies 
are converted at the daily rate of the balance sheet 
date. The income statements of Group entities are 
translated at the yearly average rate. The main ex- 
change rates prevailing at the balance sheet dates are 
as follows:

Outright forward exchange contracts are translated at 
the residual exchange rate prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Profits and losses on these exchange 

positions are included in the foreign exchange results 
at the balance sheet date.

Consolidated supervision
The Group qualifies as a financial group within the 
meaning of Article 3c al. 1 of the Swiss Banking Act 
over which FINMA exercises consolidated supervision. 
The scope of consolidated supervision applies to all 
direct and indirect subsidiaries, branches and repre-
sentative offices of the Group.

The Holding has delegated to the Bank’s governing 
bodies all duties, responsibilities and competencies 
related to the management and operations of its cur-
rent business. This management includes the financial 
consolidation as well as the supervision, on a consoli-
dated basis, of the activities of the Group.

The statutory financial statements of J. Safra Sarasin 
Holding Ltd. are not deemed representative of the 
banking activities of the Group and are therefore not 
published.

Cash, due from and to banks and clients
These items are stated at their nominal value. Known 
and foreseeable risks are reflected in individual value 
adjustments, which are stated directly under the corre-
sponding headings of the balance sheet.

Amounts due from and liabilities from securities 
financing transactions
These items contain receivables and obligations from 
cash collateral delivered in connection with securities 
borrowing and lending transactions as well as from 
reverse repurchase and repurchase transactions. These 
items are stated at their nominal value. The transfer of 
securities in connection with a securities financing 
transaction does not require recognition of the securi-
ties in the balance sheet when the ceding party retains 
the economic power to dispose of the rights to the 
transferred securities.

Securities and precious metals trading portfolios
Trading balances are valued at market price on the bal-
ance sheet date. Realised and unrealised profits and 
losses are included in the item “Result from trading 
activities and the fair value option”. Securities that are 
not traded regularly are stated at their acquisition cost, 
after deduction of the necessary depreciation. Interest 
and dividend income from trading balances are 

Currency 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

USD/CHF 0.842 0.925

EUR/CHF 0.930 0.987
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credited to “Result from trading activities and the fair 
value option”. The Group offsets the interest and divi-
dend income on trading portfolios with the cost of 
funding from these portfolios. Income from securities 
issuing operations (primary market trading activities 
of structured products) is recorded in the item “Result 
from trading activities and the fair value option”.

Positive and negative replacement values  
of derivative financial instruments
Derivative instruments include options, futures and 
swaps on equities, stock indices, foreign exchange, 
commodities and interest rates, forward rate agree-
ments, and forward contracts on currencies, securities 
and commodities. Derivative instruments are marked 
to market. For trading balances, realised and unreal-
ised profits and losses are stated under the result from 
trading activities. Hedging transactions are recorded 
according to the rules applicable to the underlying 
position. If the underlying position is not marked to 
market, then the market value change of the hedge 
instrument is recorded in the compensation account in 
“Other assets or liabilities”. In the case of an advance sale 
of an interest rate hedging instrument valued on the 
principle of accrued interest, the realised profit or loss 
is deferred and reported in the income statement over 
the initial duration of the instrument. If the impact of 
the hedging transactions is greater than that of the 
hedged positions, the surplus fraction is treated as a 
trading transaction.

Other financial instruments at fair value
The items “Other financial instruments at fair value” 
and “Liabilities from other financial instruments at 
fair value” contain self-issued structured products 
without inherent derivatives. Certificates issued are 
recorded in the balance sheet position “Liabilities from 
other financial instruments at fair value” and marked 
to market. The assets held for hedging purposes of the 
certificates (e.g. stocks, bonds, etc.) are recorded in the 
balance sheet position “Other financial instruments at 
fair value” and marked to market. If the hedging is 
effected with derivative financial instruments, the 
replacement values are recorded in the balance sheet 
positions “Positive (or negative) replacement values of 
derivative financial instruments”.

Financial investments
Financial investments, intended to be held until matu-
rity date, are stated at acquisition cost, less amortisa-
tion of any difference to nominal value over the period 
until maturity date (accrual method). Financial invest-
ments which are not intended to be held until maturity 
date, shares and similar securities and rights are stated 
at the lower of cost or market value. An impairment 
test is performed on a regular basis to determine any 
potential depreciation in the credit quality of the 
issuer.

Fixed assets and intangible assets
Fixed assets and intangible assets are stated at their 
acquisition cost. Depreciation is computed using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 
the respective assets net of impairment considered 
necessary as follows:

If, when acquiring a business, the costs of acquisition 
are higher than the net assets acquired, the difference 
represents the acquired goodwill. The goodwill is capi-
talised in the balance sheet and amortised linearly over 
the estimated useful life. Other intangible assets con-
sist of acquired clientele.

Impairment of non-financial assets
On the balance sheet date, the Group determines 
whether there are any reasons for an impairment of 
non-financial assets. Goodwill and other intangible 
assets with indeterminate useful life are checked for 
impairment at least once a year, and also whenever 

2023 2022

Fixed assets

Bank premises and 

other buildings 50 years 50 years

Leasehold 

improvements/

renovations 10–20 years 10–20 years

Furniture and machines 3–10 years 3–10 years

Hardware 3–8 years 3–8 years

Software 3–8 years 3–8 years

Intangible assets

Goodwill 5–10 years 5–10 years

Other intangible 

assets 3–10 years 3–10 years
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events suggest their value is too high. Any other non-fi-
nancial assets are reviewed for impairment if there are 
signs that their book value exceeds the realisable 
amount of the fair value. The estimated fair value of 
non-financial assets is determined on the basis of 
three valuation methods:

i.   Comparable transactions
ii.  Market comparables
iii. Model of discounting of cash f lows

Value adjustments and provisions
For all potential and identifiable risks existing at the 
balance sheet date, value adjustments and provisions 
are established on a prudent basis. Value adjustments 
due from banks or due from customers, mortgages and 
bonds intended to be held until maturity date are de- 
ducted from the corresponding asset in the balance 
sheet.

Applicable accounting and valuation principles re- 
quire the creation of value adjustments for inherent 
risks of default on non-impaired receivables and provi-
sions for inherent risks of default of off-balance sheet 
positions. Such value adjustments and provisions are 
designed to provide for not yet incurred losses that im- 
plicitly exist in the credit business.

For positions with a published rating (e.g. due from 
bank, financial investments and money market invest-
ments), the value adjustment for inherent default risk is 
calculated by multiplying the Exposures at Default * 
Probability of Default * Loss Given Default.

The three parameters are defined as follows:
• Probability of Default (PD): the default rates by 

 rating and by tenor published in the “Moody’s 
annual default study”

• Exposure at Default (EAD): the balance positions 
reported on the balance sheet date

• Loss Given Default (LGD): average bond and loan 
recoveries from 1983 to 2022 published in the 
“Moody’s annual default study”.

For positions with no published rating (e.g. due from 
clients, mortgages, guarantees), the value adjustment 
for inherent default risk is based on the risk classifi- 
cation of the underlying credit exposure. Each of the 7 
Credit Risk Classes (“CRC”) – CRC 1 being standard – 
has an inherent default risk factor based on the 

probability of default and loss given default of the net 
exposure. The higher the risk class, the riskier the un- 
derlying credit exposure and the respective inherent 
default risk factor. The highest CRC is not considered in 
the inherent risk calculation as it is the CRC non-per-
forming loans which already are provisioned. The in- 
herent default risk factors are based on market bench-
mark comparison and historic default analysis of the 
lombard and mortgage portfolios. For the lombard loan 
portfolio, the PD and LGD factors cannot be monitored 
from market data as for e.g. issuers, so to derive the risk 
factor a combination of knowledge of our book and 
market sources (available peer comparison) is used. For 
the mortgage book published LGD and PD figures since 
1990 could also be taken into consideration to derive 
the final risk figures. In addition, we continuously mon-
itor credit risk concentration. A geographical concen-
tration risk add-on is recognized subject to specific 
criteria and conditions. Such criteria include exceeding 
a relative threshold of the total exposure in a said cate-
gory or exceeding a relative threshold of Group CET1 
capital. The add-on is determined with a quantitative 
approach that incorporates progressive PD and LGD 
factors over CRC.

Inherent default risk factors are determined sepa-
rately for the Lombard and Mortgage categories. Po- 
sitions which are already value-adjusted or provisioned 
individually are excluded from the inherent default 
risk calculation.

Value adjustments for inherent default risks are cal-
culated on the book value of the positions and are 
deducted from the corresponding asset in the balance 
sheet. Value adjustments and provisions for inherent 
default risks are reassessed quarterly and changes rec-
ognised in the income statement as changes in value 
adjustments for default risks and losses from interest 
operations.

Value adjustments or provisions for inherent default 
risks may be used in exceptional situations for the 
establishment of individual value adjustments or provi-
sions without income statement effect and without the 
requirement to immediately replenish the target level 
of value adjustments or provisions for inherent default 
risks. The Group evaluates in the event of an excep-
tional need for specific value adjustments whether to 
use such existing value adjustments or provisions for 
inherent default risks to partially or fully cover the nec-
essary individual value adjustments or provisions. The 
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need for individual value adjustments or provisions is 
considered exceptional if it exceeds 5 percent of the 
income statement item “gross result from interest oper-
ations”. The threshold is calculated on the previous 
year’s gross result from interest operations. 

If the use of value adjustments or provisions for inher-
ent default risks leads to a shortfall (a funding gap 
between remaining and target value adjustments or 
provisions), this shortfall must be eliminated within a 
maximum of five financial years by restoring the target 
level. In general, a linear approach will be taken to 
restore the target level. Depending on the course of 
business and the general economic situation and out-
look, a faster elimination of the shortfall is possible. The 
determined level of value adjustments and provisioning 
for inherent default risks is fully funded as at balance 
sheet date (no shortfall).

Reserves for general banking risks
Reserves for general banking risks can be accounted for 
at the consolidated financial statements level or at the 
individual accounts level to cover risks inherent to the 
banking business. These reserves form part of equity 
and are subject to deferred tax. Reserves for general 
banking risks at the individual account level are not 
subject to tax.

Employee pension plans
The Group operates a number of pension plans for its 
employees in Switzerland and abroad, most of them 
comprising defined contribution plans. The adjusted 
contributions for the period are shown as personnel 
costs in the income statement. The corresponding ad- 
justments or liabilities and the claims and commit-
ments arising from legal, regulatory or contractual re- 
quirements are shown in the balance sheet. In accord-
ance with the Swiss GAAP RPC 16, a study is performed 
on an annual basis to assess a potential financial bene-
fit/commitment (surplus/deficit) from the Group’s point 
of view. A surplus is recorded only if the Group is legally 
permitted to use this surplus either to reduce or reim-
burse the employer contributions. In the case of a defi-
cit, a provision is set up if the Group has decided to or is 
required to participate in the financing. When the sur-
plus and/or deficit is recorded in the income statement, 
it is recognised under personnel costs. In the balance 
sheet, the surplus is recognised under other assets, 
whereas a deficit is recognised under provisions.

Taxes
Current taxes, in general income and capital taxes, are 
calculated on the basis of the applicable tax laws and 
recorded as an expense in the relevant period. One-off 
taxes or taxes on transactions are not included in cur-
rent taxes. Deferred taxes are recorded in accordance 
with requirements. Accruals of current taxes due are 
booked on the liabilities side under accrued expenses 
and deferred income. The tax effects arising from tempo-
rary differences between the carrying value and tax value 
of assets and liabilities are recorded as deferred taxes 
under provisions in the liabilities section of the balance 
sheet or in other assets for deferred tax assets. Deferred 
taxes are calculated using the expected tax rates.

Risk management

Structure of risk management
General considerations
Achieving a high risk management standard is not sim-
ply a question of compliance with formalised inter- 
nal and external rules. Moreover, quantitative criteria  
are only one component of comprehensive risk man- 
agement. Indeed, risk awareness must be a key govern- 
ance element to spur the appropriate risk culture and 
become an integral part of an organisation. Only then 
will such risk culture demonstrate itself through the 
discipline and thoroughness with which employees per- 
form their tasks.

Governance
The Board of Directors carries the ultimate responsibility 
in the Group’s business strategy and principles for the 
corporate culture. It is responsible for establishing the 
business organisation, issuing the necessary rules and 
regulations and ensuring that the Group has adequate 
personnel and infrastructure.

The Board defines the risk strategy, approves the 
Group-wide Risk Management Framework and is re- 
sponsible for establishing an effective risk manage-
ment function and managing the Group’s overall risks. 
It ensures that the risk and control environment is 
adequate and that the internal control system is effi-
cient. The Board of Directors formulates the Group’s 
risk policy and monitors its implementation by the 
Group Executive Board, which is responsible for run-
ning the operational business activities and for day-to-
day risk management.
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Risk Management Framework
The Risk Management Framework is developed by the 
Group Executive Board and approved by the Board of 
Directors. It is based on a comprehensive assessment of 
the inherent risks resulting from the activities of the 
Group. For each of these activities, the existing controls, 
testing and reviews of the first, second and third lines of 
defence are assessed and revised if necessary. These, 
together with other mitigating factors, will serve to de- 
rive the residual risks which are reported by risk cate-
gory as defined in the Risk Management Framework. 

Risk tolerance, defined as the level of risk that the 
Group is prepared to assume to achieve its business 
objectives, is determined for each risk category defined 
in the Risk Management Framework. Corresponding 
limits and Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) are set where 
applicable.

Under the responsibility of the Board of Directors, 
the Group Executive Board ensures that the necessary 
instruments and organisational structures allow for 
the identification, monitoring and reporting of all risk 
categories.

The elements of risk tolerance are integrated into 
internal regulations, directives and policies which gov-
ern the activities performed within the Group and con-
tribute to enforce the risk culture. Those policies and 
related documents define the operating limits and 
describe the procedures to follow in case of breaches. 
Training and e-learning are also designed to educate 
and inform personnel on risks and restrictions as well 
as controls related to the activities.

The Risk Management Framework is reviewed an- 
nually. 

Committees
To ensure holistic risk management, the Board of Di- 
rectors and the Group Executive Board have appointed 
the necessary committees to deal with risks and act as 
decision-making bodies for key issues and risks. Their 
roles also include the promotion of risk awareness and 
compliance with the approved risk standards.

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) reports to 
the Board of Directors. The committee assesses the 
effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk 
controls, the compliance function and internal audit. It 
monitors the implementation of risk strategies and en- 
sures that they align with the defined risk tolerance 
and risk limits. In addition, the ARC is responsible for 

assessing the effectiveness of the Risk Management 
Framework and makes relevant recommendations to 
the Board of Directors.

The Risk Committee is the Group’s highest man-
agement committee concerned with risk. Its primary 
function is to assist the Group Executive Board and 
ultimately the Board of Directors in fulfilling their 
responsibilities by implementing the risk guidelines 
set by the Board and monitoring the Group’s risk pro-
file. When evaluating risks, the Risk Committee con-
siders the findings and measures of other committees.

The Operational Risk Committee reviews the 
causes of operational incidents and when necessary 
may propose certain changes in the processes. Ad-hoc 
topics are analysed and reviewed, with the constant 
objective of reducing operational risks and improving 
efficiency.

The Central Credit Committee (CCC) adminis-
ters the credit portfolio and controls the Group’s credit 
risk. It is responsible for the review and approval of the 
Group’s client credit exposure and non-client counter- 
party limits and utilisations and for reviewing the 
Group’s credit policy.

The Treasury Committee is responsible for the 
consolidated supervision of the treasury, liquidity and 
investment activities and cash management of the 
Group. It controls and manages interest rate risk, 
short-term liquidity risk and mid- to long-term refi-
nancing risks. The Treasury Committee is mandated in 
particular to supervise liquidity, refinancing, interest 
risk exposure, investment income and interest-bearing 
products and accounts.

The Product Committees oversee idea genera-
tion, development and sales support activities for new 
products offered within the Group. These committees 
bear ultimate functional responsibility for the product 
approval process and for managing the product devel-
opment process.

The IT Risk Committee addresses IT and cyber 
risks. It monitors these risks in terms of availability, 
security and confidentiality, tracks developments in 
the cyber threat landscape, adapts the control envi-
ronment when and where necessary and follows up 
on the initiatives and projects aiming to reduce those 
risks. 

The Risk and Performance Committee (RPC) 
is the risk and performance controlling body for all 
asset management products. The RPC defines a suitable 
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process for monitoring risk and performance and is 
informed on compliance with investment restrictions. 
It also reviews the Environmental, Social and Govern- 
ance (ESG) metrics of asset management products as 
submitted by the Sustainability team.

All operational committees comprise representatives 
from different divisions and meet at regular intervals, 
but at least quarterly.

Organisation of risk management
Risk management is structured along three lines of 
defence. The first line of defence is operated by the rev-
enue-generating and operational units as well as some 
specific control units. The second line is assured by 
independent control units. Finally, the third line of 
defence is provided by the Internal Audit function.

Independent controls are mostly executed by the 
Risk Office, Compliance, Legal and Business & Regu- 
latory Development departments, which, from an or- 
ganisational perspective, are all independent from the 
first line of defence units. This separation of func-
tions ensures that the departments that analyse the 
risks assumed by the business units and monitor ad- 
herence to limits act independently from the business 
units taking decisions on the level and extent of risk 
exposure. This structure prevents potential conflicts 
of interest and incompatible objectives as early and as 
effectively as possible.

The Chief Risk Officer heads the Risk Office depart-
ment, which is responsible for the comprehensive and 
systematic control of risk exposure. Risk Office, which 
has unlimited access to information, ensures that the 
risk profile of the Group is consistent with the risk tol-
erance and limits approved in the Risk Management 
Framework. Risk Office performs in-depth analyses of 
the Group’s exposure to market, treasury, non-client 
credit, operational, cyber & IT and other risks. It an- 
ticipates risk, makes recommendations and takes nec-
essary measures to maintain the risk profile within the 
Group’s risk appetite limits. It is responsible for en- 
suring compliance of all business units with the risk 
management process and best practices. Risk Office 
has developed its own infrastructure allowing for effi-
cient risk monitoring and robust reporting. The infra-
structure undergoes regular updates and enhance- 
ments. Risk Office also submits periodic and ad-hoc 
reports to the Audit and Risk Committee, the Group 
Executive Board and business units.

The Legal and Compliance functions support the Group 
Executive Board and the management of Group Com- 
panies in their efforts to ensure that the Group’s busi-
ness activities in Switzerland and abroad comply with 
applicable legal and regulatory frameworks as well as 
with generally accepted market standards and practices. 
Compliance assures that an appropriate system of di- 
rectives and procedures is in place and adequate train-
ing on compliance matters is provided to relevant staff. 
It also performs several controls of the second line of 
defence. Other controls related to areas such as suita-
bility cross-border compliance, data protection and 
conduct risks are performed by the Business & Reg- 
ulatory Development department. The Legal function 
guarantees that the Group structure and business pro-
cesses adhere to a legally binding format, particularly 
in the areas of service provision to clients, product mar- 
keting and outsourcing activities. Regular and compre-
hensive risk reporting on compliance and legal risk  
is provided to the Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Group Executive Board. 

The Credit department analyses, grants and records 
client credits and, if necessary, initiates measures to 
prevent credit losses. Client credits include cash loans, 
contingent liabilities and transactions with initial mar-
gin requirements such as forwards, futures or option 
contracts. The Credit department defines credit param-
eters relevant to credit, such as eligibility of assets for 
lending, lending-value rules and initial margin require- 
ment according to the type of derivative transaction. 
An independent team monitors the client credit activ-
ity and the adherence to limits.

A clearly structured and transparent risk manage-
ment process allows for the timely identification of 
risks, their documentation, escalation, resolution and/
or close monitoring. The process is applied to all risk 
categories, both individually and collectively. When in- 
troducing new business transactions and procedures, 
the risk management process is the basis for the com-
prehensive assessment and rating of risks associated 
with a new activity or process. The Group has estab-
lished a clear process to detect existing or potential 
risks before entering into any new business. The in- 
volvement of all relevant business units at an early 
stage ensures a comprehensive, cross-discipline assess-
ment of every new business transaction or process and 
its associated risks.
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Risk indicators
In-depth risk profiling entails defining adequate quan-
titative and qualitative risk indicators. In the case of 
quantitative indicators and depending on the required 
level of granularity, these will be measured at minimum 
against an internal limit as well as a regulatory limit 
(if applicable). Qualitative indicators are assessed in the 
“appetite statement” context defined in the Risk Mana- 
gement Framework. To the extent possible, these indica-
tors are standardised throughout the Group. The Group 
makes use of stress testing in order to evaluate the im- 
pact of adverse scenarios on different elements such as 
capital adequacy, liquidity, interest rate sensitivity and 
collateral value of the credit portfolios. Different sce-
narios are considered in order to estimate the financial 
impacts on capital adequacy. They result from the com-
bination of shocks applied for each significant type of 
risk to which the Group is exposed. All possible direct 
and indirect consequences on the profit and loss and on 
the equity of the Group are considered for each scenario. 
A detailed three-year schedule for capital planning and 
development describes the impact of each scenario on 
capital adequacy. This capital and liquidity planning is 
approved annually by the Board of Directors.

Risk categories
The Group is exposed to the following risks through its 
business activities and services:
• Market risk
• Liquidity risk
• Credit risk, including concentration risk
• Operational, IT and information security risks
• Legal and compliance risk, including conduct and 

data privacy related risks
• Business and strategic risks, including 

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) risks
• Reputational risk.

Market risk
Market risk refers to the risk of a loss due to changes in 
market parameters (asset prices, interest rates and for-
eign exchange rates) in on-balance or off-balance sheet 
positions. The Group is exposed to market risk on its 
trading book in a limited way. Specific limits are set on 
different parameters at a granular level. The monitoring 
of the limits is automated and performed on an ongo-
ing basis ensuring a timely intervention when justi-
fied. A clear and efficient escalation process is in place 

so that in case of breach, the remediation measures are 
presented to the competent limit owner. Regarding the 
banking book, market risk limits are in place for the 
interest rate and foreign exchange exposures as well as 
regarding derivatives exposures. The interest rate risk 
in the banking book is measured using the predefined 
regulatory scenarios as well as additional internal sce-
narios. Specifically, the exposure to interest rate risk is 
measured via diverging maturities of interest-sensitive 
positions per currency (gap). The interest rate risk stress 
testing assesses the impact on the economic value of the 
balance sheet and the projected interest income for the 
following one to five years.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the potential inability of the 
Group to meet its payment obligations or failure to meet 
requirements imposed by banking regulations. The Trea- 
sury Committee is responsible for monitoring liquidity. 
The prime objective is to guarantee the Group’s ability 
to meet its payment obligations at all times and to en- 
sure compliance with legal requirements on liquidity. A 
key task of the Committee is to monitor all relevant 
liquidity risk factors. These include money f lows be- 
tween subsidiaries and the parent company, inflows and 
outflows of client funds and changes in the availability 
of liquidity reserves. The liquidity aspects are consid-
ered in aggregate but also per currency. As a supporting 
strategy, target bandwidths are set for surplus coverage 
of minimum liquidity. These are actively monitored and 
corresponding measures are taken if liquidity falls be- 
low the specified targets. A contingency funding plan 
may be triggered if certain conditions are met. Stress 
tests verify the impact of larger outflows combined with 
the deterioration of Group assets.

Credit risk
Credit or counterparty risk is the risk related to a client 
or a counterparty being either unable or only partially 
able to meet an obligation owed to the Group or an indi-
vidual Group Company. Such potential counterparty 
failures may result in financial losses for the Group.

Lending business with clients
Lending activities mainly involve private client loans 
that are secured by securities or mortgages. Lending 
criteria are very strictly formulated and their appropri-
ateness is continuously reviewed. The lending  business 
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with clients respects a strict separation rule between 
front and support functions where the assessment, 
approval and monitoring of such business is performed 
by the latter.

Credit is granted under a system of delegation of 
authority based on the size and risk class of the loan, 
where the Central Credit Committee examines applica-
tions and authorises them in line with the delegated 
authority and the defined policy. Client loans and mort-
gages are classified by risk classes through an internal 
rating system which considers criteria such as the 
applied lending value, collateral liquidity and potential 
concentrations or, for mortgages, the type of property.

When a loan is granted, the loan-to-value ratio is 
established on the basis of the current value of the col-
lateral. The Group applies loan-to-value criteria which 
are in line with common Swiss banking industry 
practice. A system of alerts and internal controls is 
used to monitor individual situations in which credit 
risk has increased. The risk profile of the Group’s loan 
portfolio distributed by type of exposure, risk class 
and collateral type is reviewed on a monthly basis and 
reported to management. Non-performing loans and 
collateral obtained are valued at liquidation value, tak-
ing into account any correction for the debtor’s sol-
vency. Off-balance sheet transactions are also included 
in this assessment. The need for provisions is deter-
mined individually for each impaired loan based on 
analysis performed according to a clearly defined pro-
cedure. A stress test on the collateral value of the credit 
portfolio is performed at least on a quarterly basis.

Lending business with banks, governments 
and corporates
Transactions entered into with banks, governments 
and corporates (non-client credit activities) may rep-
resent direct exposures or serve the Group’s need to 
manage its foreign exchange, liquidity or interest rate 
risk and hedge client transactions.

An internal framework regulates the granting of 
credit limits to non-clients. This framework is based 
on the Group’s general risk appetite, mainly measured 
in freely disposable capital, and the credit quality of 
the respective counterparty. The Central Credit Com- 
mittee approves and reviews the limits granted to 
non-client counterparties.

The limit requests and the credit analyses of the re- 
spective counterparties are performed by credit analysts.  

The limits are reviewed regularly, but at least once a 
year or ad hoc if required by specific credit events. The 
Group’s Risk Office is in charge of monitoring and re- 
porting all exposures on a daily basis.

As a general rule, the emphasis when conducting 
business on the interbank market is on the quality of 
the counterparty, but strong focus is also on risk reduc-
tion measures wherever possible. Over-the-counter 
transactions with third-party banks are mainly exe-
cuted under netting and collateralisation agreements 
and credit is provided against collateral (repo transac-
tion) whenever appropriate.

The country risk is monitored via a specific frame-
work and a set of limits which are both approved by the 
Board of Directors.

Large exposure and concentration risks
Large exposure risks are monitored for every counter-
party and are based on the provisions of the Swiss 
Ordinance on Capital Adequacy and Risk Diversification 
for Banks and Securities Dealers. A group of related 
counterparties is regarded as a single counterparty. 
Large exposure risks are calculated on a risk-weighted 
basis taking into consideration available collateral pro-
vided. The upper limit per counterparty is 25% of the 
eligible capital calculated in accordance with the stat-
utory requirements. While client receivables are mostly 
covered by readily realisable collateral and therefore 
do not represent large exposure risks from a regulatory 
point of view, prior to entering into positions involving 
non-clients the Group’s Risk Office checks that the 
critical size of the concentrations is not exceeded.

Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss that 
arises through the inadequacy or failure of internal 
procedures, people or systems, or as a consequence of 
external events. 

The risk of fraud is embedded in operational risk. In 
order to mitigate that risk, strict procedures are in 
place and their application is monitored.

All operational risk incidents are notified to and 
analysed by Risk Office. Various reports are produced 
and presented to the Group Executive Board. An 
Operational Risk Committee meets at regular intervals 
to review the incidents and, when necessary, issues 
recommendations. The continuous measurement, re- 
porting and assessment of segment-specific key risk 
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indicators allows potential weaknesses to be detected 
well in advance, monitored and escalated. Ongoing 
risk and control self-assessment is performed involv-
ing representatives from all business units and risk 
experts in order to identify and catalogue the risks and 
inadequacies of a specific area. If necessary, targeted 
action plans are designed to decrease the risk level and 
align with the Group’s risk appetite.

Operational resilience is designed to preserve critical 
functions in case of a severe but plausible disruption 
scenario in the defined time period approved by the 
Board of Directors. Business Continuity Management 
(“BCM”) aims at maintaining and restoring the activi-
ties as quickly as possible in the event of internal or 
external incidents. The BCM plan is reviewed by the 
BCM Board on a yearly basis. Regular crisis manage-
ment exercises are conducted to validate the efficiency 
of the plan. Both operational resilience and BCM aim to 
minimise the financial impact and protect client assets 
as well as the Group’s reputation. 

In addition, the Group mitigates potential conse-
quences of risk with tailored insurance solutions. These 
solutions are regularly reassessed to comply with new 
emerging risks and regulations.

IT and information security risk
IT risk refers to a subset of operational risk due to 
technology-related factors. It may lead to potential 
business disruptions as a result of a deficient imple-
mentation of IT risk governance. It comprises, but is 
not limited to, user access management, the evolution 
of the IT infrastructure, IT operations management 
and risks associated with the use of artificial intel- 
ligence. 

Information security risk relates to the potential ina-
bility of the Group to anticipate, resist, or react to a 
threat that exploits vulnerabilities, causing harm to 
the organisation. This includes cyber risk, which is 
more specific to the use of technology. 

It is the Group’s aim and constant objective to estab-
lish and maintain an effective security infrastructure 
with up-to-date systems and technology. In parallel, 
the Group has put in place robust IT and information 
security risk management governance, implementing 
adequate controls for mitigating identified risks and 
providing continuous guidance and training for staff 
in this area. Large IT projects, including change man-
agement, are subject to a specific IT risk assessment.

The Group has defined and implemented operating 
principles, guidelines and procedures that are effective 
and operational. An IT and information security risk 
reporting and decision-making process is in place, en- 
suring that the governing bodies as well as operational 
functions address those risks as required.

Legal and compliance risk
Legal risks relate to potential financial loss as a result 
of the deficient drafting or implementation of contrac-
tual agreements or as a consequence of contractual in- 
fringements or illegal and/or culpable actions. It also 
covers the deficient implementations of changes in the 
legal and regulatory environment. The legal depart-
ment is involved as soon as a potential risk has been 
identified. It assesses the situation and, if appropriate, 
retains an external lawyer with whom it works to re- 
solve the issue. Such risks have been assessed and pro-
visions have been set aside on a case-by-case basis.

Compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal sanc-
tions, material financial loss, or loss of reputation that 
the Group may suffer as a result of its failure to comply 
with applicable laws, its own regulations, code of con-
duct and standards of best/good practice. Compliance 
risk relates to many areas, such as anti-money launder-
ing and combating the financing of terrorism, regula-
tory tax compliance, breaches of cross-border rules, con- 
duct risks including suitability and appropriateness of 
products and investments, or market conduct rules.

Legal and compliance risks also comprise risks related 
to non-compliance with data protection and data privacy 
laws and regulations. Internal directives set out the 
framework and minimum standards across the Group in 
connection with the processing of personal data.

Business and strategic risk
Business and strategic risk is inherent to external or 
internal events or decisions resulting in strategic and 
business objectives not being achieved. Assessment 
reviews are conducted on a regular basis to evaluate the 
impact of potential strategic and business risks and 
define mitigating measures. 

Business and strategic risks, including ESG risks, are 
actively addressed by a strong corporate governance, a 
broad variety of investment offerings, a sustainable cor-
porate culture and the efficient management of resources.

For further information, please refer to the Sustain- 
ability Report on page 84.
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Reputational risk
Reputation is a critical element shaping stakeholders’ 
perception of the Group’s public standing, profession-
alism, integrity and reliability. Reputational risk can be 
defined as the existing or potential threat of negative 
commercial impacts on the Group created by stake- 
holders’ negative perception of the Group. It is most 
often an event which has occurred as a direct conse-
quence of another risk materialising. To identify poten-
tial reputational risks at an early stage and take ap- 
propriate preventive measures, the Group strives to 
instil an intrinsic risk culture in its staff, structures 
and processes.

Treatment of structured products
Self-issued structured products containing option com-
ponents are separated into the fixed-income in- 
strument and the embedded derivative. The fixed-in-
come instrument is recognised in the balance sheet 
position “Amounts due in respect of customer deposits” 
and the derivative is recognised in the balance sheet 
position “Positive (or negative) replacement values of 
derivative financial instruments”. Assets (stocks, bonds 
derivatives from third parties, etc.) bought to hedge 
self-issued structured products are recognised in the 
respective balance sheet position. For self-issued struc-
tured products where the fair value option is applied, 
the product itself and the corresponding hedging posi-
tions in stocks, bonds and funds are recognised in the 
balance sheet position “Liabilities from other financial 
instruments at fair value” or “Other financial instru-
ments at fair value”, as appropriate. Potential derivative 
positions also held for hedging purposes are reported 
under “Positive (or negative) replacement values of de- 
rivative financial instruments”.

Explanation of the methods used for identifying 
default risks and determining the need for value 
adjustments
Based on the inherent risk of a credit facility, the Group 
establishes the individual Credit Risk Class (CRC), 
which in return defines the review cycle of the facility. 
All credits are regularly tracked by means of daily mon-
itoring and the aforementioned credit reviews. Devi- 
ations from the agreed contractual terms with regard to 
interest payments and/or amortisation, representing 

potential indicators of default risk, are detected by the 
aforementioned regular credit-monitoring process and 
trigger a review and re-evaluation of the CRC.

With respect to Lombard facilities, lending value 
rules are set and periodically reviewed by the Group’s 
Central Credit Committee for each asset type. Any 
lending value exceptions are approved in conjunction 
with the credit request in question. On this basis, each 
approved credit facility is given a CRC. Additionally, 
the country concentration embedded within the port-
folios on which the Group lends is also reviewed peri-
odically, as necessary. Lombard loans are monitored 
on a daily basis for margin purposes and in relevant 
periodic intervals for repayment purposes. The CRC of 
a Lombard facility or group of facilities is reassessed  
at each credit review interval. In addition, periodic 
interim controls are performed to f lag CRC inconsist-
encies. Any adverse change in the Group’s outlook with 
respect to the collateral will, on a case-by-case basis, 
trigger an assessment for the purpose of establishing a 
provision.

With respect to mortgage facilities, the value of the 
collateral is assessed based on a property valuation 
mandated by the Group and performed by a certified 
value and/or property valuation tool. In addition to the 
risk-class-based review process and in order to detect a 
potential material decrease in market value, market 
prices are analysed and documented against appropri-
ate regional price statistics. If prices of certain regions 
and/or object types have significantly decreased in 
value or a corresponding decrease is deemed to be 
imminent by the Group, the respective mortgage facili-
ties are assessed individually and provisions are set 
aside on a case-by-case basis.

Explanations of the valuation of collateral, in 
particular key criteria for the calculation of  
current market value and lending value
The lending business is basically limited to Lombard 
loans and mortgages. In the case of a Lombard loan, the 
collateral is accepted at a percentage of its market value 
according to the Group’s credit policy. The lending value 
depends on the nature, solvency, currency and fungibil-
ity of the assets. In case of a mortgage, the maximum 
pledge rate is defined by the Group’s credit policy, the 
property type and the appraised value of the property.
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Explanations of the Group’s business policy 
regarding the use of derivative financial  
instruments, including explanations relating  
to the use of hedge accounting
The Group enables clients to trade different types of 
derivatives. Client derivative trading activities include 
options, forwards, futures, swaps on equities, foreign 
exchange, precious metals, commodities and interest 
rates. The Group can trade derivative products for its 
own account, either for proprietary trading or for bal-
ance sheet management activities, as long as the neces-
sary limits are approved by the Board of Directors, or 
square client transactions in the market with third 
parties in order to eliminate market risk incurred 
through the client transactions.

The use of derivatives in discretionary portfolio man-
agement is restricted to the transactions authorised by 
the Swiss Bankers’ Association asset management guide- 
lines and in accordance with the Group’s investment 
policy.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments as 
part of its balance sheet management activities in 
order to manage the risk in its banking book. The 
Group may apply hedge accounting, if possible, to 
avoid asymmetric profit and loss recognition. Interest 
rate risks of assets and liabilities are typically hedged 

Consolidated Financial Statements

by interest rate swaps (IRS), but other instruments like 
forward rate agreements (FRA), futures or interest 
rate options could also be used. The Group can buy 
credit default swap (CDS) protection to hedge the 
counterparty risk of financial investments. The hedge 
relationships with underlying hedged item(s) and 
hedge transactions are documented and periodically 
reviewed.

The effectiveness of hedging transactions is measured 
prospectively either by the differential of sensitivity to 
the risk parameter, within a predefined corridor, of the 
hedged item(s) and the hedging transaction, or by match- 
ing the cash f lows of the hedge and the risk position. 
The hedging relationships are periodically checked as 
to whether hedged item(s) and hedging transaction are 
still in place and hedge effectiveness is guaranteed.

Where the effect of the hedging transactions exceeds 
the effect of the hedged items, the excess portion of the 
derivative financial instrument is treated as equivalent 
to a trading position. The excess portion is recorded in 
the profit and loss item “Result from trading acti- 
vities”.

Subsequent events
No events affecting the balance sheet or income state-
ment are to be reported for the financial year 2023.
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Breakdown of securities financing transactions (assets and liabilities)

CHF 000 2023 2022

Book value of receivables from cash collateral delivered in connection with 

securities borrowing and reverse repurchase transactions (before netting 

agreements)1) 8,750,000 8,850,000

 

Book value of obligations from cash collateral received in connection with securities 

lending and repurchase transactions (before netting agreements) 741,000 100,000

 

Book value of securities lent in connection with securities lending or delivered 

as collateral in connection with securities borrowing as well as securities in own 

portfolio transferred in connection with repurchase agreements 1,476,759 826,578

with unrestricted right to resell or pledge 720,759 725,578

 

Fair value of securities received and serving as collateral in connection with 

securities lending or securities borrowed in connection with securities borrowing as 

well as securities received in connection with reverse repurchase agreements with 

an unrestricted right to resell or repledge 9,569,638 9,757,727

of which, repledged securities 31,277 3,246

of which, resold securities 0 0

Consolidated notes – 
Information on the balance sheet

1) CHF 8.75 bn (2022: CHF 8.85 bn) relates to tradable money market debt register claims issued by the Swiss National Bank (SNB Bills).
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Presentation of collateral for loans/receivables and off-balance sheet transactions, 

as well as impaired loans/receivables

CHF 000

Mortgage

collateral

Secured by

other collateral

Without

collateral Total

Loans (before netting with value adjustments)

Amounts due from customers 364,169 7,662,550 196,271 8,222,990

Mortgage loans

Residential property 819,806 0 0 819,806

Office and business premises 1,654,497 0 0 1,654,497

Trade and industry 281,005 0 0 281,005

Others 10 0 0 10

Total loans (before netting with value adjustments)

Current year 3,119,487 7,662,550 196,271 10,978,308

Previous year 3,651,571 9,174,672 105,664 12,931,907

Total loans (after netting with value adjustments)

Current year 2,787,564 7,519,364 165,034 10,471,962

Previous year 3,364,980 9,026,596 72,285 12,463,861

Off-balance sheet transactions

Contingent liabilities 0 185,873 101,921 287,794

Irrevocable commitments 0 25,370 0 25,370

Obligations to pay up shares and make further 

contributions 0 0 1,817 1,817

Total current year 0 211,243 103,738 314,981

Previous year 0 217,176 103,802 320,978

 

 

 

Impaired loans 

CHF 000

Gross debt 

amount

Estimated

liquidation value

of collateral

Net debt  

amount

Individual value 

adjustments

Current year 504,958 182,038 322,920 322,920

Previous year 562,591 190,927 371,664 371,664

See note “Presentation of value adjustments and provisions, reserves for general banking risks and changes therein during the current year” for the 
full presentation of value adjustments for default and country risks (i.e. including value adjustments for inherent default risks).

See note “Presentation of value adjustments and provisions, reserves for general banking risks, and changes therein during the current year” 
for the full presentation of value adjustments for default and country risks (i.e. including value adjustments for inherent default risks).
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Breakdown of trading portfolios and other financial instruments at fair value (assets and liabilities)

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Assets

Trading portfolios

Debt securities 1,241,550 1,423,857

of which, listed 293,777 366,869

Equity securities 918,242 605,445

Precious metals and commodities 542,389 522,536

Other trading portfolio assets 60,283 108,877

Other financial instruments at fair value

Debt securities 192,269 280,932

Structured products 1,970 2,316

Other 669,017 1,174,753

Total assets 3,625,720 4,118,716

of which, determined using a valuation model 0 0

of which, securities eligible for repo transactions 

in accordance with liquidity requirements 0 0

Liabilities

Trading portfolios

Debt securities 37,302 1,807

of which, listed 37,302 1,807

Equity securities 14,823 13,259

Precious metals and commodities 0 0

Other trading portfolio liabilities 2 3

Other financial instruments at fair value

Debt securities 192,501 284,941

Structured products 0 0

Other 665,340 806,516

Total liabilities 909,968 1,106,526

of which, determined using a valuation model 0 0
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Presentation of derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)

CHF 000

Positive

replacement values

Negative

replacement values Contract volumes

Trading instruments

Interest rate instruments

Forward agreements 66 32 2,520,068

Swaps 310,701 112,564 18,283,082

Futures 233 218 27,428

Total interest rate instruments 311,000 112,814 20,830,578

Foreign exchange

Forward agreements 40,217 38,286 5,691,339

Combined interest/currency swaps 289,894 819,159 35,111,803

Futures 0 0 778,652

Options (OTC) 38,865 33,315 7,071,492

Total foreign exchange 368,976 890,760 48,653,286

Equity securities/indices

Forward agreements 391 310 99,432

Futures 39 0 2,081

Options (OTC) 68,806 54,171 2,496,763

Options (exchange traded) 82,663 53,889 1,917,030

Total equity securities/indices 151,899 108,370 4,515,306

Precious metals 

Forward agreements 2,605 3,556 163,673

Swaps 15,792 18,199 627,345

Options (OTC) 27,004 17,156 2,259,493

Total precious metals 45,401 38,911 3,050,511

Credit derivatives 

Credit default swaps 0 0 0

Total credit derivatives 0 0 0

Other

Forward agreements 127 112 573,480

Total other 127 112 573,480

Total trading instruments before netting agreements on 31.12.2023 877,403 1,150,967 77,623,161

Total trading instruments before netting agreements on 31.12.2022 1,160,141 1,248,892 65,284,221

Hedge instruments

Interest rate instruments

Swaps 23,796 1,725 497,840

Total hedge instruments on 31.12.2023 23,796 1,725 497,840

Total hedge instruments on 31.12.2022 52,565 484 1,011,943

Total before netting agreements on 31.12.2023 901,199 1,152,692 78,121,001

of which, determined using a valuation model 0 0 –

Total before netting agreements on 31.12.2022 1,212,706 1,249,376 66,296,164

of which, determined using a valuation model 0 0 –

Total after netting agreements on 31.12.2023 428,776 682,729

Total after netting agreements on 31.12.2022 669,054 706,580

Breakdown by counterparty

Central clearing

houses

Banks and

securities dealers

Other

customers

CHF 000

Positive replacement values (after netting agreements) on 31.12.2023 240,787 55,016 132,973

Positive replacement values (after netting agreements) on 31.12.2022 375,991 75,277 217,786
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Financial investments

CHF 000

Book value

31.12.2023

Fair value

31.12.2023

Book value

31.12.2022

Fair value

31.12.2022

Debt securities 8,446,789 8,424,729 8,625,142 8,602,388

of which, intended to be held until maturity 8,362,351 8,339,703 8,525,180 8,501,214

of which, not intended to be held to maturity 

(available for sale) 84,438 85,026 99,962 101,174

Equity securities 1,192,482 1,261,416 1,183,047 1,294,526

of which, qualified participations 0 0 0 0

Precious metals 0 0 0 0

Real estate 92,681 92,681 30,610 30,610

Total financial investments 9,731,952 9,778,826 9,838,799 9,927,524

of which, securities eligible for repo transactions 

in accordance with liquidity regulations 555,139 49,288

Breakdown of counterparties by rating

CHF 000 AAA to AA– A+ to A–

BBB+ to 

BBB– BB+ to B– Below B– Unrated

Debt securities       

Book value on 31.12.2023 6,879,3121) 1,158,613 231,823 61,938 2 115,101

Book value on 31.12.2022 5,580,225 1,926,949 362,333 413,222 2 342,410

The above rating is based on the credit rating of Standard & Poor’s.

1) CHF 4.5bn is attributable to treasury bills (no rating in accordance with Standard & Poor’s) and are rated between AAA to AA-.

Participations

CHF 000

Acquisition 

costs

Accumulated 

value 

adjustments

Book value 

as at 

31.12.2022

Reclassi - 

fications Additions Disposals

Value 

adjustments

Book 

value as at 

31.12.2023

Market 

value

Participations 

valued using the 

equity method

with market value 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

without 

market value 337 0 337 0 0 0 0 337 –

Other 

participations

with market value 37,832 –265 37,567 0 0 0 0 37,567 127,848

without 

market value 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –

Total 

participations 38,169 –265 37,904 0 0 0 0 37,904 127,848
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Significant participating interests

Place of

incorporation Activity Currency

 Share 

capital

’000s

% of 

equity/ 

votes

Direct/

indirect 

ownership

Fully consolidated participating interests

Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd Basel Bank CHF 22,015 100.00% direct

Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Gibraltar) Ltd Gibraltar Bank CHF 1,000 100.00% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management (Europe) Ltd Gibraltar Advisory CHF 4,000 100.00% indirect

JSS (Gibraltar) Ltd Gibraltar Holding GBP 235 100.00% indirect

Marina Bay Holding Ltd Gibraltar Holding GBP 100 100.00% indirect

Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Monaco) SA Monaco Bank EUR 67,000 100.00% direct

J. Safra Sarasin Gestion (Monaco) SA Monaco Asset Management EUR 160 100.00% indirect

Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Luxembourg) SA Luxembourg Bank EUR 8,800 100.00% direct

J. Safra Sarasin Polska sp. z o.o. Warsaw Advisory PLN 250 100.00% indirect

JSS Private Equity Investments Fund GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg Fund Management EUR 12 100.00% direct

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management (North America) Ltd Geneva Asset Management CHF 1,350 100.00% direct

SIBTL Holding Ltd. Nassau Holding USD 460,932 52.00% direct

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management (Bahamas) Ltd. Nassau Fund Management USD 50 52.00% indirect

Bank J. Safra Sarasin (Bahamas) Ltd. Nassau Bank USD 18,000 51.97% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management S.A. Panama City Advisory USD 3,250 51.97% indirect

JSS Servicios S.A. de C.V. Mexico D.F. Administration USD 3 51.97% indirect

Lyford JSRE (Bahamas) Ltd. Nassau Real Estate USD 50 51.97% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin (Middle East) Ltd Dubai Advisory USD 22,000 100.00% indirect

Bank J. Safra Sarasin (QFC) LLC Doha Advisory USD 2,000 100.00% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin Asset Management (Israel) Ltd Tel Aviv Advisory ILS 350 100.00% indirect

bank zweiplus ltd Zurich Bank CHF 35,000 100.00% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin (Deutschland) GmbH Frankfurt Advisory EUR 50 100.00% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore) Ltd. Singapore Trust Company USD 1,000 100.00% indirect

Sarabet Ltd Basel Holding CHF 3,250 100.00% indirect

Sarasin (U.K.) Ltd London Holding GBP 17,900 100.00% indirect

S.I.M. Partnership (London) Ltd London Holding GBP 727 72.51%1) indirect

Sarasin & Partners LLP London Asset Management GBP 21,726 60.00%1) indirect

Sarasin Asset Management Ltd London Asset Management GBP 250 60.00%1) indirect

Sarasin U.S. Services Ltd London Advisory GBP 0.1 60.00%1) indirect

Sarasin Investment Funds Ltd London Fund Management GBP 250 60.00%1) indirect

Juxon Ltd Dublin Fund Management GBP 500 60.00%1) indirect

JSS Administradora de Recursos Ltda. Sao Paulo Advisory BRL 1,711 100.00% indirect

JSS Tecnologia e Desenvolvimento Ltda.2) Sao Paulo IT Services BRL 1,500 100.00% indirect

JSS Global Real Estate Company S.à r.l. Luxembourg Fund Management EUR 125 100.00% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin Investmentfonds Ltd Basel Fund Management CHF 4,000 100.00% indirect

J. Safra Sarasin Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A. Luxembourg Fund Management EUR 1,500 100.00% indirect

Place de Hollande SA Geneva Real Estate CHF 100 51.00% indirect

Associated companies

Elus Ltd Lausanne

Multi-issuer 

Platform CHF 1,500 22.50% direct

Non-consolidated investments in subsidiary companies

SIX Group AG Zurich Stock exchange CHF 19,522 2.49% indirect

PFBK Schweizerische Hypothekarinstitute AG Zurich Mortgage company CHF 1,100,000 0.30% indirect

Euroclear Holding SA/NV Brussels Financial services EUR 3,147 0.54% indirect

1) Voting rights.
2) Consolidated for the first time.
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Tangible fixed assets

CHF 000

Acquisition 

costs

Accumulated 

depreciation

Book value 

as at 

31.12.2022

Change in 

scope of 

consolidation

Reclassi - 

fications Additions Disposals Depreciation

Book value 

as at 

31.12.2023

Real estate:  

bank buildings 321,390 –100,989 220,401 0 0 0 –1,119 –5,660 213,622

Real estate:  

other real estate 283,558 –7,757 275,801 0 0 0 0 –4,634 271,167

Proprietary or 

separately acquired 

software 37,671 –20,175 17,496 0 0 5,209 0 –6,648 16,057

Other fixed assets 91,230 –56,232 34,998 0 0 14,044 –332 –7,738 40,972

Tangible assets 

acquired under finance 

leases:

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

of which,  

bank buildings 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

of which,  

other real estate 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

of which, other 

tangible fixed assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total fixed assets 733,849 –185,153 548,696 0 0 19,253 –1,451 –24,680 541,818

Operating leases

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Remaining maturity <1 year  15,681  15,878 

Remaining maturity 1– 5 years  27,647  36,756 

Remaining maturity >5 years  3,088  1,981 

Total liabilities from operating lease  46,416  54,615 

of which, liabilities that can be terminated within one year  1,563  1,713 

Intangible assets

CHF 000

Acquisition 

costs

Accumulated 

amortisation

Book value 

as at 

31.12.2022

Reclassi - 

fications Additions Disposals Amortisation

Book value 

as at 

31.12.2023

Goodwill 563,895 –563,895 0 0 0 0 0 0

Patents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Licences 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other intangible assets 53,561 –53,561 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total intangible assets 617,456 –617,456 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Other assets/Other liabilities

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Other assets

Compensation account 8,252 313

Accrued loss after sale of financial investments 155,923 218,166

Deferred income taxes recognised as assets 102,574 36,927

Amount recognised as assets in respect of employer contribution reserves 0 0

Amount recognised as assets relating to other assets from pension schemes 0 0

Others 86,594 147,885

Total 353,343 403,291

Other liabilities

Compensation account 88,157 229,063

Accrued profit after sale of financial investments 240,791 307,300

Others 224,242 182,957

Total 553,190 719,320

Disclosure of liabilities relating to own pension schemes, and number and nature of equity instruments 

of the Group held by own pension schemes

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Liabilities to own pension plans 48,299 29,681

Disclosure of assets pledged or assigned to secure own commitments and of assets under reservation of ownership

CHF 000

Book value

31.12.2023

Effective

commitment

31.12.2023

Book value

31.12.2022

Effective

commitment

31.12.2022

Financial instruments 431,689 413,464 253,577 243,945

Other assets 867,024 739,247 1,429,570 1,201,331

Total pledged assets 1,298,713 1,152,711 1,683,147 1,445,276

There are no assets under reservation of ownership. The assets are pledged for commitments from securities borrowing, for lombard limits at central 
banks and for stock exchange security.
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Pension schemes
The Group operates a number of pension schemes for 
its employees in Switzerland and abroad. Employees in 
Switzerland are covered either by the pension fund of 
Bank J. Safra Sarasin or by the collective foundation 
“Trianon”. These pension schemes are defined contri-
bution plans. Also all pension schemes based outside 
of Switzerland are defined contribution plans. There is 
neither a surplus nor a deficit coverage. The contribu- 

tions for the period are shown as personnel costs in the 
income statement. 

The purpose of the pension scheme is to provide pen-
sion benefits for employees of the Group upon retire-
ment or disability and for the employees’ survivors 
after their death. It manages the mandatory retire-
ment, survivors’ and disability benefits in accordance 
with the BVG (“Berufliche Vorsorge”) in Switzerland. 

The Group does not have any patronage funds.

Employer’s contribution reserves (ECR)

CHF 000

Nominal 

value

31.12.2023

Renunciation 

of use

31.12.2023

Creation

2023

Balance 

sheet

31.12.2023

Balance 

sheet

31.12.2022

Result from 

ECR in 

personnel 

expenses

2023

Result from 

ECR in 

personnel 

expenses

2022

Patronage funds/pension schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Economic benefit/economic obligation and pension benefit expenses

CHF 000

Surplus/ 

(deficit)

31.12.20231)

Economical 

part of the 

organisation

31.12.2023

Economical 

part of the 

organisation

31.12.2022

Change in 

the prior-year 

period or 

recognised in 

the current 

result of the 

period

Contribu- 

tions 

concerning 

the business 

period

Pension 

benefit 

expenses 

within 

personnel 

expenses

2023

Pension 

benefit 

expenses 

within 

personnel 

expenses

2022

Pension schemes        

with surplus 50,776 0 0 0 25,840 25,840 24,588

without surplus/(deficit) 0 0 0 0 11,931 11,931 12,336

Total 50,776 0 0 0 37,771 37,771 36,924

1) At the publication date the final financial statements of the pension schemes were not available. Therefore the figures are based on the 2022 
financial statements of the pension schemes.

The financial statements of the pension funds in Switzerland are prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER 26.
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Presentation of issued structured products

Underlying risk of the embedded derivative

Valued separately Valued separately

CHF 000

Value of 

the host 

instrument

Value of the 

derivative

Total

31.12.2023

Value of 

the host 

instrument

Value of the 

derivative

Total

31.12.2022

Interest rate instruments

With own debenture component (oDC) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Without oDC 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equity securities

With own debenture component (oDC) 367,506 –22,635 344,871 469,786 –68,157 401,629

Without oDC 0 0 0 0 0 0

Foreign currencies

With own debenture component (oDC) 194,953 –676 194,277 362,220 –1,407 360,813

Without oDC 0 0 0 0 0 0

Commodities/precious metals

With own debenture component (oDC) 38,706 –581 38,125 38,792 –402 38,390

Without oDC 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 601,165 –23,892 577,273 870,798 –69,966 800,832

Presentation of bonds outstanding and mandatory convertible bonds

Year of 

issuance

Early 

termination 

possibilities

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

Maturity 

date

Amount 

outstanding 

CHF 000

Issuer

Banque J. Safra Sarasin 

(Luxembourg) SA Subordinated 2015 no 8.38% 06.04.26 67,332

Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd Non-subordinated 
mortgage-backed bonds 2012 no 1.43% 2024 2,000

Overview of maturities of bonds outstanding

CHF 000 < 1 year > 1 – < 2 ys > 2 – < 3 ys > 3 – < 4 ys > 4 – < 5 ys > 5 years Total

Issuer  

Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Luxembourg) SA 0 0 67,332 0 0 0 67,332

Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 2,000
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Presentation of value adjustments and provisions, reserves for general banking risks and changes therein 

during the current year

CHF 000

Balance 

as at 

31.12.2022

Use in 

conformity 

with 

designated 

purpose

Change 

in scope 

of con- 

solidation

Currency 

differences

Past due 

interest, 

recoveries

New 

creations 

charged to 

income

Release 

to income

Balance 

as at 

31.12.2023

Provisions 

Provisions for 

deferred taxes 18,705 0 0 –389 0 4 –1,532 16,788

Provisions for pension benefit 

obligations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Provisions for inherent default risks  

(off-balance sheet) 1,736 0 0 0 0 2,238 –126 3,848

Provisions for other business risks 2,417 0 0 –57 –5 11,000 –343 13,012

Provisions for restructuring 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other provisions 78,824 –5,346 0 –1,025 0 42,184 –5 114,632

Total provisions 101,682 –5,346 0 –1,471 –5 55,426 –2,006 148,280

Reserves for general banking risks 270,642 0 0 0 0 348,323 0 618,965

Value adjustments for default and 

country risks

Value adjustments for default risks 

in respect of impaired loans / 

receivables 371,664 –68,912 0 –4,844 20,483 4,559 –30 322,920

Value adjustments for inherent  

default risks 105,786 0 0 0 0 121,769 –40,519 187,036

of which, on customer loans 96,382 0 0 0 0 120,894 –33,852 183,424

of which, on amounts due from 

banks and financial investments 9,404 0 0 0 0 875 –6,667 3,612

Value adjustments for default risks

in respect of amounts due from banks 

and financial investments 69,544 0 0 –348 –370 2 –67,588 1,240

Total value adjustments for default 

and country risks 546,994 –68,912 0 –5,192 20,113 126,330 –108,137 511,196

Disclosure of amounts due from/to related parties

Amounts due from Amounts due to

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Holders of qualified participations – – – –

Group companies – – – – 

Linked companies  987,004  1,450,383  2,502,856  2,964,872 

Transactions with members of governing bodies  73,239  74,203  9,162  12,984 

Other related parties  117,736  132,432  454,332  693,251 

Above-mentioned transactions are concluded at arm’s length.

Off-balance sheet transactions with any of the above-mentioned parties are mainly foreign exchange operations.
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Presentation of the maturity structure of financial instruments

CHF 000 At sight Cancellable

Due within 

3 months

Due within 

3 to 12 

months

Due within 

12 months 

to 5 years

Due 

more than 

5 years No maturity Total

Liquid assets 3,232,033 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,232,033

Amounts due from banks 1,460,963 0 2,881,302 0 0 0 0 4,342,265

Amounts due from 

securities financing 

transactions 0 0 8,750,000 0 0 0 0 8,750,000

Amounts due from 

customers 1,706,226 0 4,468,140 756,941 862,733 72,396 0 7,866,436

Mortgage loans 1,704 0 562,773 461,020 1,361,340 218,689 0 2,605,526

Trading portfolio assets 2,762,464 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,762,464

Positive replacement values 

of derivative financial 

instruments 901,199 0 0 0 0 0 0 901,199

Other financial instruments 

at fair value 863,256 0 0 0 0 0 0 863,256

Financial investments 1,284,726 0 6,813,175 964,470 501,130 168,451 0 9,731,952

Total 31.12.2023 12,212,571 0 23,475,390 2,182,431 2,725,203 459,536 0 41,055,131

Total 31.12.2022 13,869,701 0 23,096,441 2,877,250 3,886,517 683,563 0 44,413,472

Due to banks 560,644 0 510,968 17,398 0 0 0 1,089,010

Liabilities from securities 

financing transactions 0 0 741,000 0 0 0 0 741,000

Amounts due in respect of 

customer deposits 11,003,872 2,429,385 14,356,891 2,357,482 1,065,657 130,935 0 31,344,222

Trading portfolio liabilities 52,127 0 0 0 0 0 0 52,127

Negative replacement 

values of derivative 

financial instruments 1,152,692 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,152,692

Liabilities from other 

financial instruments at 

fair value 857,841 0 0 0 0 0 0 857,841

Bond issues and central 

mortgage institution loans 0 0 2,000 0 67,332 0 0 69,332

Total 31.12.2023 13,627,176 2,429,385 15,610,859 2,374,880 1,132,989 130,935 0 35,306,224

Total 31.12.2022 19,456,617 77,261 15,348,857 1,813,705 1,500,401 0 0 38,196,841
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Assets and liabilities by domestic and foreign origin

CHF 000

31.12.2023 31. 12. 2022

Swiss Foreign Swiss Foreign

Assets

Liquid assets 3,121,397 110,636 3,428,881 133,786

Amounts due from banks 58,398 4,283,867 87,963 4,278,760

Amounts due from securities financing transactions 8,750,000 0 8,850,000 0

Amounts due from customers 1,349,069 6,517,367 1,318,046 7,971,762

Mortgage loans 404,177 2,201,350 483,349 2,690,704

Trading portfolio assets 1,467,728 1,294,736 1,069,145 1,591,570

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments 164,987 736,212 182,560 1,030,146

Other financial instruments at fair value 223,717 639,539 690,945 767,056

Financial investments 4,783,510 4,948,442 2,823,202 7,015,597

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 32,297 467,212 33,656 183,323

Non-consolidated participations 29,571 8,333 29,570 8,334

Tangible fixed assets 523,788 18,030 530,515 18,181

Intangible assets 0 0 0 0

Other assets 205,723 147,620 192,385 210,906

Total assets 21,114,362 21,373,344 19,720,217 25,900,125

Liabilities

Amounts due to banks 374,230 714,780 571,959 1,148,233

Liabilities from securities financing transactions 541,000 200,000 100,000 0

Amounts due in respect of customer deposits 10,012,254 21,331,968 9,291,930 24,650,799

Trading portfolio liabilities 13,844 38,283 6,710 8,359

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments 249,064 903,628 384,273 865,103

Liabilities from other financial instruments at fair value 665,340 192,501 778,778 312,679

Bond issues and central mortgage institution loans 2,000 67,332 4,002 74,016

Accrued expenses and deferred income 227,851 494,926 173,421 241,208

Other liabilities 249,741 303,449 380,620 338,700

Provisions 117,202 31,078 82,325 19,357

Reserves for general banking risks 427,369 191,596 260,871 9,771

Share capital 848,245 0 848,245 0

Capital reserve 1,745,862 0 1,745,862 0

Retained earnings reserve 624,445 1,261,645 454,179 1,652,139

Currency translation reserve 138,873 –413,367 138,873 –247,386

Minority interests in equity 98 462,140 181 884,976

Consolidated profit 131,843 338,486 115,297 324,862

Total liabilities 16,369,261 26,118,444 15,337,526 30,282,816
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Assets by countries/country groups

CHF 000

31. 12. 2023 31. 12. 2022

Total Part as a % Total Part as a %

Europe 9,200,939 21.7% 10,518,119 23.1%

Americas 7,751,336 18.2% 10,267,964 22.5%

Asia 4,188,252 9.9% 4,839,684 10.6%

Others 232,817 0.5% 274,358 0.6%

Total foreign assets 21,373,344 50.3% 25,900,125 56.8%

Switzerland 21,114,362 49.7% 19,720,217 43.2%

Total assets 42,487,706 100.0% 45,620,342 100.0%

Breakdown of total net foreign assets by credit rating of country groups (risk domicile view)

31. 12. 2023 31. 12. 2022

Net foreign exposure 

CHF 000 Part as a %

Net foreign exposure 

CHF 000 Part as a %

Standard & Poor’s   

AAA to AA– 5,286,047 76.5% 7,902,223 93.6%

A+ to A– 69,193 1.0% – –

BBB+ to B– 1,550,309 22.5% 539,887 6.4%

Total net foreign assets 6,905,549 100.0% 8,442,110 100.0%

Basis for country ratings: Standard & Poor’s Issuer Credit Ratings Foreign Currency LT (long term).
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Balance sheet by currencies

CHF 000 CHF EUR USD Others Total

Assets

Liquid assets 3,121,397 91,198 260 19,178 3,232,033

Amounts due from banks 193,487 3,007,030 660,865 480,883 4,342,265

Amounts due from securities financing transactions 8,750,000 0 0 0 8,750,000

Amounts due from customers 2,155,043 1,483,825 3,218,993 1,008,575 7,866,436

Mortgage loans 218,071 438,377 259,604 1,689,474 2,605,526

Trading portfolio assets 962,962 55,597 432,741 1,311,164 2,762,464

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments 359,315 90,679 341,930 109,275 901,199

Other financial instruments at fair value 138,411 91,884 482,520 150,441 863,256

Financial investments 4,850,507 351,641 2,271,615 2,258,189 9,731,952

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 129,502 91,632 215,758 62,617 499,509

Non-consolidated participations 29,571 8,333 0 0 37,904

Tangible fixed assets 525,787 866 13,958 1,207 541,818

Intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0

Other assets 198,842 72,207 80,600 1,694 353,343

Total balance sheet assets 21,632,895 5,783,269 7,978,844 7,092,697 42,487,705

Delivery entitlements from spot exchange, forward forex and 

forex option transactions 7,838,993 8,202,844 22,126,942 5,233,811 43,402,590

Total assets 31.12.2023 29,471,888 13,986,113 30,105,786 12,326,508 85,890,295

Liabilities

Amounts due to banks 105,331 232,390 535,795 215,494 1,089,010

Liabilities from securities financing transactions 741,000 0 0 0 741,000

Amounts due in respect of customer deposits 6,142,307 6,157,043 15,026,218 4,018,654 31,344,222

Trading portfolio liabilities 15,434 1,925 34,716 52 52,127

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments 574,001 50,021 443,722 84,948 1,152,692

Liabilities from other financial instruments at fair value 108,929 144,815 555,509 48,588 857,841

Bond issues and central mortgage institution loans 2,000 0 67,332 0 69,332

Accrued expenses and deferred income 321,639 216,117 130,212 54,809 722,777

Other liabilities 59,495 138,819 316,621 38,255 553,190

Provisions 121,768 25,947 531 34 148,280

Reserves for general banking risks 609,194 9,771 0 0 618,965

Share capital 848,245 0 0 0 848,245

Capital reserve 1,745,862 0 0 0 1,745,862

Retained earnings reserve 1,089,440 379,975 404,373 12,302 1,886,090

Currency translation reserve 138,873 –225,673 –151,997 –35,697 –274,494

Minority interests in equity 98 0 451,953 10,186 462,237

Consolidated profit –88,624 92,632 372,330 93,991 470,329

Total balance sheet liabilities 12,534,992 7,223,782 18,187,315 4,541,616 42,487,705

Delivery obligations from spot exchange, forward forex and 

forex option transactions 18,139,509 6,362,252 11,676,854 7,716,100 43,894,715

Total liabilities 31.12.2023 30,674,501 13,586,034 29,864,169 12,257,716 86,382,420

Net currency positions 31.12.2023 –1,202,613 400,079 241,617 68,791 –492,125
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Breakdown and explanation of contingent assets and liabilities

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Guarantees to secure credits and similar 174,123 191,486

Performance guarantees and similar 85,252 81,460

Irrevocable commitments arising from documentary letters of credit 0 0

Other contingent liabilities 28,419 24,488

Total contingent liabilities 287,794 297,434

 

Contingent assets arising from tax losses carried forward 13,283 16,015

Other contingent assets 0 0

Total contingent assets 13,283 16,015

Breakdown of fiduciary transactions

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Fiduciary investments with third-party banks 1,521,346 1,420,475

Fiduciary investments with linked companies 0 0

Fiduciary loans 233,736 253,485

Fiduciary transactions arising from securities lending and borrowing 

which the Group conducts in its own name for the account of customers 0 0

Other fiduciary transactions 0 0

Total fiduciary transactions 1,755,082 1,673,960

Breakdown of credit commitments

CHF 000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Commitments arising from deferred payments 0 0

Commitments arising from acceptances (for liabilities arising from acceptances in circulation) 0 0

Other credit commitments 0 0

Consolidated notes – 
Information on off-balance sheet transactions

Breakdown of unused tax losses/unrecognised tax assets (by jurisdiction)

2023 2022

CHF 000

Unused tax 

losses for which 

no deferred tax 

asset has been 

recognised

Relevant 

statutory  

corporate 

income  

tax rate

Potential tax 

benefit

Unused tax 

losses for which 

no deferred tax 

asset has been 

recognised

Relevant 

statutory  

corporate 

income  

tax rate

Potential tax 

benefit

Germany   40,467 32%   12,949   45,012 32%   14,404 

Switzerland   866 13%   117   1’426 13%   192 

Qatar   2,171 10%   217 0 0% 0

Mexico 0 0% 0   4,055 35%   1,419 

Total   43,504   13,283   50,493   16,015 
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Breakdown of managed assets and presentation of their development

CHF million 2023 2022

Type of managed assets 

Assets in collective investment schemes by the Group 20,889 21,035

Assets under discretionary asset management agreements 30,695 30,273

Other managed assets 152,678 146,629

Total managed assets (including double-counting) 204,262 197,937

Of which double-counted items 15,401 14,455

Development of managed assets

Total managed assets (including double-counting) at beginning 197,937 224,739

+/– net new money inflow or net new money outflow 7,352 4,011

+/– price gains/losses, interest, dividends and currency gains/losses –6 –29,934

+/– other effects –1,021 –879

Total managed assets (including double-counting) at end 204,262 197,937

Assets under management mainly comprise amounts due to customers in the form of savings and investments, along with term accounts, fiduciary 

investments, all duly valued assets in custody accounts and linked sight accounts. Assets under management also include assets held for investment 

purposes by institutional investors, companies and individual clients, along with investment funds.

Discretionary managed accounts include clients’ assets with signed discretionary management mandates in favour of an entity of the Group.

Other managed assets include client assets for whom one of the entities of the Group provides all services arising from stock exchange and foreign 

exchange transactions on the basis of instructions received, as well as safekeeping, loans and payments.

Net new inflows/outflows comprise all external inflows and outflows of cash and securities recorded on client accounts.
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Breakdown of the result from trading activities and the fair value option

CHF 000 2023 2022

Breakdown by business area

Trading profit with market risk 65,210 84,114

Trading profit without market risk 127,671 142,252

Trading profit from treasury activities 239,824 61,942

Total result from trading activities 432,705 288,308

Breakdown by underlying risk and based on the use of the fair value option

Result from trading activities from:  

Interest rate instruments 168,755 185,230

Equity securities (including funds) 156,684 –130

Foreign currencies 100,678 89,369

Commodities/precious metals 6,588 13,839

Total result from trading activities 432,705 288,308

of which, from fair value option –15,352 –229,587

Disclosure of material refinancing income in the item “Interest and discount income” 

as well as material negative interest

CHF 000 2023 2022

Material refinancing income in the item “Interest and discount income” 0 0

Material negative interest 19 38,411

Consolidated notes – 
Information on the income statement
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Breakdown of personnel expenses

CHF 000 2023 2022

Salaries 542,608 497,942

of which, expenses relating to share-based compensation and alternative forms of variable compensation 140,161 128,359

Social charges 81,902 78,476

Changes in book value for economic benefits and obligations arising from pension schemes 0 0

Other personnel expenses 16,535 17,150

Total personnel expenses 641,045 593,568

Breakdown of general and administrative expenses

CHF 000 2023 2022

Office space expenses 30,528 28,520

Expenses for information and communications technology 25,033 23,291

Expenses for vehicles, equipment, furniture and other fixtures as well as operating lease expenses 605 513

Fees of audit firm 4,401 4,179

of which, for financial and regulatory audits 3,870 3,810

of which, for other services 120 369

Other operating expenses 100,771 103,151

of which, compensation for any cantonal guarantee 0 0

Total general and administrative expenses 160,927 159,654

Explanations regarding material losses, extraordinary income and expenses as well as material releases of 

hidden reserves, reserves for general banking risks and value adjustments and provisions no longer required

Changes in reserves for general banking risks reflect the creation of additional reserves for general banking risks recognised at Bank J. Safra 

Sarasin Ltd (CHF 63.1m) and at consolidated level (CHF 285.2m).

Disclosure of and reasons for revaluations of participations and tangible fixed assets up to acquisition cost 

at maximum

No revaluations of participations and tangible fixed assets up to acquisition cost have taken place.
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Presentation of the operating result broken down according to domestic and foreign origin, 

according to the principle of permanent establishment

2023 2022

CHF 000 Swiss Foreign Total Swiss Foreign Total

Subtotal net result from interest operations 636,476 26,433 662,909 216,780 243,488 460,268

Subtotal result from commission business and services 276,487 365,992 642,479 288,519 375,614 664,133

Result from trading activities and the fair value option –138,855 571,560 432,705 135,732 152,576 288,308

Subtotal other result from ordinary activities 19,750 –21,935 –2,185 18,582 10,206 28,788

Operating income 793,858 942,050 1,735,908 659,613 781,884 1,441,497

Personnel expenses –338,574 –302,471 –641,045 –321,986 –271,582 –593,568

General and administrative expenses –80,971 –79,956 –160,927 –81,686 –77,968 –159,654

Subtotal operating expenses –419,545 –382,427 –801,972 –403,672 –349,550 –753,222

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets 

and intangible assets and value adjustments on 

participations –22,433 –2,247 –24,680 –9,041 –50,240 –59,281

Changes to provisions and other value adjustments, 

and losses –42,872 –14,097 –56,969 –33,141 –7,933 –41,074

Operating result 309,008 543,279 852,287 213,759 374,161 587,920

Presentation of capital taxes, current taxes, deferred taxes, and disclosure of tax rate

CHF 000 2023 2022

Current income and capital tax expenses 101,033 48,832

Allocation to provisions for deferred taxes –1,528 4,530

Recognition of deferred income taxes –65,843 1,016

Total 33,662 54,378

The weighted average tax rate amounts to 5.4% (2022: 9.8%).

In 2023, the ordinary net tax expense effect of the use of losses carried forward was nil (2022: nil).
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Deloitte AG 

Pfingstweidstrasse 11 

CH-8005 Zürich 

 
Phone: +41 (0)58 279 60 00 

Fax: +41 (0)58 279 66 00 

www.deloitte.ch 

 

To the General Meeting of 

JJ..  SSaaffrraa  SSaarraassiinn  HHoollddiinngg  LLttdd,,  BBaasseell  

 

RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss    

 

OOppiinniioonn  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries 

(the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2023, and the 

consolidated statement of income, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated statement of changes 

in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements including accounting 

and valuation principles. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 44 to 81) for the year ended give a true and 

fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023 and of its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows in accordance with Swiss accounting 

rules for banks and comply with Swiss law. 

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 

responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor's 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are 

independent of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law, together with the 

requirements of the Swiss audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

OOtthheerr  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn  

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and 

our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the 

other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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 J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. 

 
Report of the statutory auditor 

 
for the year ended 

 
December 31, 2023 

 

 

 

BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss’’  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, which 

give a true and fair view in accordance with Swiss accounting rules for banks and the provisions of Swiss 

law, and for such internal controls as the Board of Directors determines are necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to 

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

AAuuddiittoorr''ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is 

located on EXPERTsuisse’s website at: https://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-ordinary-audits. 

This description forms an integral part of our report. 

RReeppoorrtt  oonn  OOtthheerr  LLeeggaall  aanndd  RReegguullaattoorryy  RReeqquuiirreemmeennttss  

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control 

system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 

according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

  
DDeellooiittttee  AAGG  

 
 
 
 
Sandro Schönenberger Christian Siebold 

Licensed Audit Expert 
Licensed Audit Expert 

Auditor in Charge 

 
 
Zurich, March 26, 2024 
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The Sustainability Report 2023  
captures the Group’s endeavours in  
integrating sustainable practices 
throughout its business model and re-
flects its commitment to long-term 
business success while contributing to 
global sustainability.

In the dynamic and rapidly evolving landscape of sus-
tainable finance, J. Safra Sarasin Group prides itself 
on being a reliable and forward-thinking private bank-
ing group, navigating sustainable finance with more 
than 30 years of expertise. 

The global market environment: Global atten-
tion to sustainable finance and climate remained 
unchanged in 2023, with investors, companies and gov-
ernments recognising the importance of finding solu-
tions to these pressing issues. Despite headwinds in 
certain regions of the world, also driven by other  
developments such as fears of inflation and rising 
energy costs, the demand for sustainable investment 
strategies remained strong. In Europe, policymakers 

and regulators continued to tighten environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) related regulations, pro-
moting a more transparent financial sector and moving 
from pure ESG integration to impact oriented invest-
ing. The implementation of the Sustainable Finance 
Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) remained a challenging 
task for investors and financial institutions alike. While 
the United States have seen a more fragmented land-
scape on ESG integration and perception of sustainable 
investing, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) is also working on mandatory ESG disclosure 
requirements. Switzerland, as a key player in global 
finance, remains strongly dedicated to positioning 
itself at the forefront of sustainable finance. The adop-
tion of its inaugural and mandatory non-financial 
reporting requirements for companies underscores the 
nation’s commitment to transparency and accountabil-
ity. Notably, the Swiss Climate Ordinance, in force 
since 1 January 2024, reinforces Switzerland’s dedica-
tion to combatting climate change. 

Overall, 2023 has made it even clearer that navigat-
ing the challenging environment of sustainable invest-
ing will continue to require a high level of expertise 
and know-how.

J. Safra Sarasin’s approach: In this dynamic 
environment, J. Safra Sarasin Group can rely on its 
solid sustainability approach and over 30 years of 
experience in sustainable finance while continuously 
advancing its sustainability research and investing 
capabilities. As a major development in 2023, a revised 
methodology for the well-established Country ESG 
Rating Model has been developed, which now accounts 
for the different income levels of countries (correcting 
the income bias) when assessing their ESG perfor-
mance and also incorporates vital biodiversity factors. 
The addition of new data points to the established and 
proprietary sustainable investment tools, and the reg-
ular review of existing methodologies ensure that the 
J. Safra Sarasin Group remains at the forefront of sus-
tainable investing.

Sustainability 
Report 2023
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The Group’s first and foremost commitment is to its 
clients and the long-term relationships that form the 
foundation of its business. Its multi-generational 
mind set ensures that all clients receive excellent advice 
and support, not just today, but for generations to 
come. The Group is committed to providing financial 
solutions tailored to the needs of each client. Through 
its core businesses of private banking, asset manage-
ment and trading and advisory services, the Group 
offers its clients a comprehensive range of financial 
services. 

Private Banking: The Group offers a comprehen-
sive suite of wealth management services tailored to 
the specific needs of each client. As part of the offering, 
clients can choose from various services, including 
custody and execution as well as f lexible investment 
and discretionary portfolio management services. 
Additionally, the Group provides tailored financing 
solutions. These services are designed to offer a  holistic 
approach to wealth management, catering to a broad 
range of financial needs and the individual preferences 
of each client. 

Asset Management: The Group is a leading pro-
vider of sustain able investment solutions. Its commit-
ment to sustainability is reflected in its range of sus- 
tainable investment strategies across multiple asset 
classes and its thought leadership in proprietary sus-
tainability research. With this approach, the Group 
provides clients with personalised investment services 
tailored to their needs, while actively mitigating long-
term sustainability-related risks. These characteristics 
make the Group a trusted partner for investors seeking 
long-term returns while incorporating sustainable 
practices into their portfolios.

Trading and Advisory Services: Through its 
trading services, the Group offers access to world-class 
trading platforms across asset classes, combined with 
expert advice from skilled professionals dedicated to 
helping clients effectively navigate today’s complex 
financial landscape. When providing investment 
advice, the Group considers the individual needs of 
each client in order to construct tailor-made strategies 
that reflect those needs.

With its long-term business perspective, the Group 
offers its clients the stability, trust and solidity  
that are key to long-term success. As a result of its 
business activities, the Group’s net profit rose to  
CHF 470.3 million for the year 2023. The Group can 

As another key development, the commitment to fos-
tering collaboration and knowledge-sharing has led to 
the creation of a new internal sustainability analysis 
platform, the ESG Navigator. The ESG Navigator serves 
as a hub for cross-functional cooperation between  
sustainability research and portfolio management,  
further strengthening the integration of ESG consi- 
derations into investment strategies. In alignment 
with its dedication to sustainable finance, J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management is working on a 
new strategy targeting the metal and mining industry 
as an important key player in the global transition 
towards net zero emissions. This innovative approach 
underscores the support for the global net zero transi-
tion and reinforces the commitment to find solutions 
and facilitate positive environmental change where 
needed. 

About this report: This Sustainability Report has 
been prepared in accordance with the Swiss Code of 
Obligations and the UN Global Compact Principles.  
It includes information on the J. Safra Sarasin Group 
or, if specifically stated, on individual companies that 
are part of it. Throughout the report, key developments 
in 2023 and interesting case studies are presented in  
shaded boxes. Certain sections have been subject  
to a limited assurance process as described on pages 
126–127. This Sustainability Report is published on  
www.jsafrasarasin.com. 

I. J. Safra Sarasin Group 
J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. (JSSH) is the shareholder 
of Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd (the “Bank”) and other 
direct or indirect subsidiaries, their branches and rep-
resentative offices (overview see page 29), together 
forming the “J. Safra Sarasin Group” (the “Group”). As 
part of the Group, the Bank is a leading Swiss full- 
service private bank founded in 1841 with a presence 
in multiple Swiss and international locations and a 
strong commitment to sustainability. JSSH has dele-
gated to the Bank’s governing bodies all duties, respon-
sibilities and competencies related to the management 
and operation of the Group’s business, which includes 
the organisation, financial consolidation and risk 
diversification as well as the supervision on a consoli-
dated basis of the Group’s activities. In this context, 
the Group’s Corporate Sustainability Board and the 
sustainability team are responsible for developing the 
sustainability framework and guidelines for the Group. 
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The first sustainability analysis in 1989 started a  
new era in company analysis. Since then, the Bank has 
re inforced its commitment to sustainable finance, align-
ing its goals with global frameworks that advance eco-
logical and social responsibility, and became a found - 
ing signatory of the UN Principles for Responsible 
Investment (UN PRI) in 2006. Since then, the Bank has 
made additional commitments, such as the alignment  
of its business practices with the UN Principles for 
Responsible Banking (UN PRB) and the goals of the 
Finance for Biodiversity Pledge. 

rely on a CET1 ratio of 47.0%, one of the highest in the 
Swiss banking industry.

Commitment to sustainability 
A series of events in quick succession from 1986 
onwards, starting with the Chernobyl nuclear disaster 
and the spill from the Swiss chemical plant that pol-
luted the Rhine River around Basel for years, made the 
Bank aware that the value of company shares is not 
determined purely by financial numbers. With sus-
tainable investing as the default investment approach, 
sustainability factors are integrated in the investment 
process and supported by long-term experience, pro-
prietary tools and robust processes. 

In blue: Milestones for sustainable investing at Bank J. Safra Sarasin
In green: Global events and international milestones in sustainable investing
Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023

 1989 Launch of the first sustainable mandates

 1992 First UN-led Conference on the Environment 
  and Development in Rio de Janeiro

 1994 Launch of the world’s first eco-efficiency fund 

 1997 Signing of global CO2 reduction Kyoto Protocol

 2001 Launch of the J. Safra Sarasin 
  Sustainability Matrix®

 2002 Launch of sustainable country ratings

 mid-2000s Double-digit sustainable investing market   
  growth in all world regions, led by Europe

2006 Launch of the UN Principles for Responsible   
  Investment (UN PRI)

  Founding signatory of the UN Principles for   
  Responsible Investment (UN PRI)

2009 All Private Banking mandates become   
  sustainable, earning the awards:
  FT Sustainable Finance, IPE ESG Leaders &
  Deutscher Nachhaltigkeitspreis

  Launch of sustainable direct real estate funds

 2010 Launch of sustainable emerging markets fund

 2013 Full integration of ESG factors into each step 
  of the investment process

 2015 Launch of UN Sustainable Development Goals
  and Adaption of the Paris Agreement

  J. Safra Sarasin Sustainability Matrix®awarded
   the Investment Innovation Benchmark

2018 Joined the United Nations Global 
  Compact (UNGC)

2019 Launch of UN the Principles for Responsible 
  Banking (UN PRB)

  Founding signatory of the UN Principles for
  Responsible Banking (UN PRB)

  Roll-out of carbon reporting and management 
  framework geared towards net zero emissions

2020 Launch of the Finance for Biodiversity Pledge

  Founding signatory of the Finance for 
  Biodiversity Pledge

  Launch of the J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable  
  Asset Management Climate Pledge

2021 UN Climate Change Conference COP26
  in Glasgow and launch of the Glasgow  
  Financial Alliance for Net Zero (GFANZ)

  Joined the Net Zero Asset Managers
  initiative (NZAM)

2022 Conceptual research on biodiversity and its
  further integration in the investment process

  UN Biodiversity Conference (COP15) and the
  adoption of the Kunming-Montreal Global 
  Biodiversity Framework

2023 New methodology for Country ESG Ratings,
   incorporating income bias data and 
  biodiversity factors

  Development of the Biodiversity Impact 
  and Dependencies Tool for portfolio analysis

Figure: Sustainability milestones  
at Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd 
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sustainability, (2) the sustainability of the financial 
services and (3) its broader role as a collaborator 
within society.

Corporate sustainability: Within the Group, cor-
porate sustainability encompasses three goals: 

1. Applying sound governance practices
2. Fostering a sustainable corporate culture 
3. Increasing resource efficiency

The Group’s governance framework is designed to 
ensure transparency, accountability and sustainable 
behaviour across all levels of the organisation. As such, 
proactive governance not only strengthens the Group’s 
commitment towards achieving its sustainability goals 
but also enhances stakeholder trust in the Group’s abil-
ity to deliver on those commitments. In addition, the 
Group highly values a positive corporate culture based 
on innovation, entrepreneurial thinking and a high 
degree of personal responsibility and accountability. 
This enables the Group to attract top talent, adapt to an 
ever-changing market environment, proactively seize 
opportunities and maintain the Group’s core values for 
long-term success.

Financial sustainability: The Group recognises 
that financial success and stability cannot be achieved 
without taking sustainability considerations into 
account. Therefore, the Group seeks to provide a sus-
tainable core offering that generates long-term re - 
turns for clients, while respecting their sustainability 
preferences and the environmental and social impact 
of their investments. The Group’s adherence to sus-
tainable finance principles ref lects its dedication to 
achieving both economic and sustainability targets. 

Collaboration: The Group acknowledges that, to 
promote sustainability both internally and externally, 
collaboration is essential. To this end, the Group works 
closely with external stakeholders to advance sustain-
able finance across sectors, sharing knowledge and 
resources to make greater progress. 

By prioritising these three aspects of sustainability 
in its business practices, the Group demonstrates its 
strong commitment towards creating long-term value. 
The Group understands that sustainability requires a 
comprehensive approach towards balancing economic 
growth alongside sustainable business practices and 
social well-being. 

Taking another significant step in its sustainability jour-
ney, in 2020, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Man- 
agement announced its ambitious Climate Pledge to 
become net zero by 2035 for all in-house managed sus-
tainable strategies. This commitment highlights the 
determination to reduce the environmental impact and 
demonstrates the Group’s leadership in setting strong 
targets in line with global climate objectives.

For over 30 years, the Bank has continuously evolved 
its sustainability strategy and has been a reliable part-
ner for clients and international partners alike to 
respect sustainability in the investment process and 
advancing the sustainable finance field. This dedica-
tion to sustainable finance is not a static endeavour, 
but a dynamic commitment that continues to evolve. 
The Group’s sustainability strategy is therefore regu-
larly reviewed, refined and adapted to new sustainabil-
ity standards, underscoring the commitment to its 
long-term evolution.

Sustainability strategy
Sustainability is part of the Group’s mission state-
ment, strategic goals and operational actions, as well 
as the mission statement of the Corporate Sustain- 
ability Board. The significance of sustainability for 
the Group and its business strategy is multidimen-
sional and includes (1) the Group’s own corporate 
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environment and people. The Group’s Corporate Sus- 
tainability Board, comprising representatives of the 
Group Executive Board, is responsible for identifying 
strategically relevant and material environmental, 
social and governance topics, as defined in the Group’s 
Sustainability Governance Directive, and for ensuring 
that these issues are integrated into the Group’s busi-
ness strategy (details on page 89).

Material environmental topic: Climate change
Informed by scientific research, the Paris Agreement 
and the United Nations’ Sustainable Development 
Goals, climate change mitigation has been long identi-
fied as an urgent issue for businesses and global devel-
opment. Based on this and its conviction, the Group 
acknowledged at an early stage that climate change 
mitigation is an important issue with significant finan-
cial and impact materiality. The Group has identified 
the following areas for action to address climate change 
mitigation in its business activities:

1. Reduction of operational GHG emissions 
2. Aligning the sustainable investment offering with 

the global climate change mitigation targets

Reduction of operational GHG emissions: The 
Group has been measuring and reducing its own oper-
ational greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions for over a  
decade. This represents a prime example of where 
financial and impact materiality intersect; fossil fuel 
dependency not only potentially increases operational 
expenses due to rising prices for fossil fuels, but also 
significantly contributes to global warming. By lower-
ing its operational GHG emissions, the Group con- 
tributes to the global climate change mitigation efforts 
while lowering its exposure to climate change related 
risks. More information about the reduction of the cor-
porate GHG emissions can be found on pages 94f.

Double materiality
Since the launch of its first sustainability mandate, the 
Group has started to not only think about sustainabil-
ity from a risk and opportunity perspective, but also 
considers the potential effects of its business activities 
on the people and the planet.

Today, the more widely adopted concept of double 
materiality exactly ref lects that way of thinking. The 
double materiality concept includes both the financial 
materiality and impact materiality. While financial 
materiality relates to how sustainability risks and 
opportunities can influence the Group’s economic per-
formance, impact materiality addresses the positive or 
negative effects that the Group’s business activities 
could have on the environment and people. Material 
topics can arise from various environmental, social 
and governance topics along a company’s value chain. 
Throughout this Sustainability Report, the Group 
demonstrates how environmental, social and govern-
ance topics are addressed and how they affect the  

Table: Sustainability dimensions and key topics for the Group

Corporate sustainability Financial sustainability Collaboration

• Robust corporate governance 
• Compliant business behaviour
• Employee recruitment/retention
• Reduction of corporate emissions  

(Scope 1 and Scope 2)

• Long-term economic performance 
• Sound risk management
• Evaluation of investment opportunities
• Net Zero 2035 for the sustainable  

assets of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 
Asset Management managed in-house

• Collaboration to foster a sustainable 
financial industry

• Advocate for standard setting
• Sponsoring 

Outside-in perspective

Sustainability risks 
and opportunities for 

the company

Inside-out perspective

Impact on environment 
and society due to 
business activities

Financial
materiality

Impact 
materiality

Figure: Double materiality
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in fostering a thriving and reliable business en vi- 
ronment.

The roles and responsibilities for sustainability- 
related topics on a strategic level have been defined  
in the Group’s Sustainability Governance Direc- 
tive. Sustainability risks have been integrated within 
the Group’s Risk Management Framework (RMF) and 
approved by the Board of Directors. The Board defines 
the risk strategy, approves the Risk Management 
Framework and is responsible for establishing an 
effective risk management function. The sustainabili-
ty-related risks are identified in close collaboration 
between the Group Executive Board, the Risk Office 
and the sustainability team, involving the Chief Risk 
Officer and the Chief Sustainability Officer. 

Sustainability risks are also considered in the annual 
Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) process.

Looking ahead, the Group is actively working on the 
integration of sustainability risks into traditional 
banking risks such as credit, market and operational 
risks. This includes the assessment of key risk indica-
tors and, where appropriate, related limits and pro-
cesses. With regard to climate-related risks, the Group 
is working towards the full adoption of the recommen-
dations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD).

The Group embraces the evolving global landscape 
of enhanced sustainability risk management processes 
and structures. As it continues its proactive efforts, the 
Group remains committed to promoting responsible 
business practices firmly embedded in a culture of sus-
tainable excellence.

Aligning the sustainable investment offering 
with global climate change mitigation targets: 
J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management is ded-
icated to offering predominantly sustainable invest-
ment solutions and aligning these with global climate 
change mitigation targets. As a result, in 2020, J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management launched its 
ambitious Climate Pledge, aiming to be net zero by 
2035 for its sustainable assets under management 
managed in-house. The Climate Pledge reduces the 
overall climate-related risk in the asset management 
portfolio by lowering the financed GHG emissions 
(financial materiality) while simultaneously having a 
positive impact on the environment by contributing to 
the achievement of the goals of the Paris Agreement 
(impact materiality). More information on the imple-
mentation of the J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management Climate Pledge and the related method- 
ology can be found on pages 113f.

Looking ahead
To date, the Group’s understanding of double material-
ity and the Sustainability Report have focused on the 
business operations as well as on the primary busi-
nesses of wealth and asset management. Looking 
ahead, the Group plans to leverage emerging and more 
granular frameworks as guidance for conducting its 
future double materiality assessments. 

Sustainability risk management
The Group recognises the important role of robust risk 
management structures, including sustainability risks, 
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purpose and responsibilities of the official committees 
governing the sustainability strategy of the Group. 

The Corporate Sustainability Board (CSB) has 
been set up by the Group Executive Board to ensure 
high sustainability standards, including governance of 
climate-related risks, are incorporated into the core 
business strategy. It comprises members of the Group 
Executive Board, the Executive Committee and man-
agers from different departments across the Group. 
The CSB reports directly to the Group Executive Board. 

The duties of the CSB include defining the sustain- 
ability strategy as part of the Group’s strategy, recog-
nising strategically important environmental and 
social topics – particularly those related to climate 
change – and assessing how the measures based on 
environmental and social key performance indicators 
(KPIs) have been put in place. Multiple meetings are 
held annually to define and track progress against 
these established objectives.

The ESG Committee focuses on the sustainable 
investment strategies, i.e. issues in the scope of J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management and, more 
 generally, topics related to sustainable investments.  
As part of the implementation of the Sustainable 
Investment Policy (available on the website), the ESG 
Committee also decides on operational topics and pro-
poses updates to the Sustainable Investment Policy 
and related documents and processes. The specialised 
Corporate Governance and Proxy Voting sub-
committee is responsible for formulating and main-
taining the proxy voting policies, reporting to the ESG 
Committee. 

The Sustainability Advisory Council (SAC) 
brings together leading experts from academic insti-
tutions and the industry to offer independent perspec-
tives on emerging trends and best practices in 
sustainable development. The SAC was created to 
ensure the Group’s Corporate Sustainability Board 
and the ESG Committee receive advice and guidance 
on the sustainability strategy, as well as on current 
developments in sustainable investments. In addition, 
the SAC can form part of joint presentations at both 
internal training sessions and external client meet-
ings. The CSB and the ESG Committee may also col-
laborate with SAC members on investment research 
initiatives to further enhance the sustainable invest-
ment approach and to gain external expertise and 
experience.

II. Corporate sustainability 
As a responsible financial institution, it is imperative 
for the Group to address sustainability in its own busi-
ness operations as part of its corporate sustainability 
strategy to ensure that best practices are embedded 
within the organisational structure. 

Governance
The Group Executive Board has taken a proactive 
approach in ensuring that sustainability is fully inte-
grated into the business strategy, by establishing the 
Sustainability Governance Directive and outlining the 

Case study: Adapting to the recommenda-
tions of the Task Force on Climate-Related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) 
For almost 20 years, the Bank has published an 
annual Sustainability Report in the firm belief that 
providing additional financial information to its 
stakeholders is both valuable and in line with its 
core principle that sustainability is an integral part 
of a long-term and successful business strategy. 
Over the years, new standards for sustainability 
reporting have emerged and the wider market has 
also adapted to the practice of disclosing more infor-
mation about the Bank’s sustainability performance.

In 2019, the Bank was one of the first Swiss finan-
cial institutions to endorse the Task Force on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and 
had taken steps to align its reporting with the TCFD 
recommendations. The Group already reports trans-
parently on the governance of its sustainability strat-
egy (pages 92f) and on the integration of climate- 
related risks and opportunities into its investment 
process (pages 101f) and business strategy (pages 
89f). It also publishes specific climate-related met-
rics and targets for its operations (pages 94f) as well 
as asset management business (pages 100f).

While continuing this transparent reporting, the 
Group is preparing to publish a TCFD-aligned 
Sustainability Report, including information on all 
business areas affected as well as aggregated metrics 
and targets, starting with the financial year 2024. 
The Group is convinced that further alignment with 
the TCFD recommendations will contribute to the 
global advancement of sustainable finance while 
enhancing the resilience of its business strategy.



J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd., Annual Report 2023 | 93

Sustainability Report

Every employee must adhere to its standards and con-
firm written agreement upon joining the Group. 
Internal directives oversee each key process and func-
tion, and procedures are conducted in a standardised 
form, creating uniformity in their establishment. The 
Code of Business Conduct also outlines the ethical and 
behavioural expectations for each employee of the 
Group.

Preventing corruption: The Group is strongly 
committed to preventing any form of corruption and 
has established the necessary governance mechanisms, 
including the Group’s Anti-Corruption Directive. 
Observance of this directive ensures ethical business 
practices by employees, protects the Group’s reputation 
and promotes compliance with all applicable laws. The 
Know Your Customer principle ensures that all clients 
are identified and regularly reviewed to ensure no mis-
use of the financial services offered. In line with and  
to support this commitment, the Group’s Whistle- 
blowing Directive provides the foundation for a process 
for employees to raise any observations and concerns 
relating to irregularities such as fraud, misconduct, 
violations of rules and regulations or internal direc-
tives. Employees are encouraged to raise such concerns 
as early as possible and to report them to the Head of 
Group Internal Audit.

In 2023, there were no legal actions on the basis of 
anticompetitive conduct or the formation of cartels or 
monopolies.

Operations
In alignment with its core values, the Group addresses 
its operational greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and 
the responsible management of its supply chain. 
Driven by its commitment to sustainable business 
practices, the Group conscientiously manages its 
 supply chain and takes targeted action to reduce its 
operational GHG emissions.

Responsible supply chain
The Bank maintains a systematic approach to respon-
sible supply chain due diligence to address the issue of 
child labour in the products and services it procures. 

The Bank identifies products with potential child 
labour risks and, depending on the geographical area 
in which the supplier operates, has processes in place 
to assess the company’s practices to prevent these 
risks. For example, the Bank analyses suppliers’ 

The Sustainability Manager serves as a facilitator 
and catalyst for embedding sustainability in the 
Group’s corporate strategy and enhancing its sustain- 
ability profile, working closely with the Corporate 
Sustainability Board and the ESG Committee. 

These committees work collaboratively to align strate- 
gic priorities with stakeholder expectations while bal-
ancing economic growth with sustainable business 
practices. By embedding sustainability into the Group’s 
core business strategy and its operations, the Group 
positions itself for long-term success while contribut-
ing positively to sustainable business practices.

Compliance 
The Group adheres to all applicable statutory and reg-
ulatory provisions, as well as established rules of con-
duct for the banking industry. The Group Executive 
Board and the management of the business divisions 
are responsible for compliance with all legal and regu-
latory provisions. Legal & Compliance provide support 
to the management in meeting this responsibility. 
Legal & Compliance units functionally report to the 
General Counsel, thereby ensuring their independence 
from the operating business.

The Group’s Code of Compliance outlines the key 
principles and regulations that ensure responsible 
business practices meet with relevant regulations. 

Corporate Governance & 
Proxy Voting

Sustainability governanceCorporate bodies

Corporate Sustainability
Board

Sustainability Advisory
Council

ESG
Committee

Asset Management
Board

Risk & Performance
Committee

Group Executive
Board

Figure: Sustainability governance  
and committees
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Actions and targets for Swiss locations in 
Basel, Geneva and Zurich: The Group has been at 
the forefront of environmental protection since 1993, 
starting with the installation of a photovoltaic system 
on the roof of its headquarter in Basel. This system 
continues to provide energy equivalent to the annual 
consumption of several four-person households. In 
2019, the Bank secured multi-year hydroelectric power 
contracts for its major locations in Switzerland, align-
ing with its commitment to renewable energy. 
Additionally, the Basel office exclusively uses district 
heating, sourced from 100% renewable process heat 
produced by the nearby Basel refuse incineration plant. 

Since 2013, the Bank participates in the banking sec-
tor group of the energy efficiency and decarbonisation 
programme of the Swiss Private Sector Business 
Energy Agency (EnAW). EnAW is mandated by the 
Swiss government to set energy efficiency and decar-
bonisation targets for different economic sectors. This 
is achieved through the implementation of annual 
energy efficiency measures and by giving preference to 
renewable energy. The Bank regularly liaises with 
EnAW to monitor and review measures and their 
effectiveness. 

In 2023, the Bank again implemented additional 
measures to increase its energy efficiency, such as the 
replacement of energy-intensive lighting and other 
operational equipment, saving approximately 315,000 
kWh per year. The Geneva office also has installed a 

declarations of compliance with international stan- 
dards such as the ILO Conventions, the OECD Due 
Diligence Guidance for Responsible Business and the 
UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, 
or uses its Supplier Code of Conduct to include these 
requirements in procurement contracts. The same pro-
cedure applies for services sourced in countries with 
enhanced or heightened risk of child labour. In 2023, 
there were no instances of supplier breaches with 
regard to child labour within the supply chain. 

Corporate greenhouse gas emissions 
The landmark Paris Agreement set the global goal to 
limit global warming to well below 2 °C compared to 
pre-industrial levels, and has been adopted by over  
190 countries worldwide. Switzerland, as a supporter 
of the Paris Agreement, has also set the goal to reduce 
its GHG emissions by 50% compared to 1990 by 2030 
and to achieve net zero GHG emissions by 2050 at the 
latest. 

Aware of the strong global commitment and as a 
financial institution known for its sustainable busi-
ness practices, the Group is committed to reducing its 
operational GHG emissions. The Group has adopted a 
number of strategies to achieve this, including the  
use of renewable energy for its offices. The Corpo- 
rate Sustainability Board monitors the develop- 
ment of the Group’s global operational carbon foot- 
print. 
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CO2e. This increase is linked to the phased return of 
business travel activities to their pre-pandemic state in 
2019, following the lifting of Covid-19 restrictions. 
This step-by-step increase in travel activity, especially 
for client meetings returning to their usual frequency 
since 2021, marked a transitional phase and the Group 
seeks to use ecologically appropriate means of trans-
port for business travel whenever possible.

Despite this short-term elevation in Scope 3 emissions, 
the Group’s dedication to long-term environmental sus-
tainability remains strong, with stable Scope 1 and 2 
emissions, 64% renewable energy use in 2023, and signif-
icant decreases in operational GHG emissions and elec-
tricity intensity per FTE of 37% and 44%, respectively, 
since 2015. The Group maintains its long-term commit-
ment to sustainability and the reduction of the opera-
tional greenhouse gas emissions. 

Corporate GHG emissions measurement
For all locations with more than 15 FTEs (covering 
approximately 97% of the total workforce), the Group 
systematically measures and monitors the environ-
mental KPIs in a third-party corporate sustainability 
reporting system. As recommended by the Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol, the Scope 2 GHG emissions are calculated 
using both the market-based (contractual energy source 
emissions factors) and the location-based (grid-average 
emissions factors) approach. 

new solar system with a production capacity of around 
38,000 kWh per year. 

As a result of all the measures taken for the Swiss 
locations and according to the EnAW methodology, the 
Bank increased its energy efficiency (amount of energy 
savings achieved in relation to the total energy con-
sumption) between 2013 and 2023 by approximately 
27% and reduced the CO2-intensity (amount of CO2 
reductions achieved relative to the total CO2 emissions) 
by approximately 19%. Therefore, the Bank and the 
EnAW banking group exceeded the set target pathways. 

Process for other locations: For other locations, 
GHG emissions from operations are measured and dis-
closed on an aggregated basis. The Corporate Sus- 
tainability Board closely monitors the annual develop-
ment of the Group’s total carbon footprint.

By joining forces with local initiatives, individual 
locations contribute to the overall goal of reducing 
GHG emissions for a better future. A prime example of 
this is Banque J. Safra Sarasin (Monaco) SA, which 
joined the Energy Transition Pact of Monaco in 2023. 
The initiative aims at accelerating sustainable develop-
ment through innovative solutions and promoting 
renewable energy sources on the national level to 
reduce GHG emissions by 55% by 2030 compared to 
1990 levels, and reach carbon neutrality by 2050.

Results: In 2023, the Group’s GHG emission inten-
sity per full-time employee (FTE) increased to 1,653 kg 
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1) As a rule, all locations with more than 15 full-time employees (FTEs) are in scope of the environmental indicator calculation, other locations 
are not being measured. Consequently, the FTEs and total square meters (m2) used to calculate the intensity-based figures are also based 
on that criteria, representing the respective totals from the locations in scope. This ensures that the intensity-based figures are accurate and 
relevant to the scope set. As of 31.12.2023, 97% of the total FTEs are covered in the analysis. At a local level, estimates are used if no exact 
figures are available.

2) As recommended by the GHG-Protocol, the Group discloses the “market-based” as well as the “location-based” Scope 2 emissions. The 
location-based method is based on intensity factors for the grids on which companies operate, whereas the market-based method uses 
emission factors based on actual electricity purchased, making the latter more representative. For the market-based emissions, the 
 contractual energy sources were used. If non-contractual energy sources were available for a location, either the country-specific residual 
mix (priority one) or the country-based average grid emissions (priority two) have been taken. 

3) Scope 3 emissions include employee business travel (air, rail and road travel), office paper as well as water consumption. Water consumption 
in buildings is systematically measured for the Swiss locations in scope. For locations outside of Switzerland, water consumption is measured 
where data is available.

Table: J. Safra Sarasin Group environmental indicators 2023

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

General data1

Total FTEs covered in analysis  2,426  2,330  2,339 

m2 of office space  54,135  52,660  60,615 

 

GHG emissions Scope 1 (t CO2e)  477  485 275

Intensity per FTE (kg CO2e)  197  208  118 

Intensity per m2 (kg CO2e)  8.8  9.2  4.5 

 

GHG emissions Scope 2 (market-based, t CO2e)2  937  800 1,474

Intensity per FTE (kg C02e)  386  343  630 

Intensity per m2 (kg C02e) 17.3  15.2  24.3 

 

Share of energy from renewable sources  64  69 61

Electricity consumption (MWh)  8,139  8,151  7,723 

Electricity consumption per FTE (kWh)  3,355  3,498  3,302 

 

GHG emissions Scope 2  (location-based, t CO2e) 1,554  – –

 

GHG emissions Scope 3 (t CO2e)3  2,596  1,547 286

Intensity per FTE (kg C02e)  1,070  664  122 

 

Waste water (m3/FTE)  9.0  –  – 

Business travel (km/FTE)  4,774  3,973 903

Paper consumption (kg/FTE)  30  36 40

Proportion of recycled or FSC certified paper (% of total paper usage)  75  80 79

 

Total GHG emissions (market-based, t CO2e)2 4,010  2,832  2,035 

Intensity per FTE (kg C02e) 1,653  1,215  870 
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different ways of thinking and leads to more innova-
tive solutions that ultimately benefit clients’ needs. 
The Group’s Protection against Sexual Harassment, 
Bullying and Discrimination in the Workplace 
Directive ensures a safe working environment where 
everyone is treated fairly and respectfully, regardless 
of gender, ethnic background, religion, age, national-
ity or sexual orientation. This directive highlights 
the Group’s zero-tolerance stance on any form of dis-
crimination or harassment. The Head of Human 
Resources as well as the Chief Executive Officer are 
responsible for formal procedures to investigate any 
allegations.

To strengthen this position and based on the  
Swiss Federal Act on Gender Equality, in 2021, Bank  
J. Safra Sarasin conducted an in-depth analysis of its 
remuneration practices, focusing on potential gender 
disparities, which was also reviewed by an indepen- 
dent external auditor. The analysis confirmed that the 
Bank has no statistically relevant gender-based dis-
parities in its remuneration practices, thus confirming 
the Bank’s high standards of equal treatment of 
employees.

In 2015, the Bank created the women@jssnetwork. 
Throughout the year, the network promotes the 
exchange of knowledge and experience among employ-
ees as well as sharing different perspectives on the 
challenges they face. In 2023, the network continued 
its activities and conducted a digital event together 
with the Pension Fund of Bank J. Safra Sarasin on pen-
sion planning for women and the specific challenges 
associated with it.

Fair working conditions
The staff regulations for each Group company trans-
parently outline employees’ rights, obligations and entit- 
lements, such as working hours, holidays, social and 
fringe benefits. The Group’s Human Resources 
Directive defines the principles on sound human 
resources recruitment and management, and is com-
plemented with local directives such as the Swiss 
Human Resources Directive. These rules are an inte-
gral part of employment contracts and apply to all 
employment relationships. The employee benefits are 
at least equivalent to the legal requirements at individ-
ual locations, if not higher. 

In Switzerland, rights of non-senior management 
employees are also regulated by the Collective Labour 

Employees
The Group understands that employees are its most 
valuable asset and investing in them yields significant 
returns for both itself and clients. The Group believes 
in fostering a culture of entrepreneurship and growth 
where all individuals can develop their skills, take 
responsibility and have opportunities for personal  
and professional development. Equal treatment of all 
employees, including zero tolerance for discrimination 
and fair working conditions have been identified as key 
social aspects for the Group. 

Equal treatment and employee protection 
The Group takes pride in upholding the highest stan- 
dards of ethical conduct and professionalism across all 
levels of its operations. The Group’s Code of Business 
Conduct is a testament to this commitment and sets 
out best practice for employees and members of the 
Board of Directors in their dealings with clients, col-
leagues and all other stakeholders.

The Group’s employees originate from 73 different 
countries. It values inclusivity, equal opportunities 
and integrity, as it recognises that diversity brings 

Table: Age structure of employees  

(full-time equivalent in %)

Men Years Women

1  <25 2

17 25–34 19

30 35–44 30

33 45–54 30

19 >55 19

40 32 24 16 1688 24 32 400

Table: Headcount by job title  

(full-time equivalent in %)

Men Title Women

10 Managing Director 5

18 Executive Director 7

21 Director 12

20 Vice President 23 

13 Assistant Vice President 25

9  Authorised Officer 14

9  Staff 14

25 20 15 10 1055 15 20 250
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were delivered to employees from different functions 
and locations to deepen their knowledge on topics such 
as the use of the Group’s proprietary ESG tools. The 
sustainability ambassadors attending the training 
then educate their local colleagues, passing on the 
knowledge within the Group. Each session is followed 
by a debriefing to analyse areas for improvement and 
evaluate topics for the next training sessions. In addi-
tion, the sustainability team held numerous meetings 
with teams across the Group to provide in-depth train-
ing on team-specific sustainability topics.

The Group also provides staff education through 
other initiatives such as monthly sessions with the 
Investment Office covering the sustainable invest-
ment process, methodological updates and the use of 
the proprietary sustainable investment tools. Regula- 
tory trainings ensure that concerned staff members 
receive guidance on new regulatory guidelines and 
their implementation. Finally, the Board of Directors 
and the Group Executive Board receive training at least 
once a year on sustainability-related regulatory devel-
opments and are up-dated on the Group’s sustainability 
strategy developed and implemented by the Corporate 
Sustainability Board.

Remuneration: The Group’s employee benefits 
meet or exceed the legal requirements in each location. 
When determining the remuneration of an employee, 
their qualifications, performance and conduct is con-
sidered, in addition to the performance of the Group’s 
subsidiaries. Compensation and reward structures fol-
low the principles of performance, conduct and risk 
awareness, client orientation, conflicts of interest  
and malus or clawback. The Group’s remuneration  
structure and performance management incentivise 
employees to apply sustainability considerations and 
to conduct their duties in a sustainable, client orien-
tated manner.

Pension fund: By signing the UN Principles for 
Responsible Investment (UN PRI), the pension fund of 
Bank J. Safra Sarasin emphasised its long-standing 
commitment to integrate ESG considerations into its 
investment decisions. The investment regulations of 
the pension fund aim to incorporate environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) factors into investment 
decisions, to better manage potential risks and gener-
ate sustainable, long-term returns.

Agreement on Conditions for Bank Employees (VAB). 
The Bank has a Staff Representative Council (ANV) for 
the protection of employees’ common interests in the 
domestic market. The regulations on employee partici-
pation through the ANV are based on the Swiss Federal 
Act on Information and Consultation of Employees in 
the Workplace, providing information and consulta-
tion rights to members elected for three years.  
With information and consultation rights allotted to 
the ANV depending on the particular matter, this  
cooperation between management and employees 
helps promote constructive dialogue and fosters the 
collaboration between the employees and the Bank, 
resulting in greater motivation and performance. 

Investing in the Group’s employees 
Health: The Group views the promotion of health as 
an important element of corporate culture and has 
established an intranet site that promotes physi- 
cal and psychological well-being. Employees in 
Switzerland can benefit from discounts on supple-
mentary insurance coverage that goes beyond the 
basic coverage required by law. In selected locations, 
fitness centres may offer employees membership dis-
counts. In 2023, employees participated in the Zurich 
and Basel edition of the annual B2Run and the Bike to 
Work Challenge. Also, in 2023, employees repre-
sented the Bank at the traditional “Course de l’Esca-
lade” in Geneva. 

Education: The Group recognises the value of 
training and learning to maximise the potential of its 
multinational teams and ensure that employees always 
act in a compliant way. To this end, the Group has 
implemented a learning management system that en- 
ables the delivery of online courses, classroom sessions 
and blended learning experiences. The sustainability 
department frequently carries out specialised train-
ings on sustainability topics and works together with 
universities to offer interesting employment opportu-
nities for recent graduates. 

In 2022, the J. Safra Sarasin Sustainability Ambas- 
sador Network was established, with voluntary sus-
tainability ambassadors throughout the Group. The 
network is used to transfer sustainability expertise 
from the sustainability team to all employees and to 
promote an active dialogue on sustainability topics. In 
2023, nine dedicated digital training sessions provi- 
ding over 16 hours of education on sustainable finance 
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III. Financial sustainability 
Reflecting its commitment to promote positive long-
term financial as well as environmental and social out-
comes, the sustainability of its financial activities is 
one of the Group’s core objectives. Drawing on more 
than three decades of experience in sustainable invest-
ing, the Group is convinced that identifying, analysing 
and managing sustainability-related environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) risks and opportunities 
enhances investment decisions. Sustainability is there-
fore not seen as a separate product offering, but as an 
important aspect to be integrated into the core invest-
ment process. This approach promotes stability that 
benefits stakeholders in all sectors, including finance, 
over the long term. 

Recognising that informed decisions are critical to 
successful investment, the Group prioritises empower-
ing its wealth and asset management clients to make 
informed investment decisions by providing insightful 
sustainability reports and sustainable investment 
solutions that can further facilitate the transition to a 
sustainable future. Knowing that each client has 
unique preferences when it comes to investing in sus-
tainable strategies and to ensure that these preferences 
are met accordingly, the Group has started to system-
atically integrate sustainability preferences of clients 
into the advisory process. 

Investments
In aggregate, the Group invests CHF 48.8 billion3 on 
behalf of its asset management clients, whereof CHF 
43.2 billion3 are classified as sustainable assets and 
CHF 5.6 billion are white-label strategies or strategies 
that do not explicitly incorporate ESG factors in the  

investment decision process. Out of the sustainable 
assets, CHF 20.3 billion are managed by J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management and CHF 22.9 
billion3 by Sarasin & Partners LLP (Sarasin & Partners). 

The sustainable assets under management can be 
classified as either ESG Consideration or ESG 
Contribution, together being referenced as sustain- 
able assets. ESG Consideration strategies integrate 
ESG factors in the investment process from a risk and 
opportunities perspective, improving the overall risk 
management of the strategy and supporting long-term 
value creation. On top of integrating ESG factors in the 
investment process, ESG Contribution strategies have 
an explicit sustainable objective and/or contribute to 
an environmental or social outcome (such as the Paris 
Agreement). Strategies that do not explicitly incorpo-
rate ESG factors are labelled as Classic. 

The internal sustainability classifications Classic, 
ESG Consideration and ESG Contribution are based on 
the key characteristics of the European Sustainable 
Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) set by the 
European Union. ESG Consideration, representing the 
Group’s default investment approach, is generally 
ref lective of Article 8 criteria under the SFDR. ESG 
Contribution strategies are oriented towards explicit 
sustainability outcomes as outlined in Article 9 
requirements of the SFDR. Finally, Classic Strategies 
with no explicit ESG focus are reflected under Article 
6. These classifications are central to enabling clients 
to confidently understand product characteristics and 
make informed choices that align with their goals. This 
underscores the Group’s dedication to fostering trust 
and empowering clients in their pursuit of sustainable 
investments.

Table: J. Safra Sarasin Group social indicators 2023

2023 2022 2021

Number of employees (Full-time equivalents, FTEs) 2,503 2,425 2,339

Switzerland 1,263 1,208 1,155

Abroad 1,240 1,217 1,183

Part-time employees (Headcounts) 141 163 155

Proportion of female FTEs (%) 36.6 35.9 37.5

Proportion of female FTEs in management positions (%)1 19.6 19.9 21.2

Employee turnover rate (%)2 14.0 13.9 12.6
1) Female FTEs with the two uppermost management level titles Managing Director or Executive Director.
2) Calculation of employee turnover: Number of employee separations (resignations/dismissals/retirements) during the past 12 months/num-

ber of active employees. Leavers with limited contracts are not included and calculation is based on headcounts.

3) Thereof CHF 5.1 billion of double counting.
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An in-depth description of the sustainable investment 
process can be found in the Sustainable Investment Policy 
of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management, pub-
lished on the website. Individual products or strategies 
may deviate from the standard sustainable investment 
process described. Strategy specific investment processes 
or restrictions can be found in the respective investment 
guidelines. The sustainable assets managed by Sarasin  
& Partners follow their own sustainable investment 
approach, which is described in the Stewardship Report 
on their website3.

 

The following sections provide a high-level overview of 
the investment process of the sustainable assets man-
aged by J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Manage- 
ment. The sustainable investment process is integral 
for both collective investment solutions and discre-
tionary assets. It forms a central part of the fiduciary 
duty with regard to advised clients as well as client’s 
assets managed on a discretionary basis. The sustain- 
ability team of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management together with the ESG Committee define 
the sustainable investment process and ensure that it 
is regularly reviewed and updated according to the lat-
est market developments and research outcomes. 

Table: J. Safra Sarasin Group financial indicators 2023

2023 2022 2021

CET1 ratio (%) 47.0 44.1 38.7

Total assets under management (billion CHF) 204.3 197.9 224.7

Sustainable assets under management (billion CHF)1 38.2 38.7 47.6

thereof ESG Consideration (billion CHF)2 37.1 – –

thereof ESG Contribution (billion CHF)2 1.1 – –

Volume of J. Safra Sarasin sustainable investment funds domiciled in Luxembourg and Germany (billion CHF) 5.7 5.9 8.6

SFDR Art. 8 5.0 5.3 7.9

SFDR Art. 9 0.7 0.6 0.7
2) The classification of ESG Consideration and ESG Contribution follows the internal classification methodology of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 

Asset Management to classify assets under management according to their sustainability profile.
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Figure: Sustainably managed assets by the Group

Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023. Note: The definition of sustainable assets follows the internal classification  methodology 
of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management to classify its assets under management according to the sustainability profile. For 
funds domiciled in Luxembourg and Germany, the official product classification according to the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation 
(SFDR) is displayed.

1) Sustainable assets under management corrected for double counting.
3) https://sarasinandpartners.com/
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Reduce risks and deliver returns: J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management looks at both tradi-
tional financial and material ESG risks when making 
investment decisions, to avoid longer-term risks that 
are often overlooked. J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 
Asset Management invests in companies with solid 
ESG practices and identifies attractive opportunities 
by understanding long-term transformational trends. 

Be an active and engaged investor: J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management seeks to create 
positive outcomes by promoting good corporate 
 governance, shareholder rights, and social and envi-
ronmental responsibility. This is achieved through 
stewardship activities like engaging with companies 
and voting at shareholder meetings. 

Generate sustainable outcomes: J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management aims at posi-
tively contributing to the Sustainable Development 
Goals established by the United Nations. For instance, 
J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management has 
established a target for net zero by 2035 and has signed 

Sustainable investment process
J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management is 
convinced that successful and long-term economic growth 
is dependent on a long-term mindset. Consistently merging 
sustainability considerations into investment strategies 
enhances the investment analyses and leads to better out-
comes for both investors and society as a whole. This 
entails investing in companies that are proficient at man-
aging sustainability-related risks and opportunities, while 
disregarding those that fail to acknowledge significant 
trends. J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management fol-
lows three goals with the sustainable investment process:

Reduce risks
and deliver returns

Be an active and 
engaged investor

Generate sustainable 
outcomes

Figure: Sustainable investing goals
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Figure: Sustainable investment process 

Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023
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Universe definition
The first step of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management’s investment process is the definition of 
the strategy-specific eligible investment universe. This 
stage comprises the mandatory exclusion of controver-
sial activities as well as the product specific positive 
and negative ESG screening, either a best-in-class or a 
worst-out approach. 

the Finance for Biodiversity Pledge to address the 
increased risk of global biodiversity loss.

To achieve these goals, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 
Asset Management relies on its well-established sus-
tainable investment process composed of the four main 
steps of Universe Definition, Investment Analysis, 
Portfolio Construction as well as Monitoring and 
Stewardship. In all four steps, J. Safra Sarasin Sustain- 
able Asset Management leverages proprietary tools 
and methodologies to respect and integrate different 
sustainability objectives. 

Depending on the strategy or client-specific sustain-
ability requirements, the structured four-step sustain-
able investment process addresses different pers- 
pectives, each focusing on a specific investment objec-
tive. While the Exclusion perspective focuses on 
reflecting individual values and beliefs, the Integration 
perspective aims to consider financially material ESG 
factors in the investment process for improved risk- 
adjusted returns. The Contribution/Impact perspec-
tive goes one step further and focuses on creating pos-
itive outcomes for society and/or the planet alongside 
financial returns. Additionally, the Stewardship 
Overlay is applied to address all three perspectives by 
influencing investee behaviour. 

While the sustainable investment process ensures a 
consistent approach to sustainable investing, the sus-
tainability perspectives take into account the different 
underlying intentions that clients may have with their 
investments. 

Criterion Description Revenue threshold

Coal Companies that simultaneously have a significant involvement in the 
coal business and lack a solid transition strategy towards a low-carbon 
economy

5% mining
10% thermal

GMO – agriculture Companies that genetically modify organisms for agricultural use 0%

GMO – medicine Human cloning and other manipulations of the human gene line 0%

Palm oil Producers of palm oil where less than 75% of sites are certified by the 
Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO)

5%

Defence and armament Producers of civilian firearms, conventional weapons (systems and 
critical components) and weapon support systems & services  
(e.g. weapon control systems, target navigation systems, etc.)

5%

Tobacco Producers of tobacco products 5%

Adult entertainment Producers of adult entertainment materials 5%

Violation of human rights and 
global compact principles

Companies involved in severe violations of human rights or other 
breaches of the UN Global Compact Principles, in line with inter- 
national standards 

0%

Stewardship

Integration

Exclusions

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
/

Im
pact

Figure: Sustainable investment perspectives 

Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023

Table: J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management exclusion list
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excludes companies engaged in the activities listed in 
the exclusion list (the latest version of the exclusion list 
can be found in the Sustainable Investment Policy, 
available on the website). The exclusion list forms part 
of the official product monitoring, and breaches are 
reported and resolved accordingly. 

Positive and negative screening: In the ESG 
screening process, a sustainability analysis is con-
ducted for each industry and company to further define 
the investable universe. 

In the company rating process, several industry- 
specific ESG key performance indicators (KPIs) are 
selected and weighted according to their financial 
materiality by the sustainable investment analyst. 
Company-specific ESG data, sourced from external 
providers and supplemented by internal investment 
research, is then used to analyse each company’s per-
formance against these industry-specific KPIs and to 
derive the final company score. Beyond this quantita-
tive approach, the sustainable investment analysts also 
conduct a qualitative media and stakeholder analysis 
for the most material holdings. This analysis focuses 
on public controversies and incidents involving the 
rated company, with information sourced from the 

Exclusion of controversial activities: A number 
of standard criteria are used by the Bank to exclude 
business practices that violate global norms and/or are 
highly controversial, such as controversial weapons. 
As defined by the Corporate Sustainability Board and 
the Sustainability Advisory Council, these standards 
are embedded in the Bank’s Corporate Sustainability 
Governance as well as its exclusion criteria. The exclu-
sion criteria include, in particular, the violation of 
human rights, based on established international 
standards and principles such as the compliance with 
the ten principles of the UN Global Compact as well as 
the fight against corruption in all forms. The Group 
meets its responsibility when it comes to controversial 
weapons and has implemented internal guidelines out-
lining its binding principles in this area. Controversial 
weapons are categorised as controversial because of 
their long-term humanitarian impact and/or the large 
number of civilian casualties they cause. They include 
biological, chemical and nuclear weapons, cluster 
munitions and anti-personnel mines. The Group has 
committed itself not to invest its treasury funds in 
companies that are active in the domain of controver-
sial weapons. The sustainable investment universe 

Company score J. Safra Sarasin Sustainability Matrix®

Previous ESG rating of the industry 

Best-in-class: Companies with an 
superior ESG Profile (industry leaders)

Neutral: Companies with no particular 
ESG credentials (industry followers)

Worst-out: Companies with weak 
ESG credentials, not in sustainable 
strategies (industry laggards)

Exclusion: Companies with controversial 
business activities, excluded from the 
sustainable investment universe 

ESG industry risk Controversies

CO2 emissions SDG revenues

Industry score

Inputs for assessment of industry
As defined by the sustainability analyst for all companies in the same industry.

ESG key performance indicators
The industry-specific ESG performance indicators, and their weightings used to assess the company, are
determined by the sustainability analyst covering the industry (percentage figures are for illustration only).

Industry 
score

Sustainability 
analyst

Qualitative sector research

Up- or downgrade of the industry 
score by max 0.5 based 
on qualitative research by the 
sustainability analyst
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Figure: J. Safra Sarasin Sustainability Matrix® 

Note: The distribution of firms to the universes A-D is based on a global investment universe. In regional subsets, the respective figures 
can vary. Source: Certain information ©2023 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd with permission.
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J. Safra Sarasin Sustainability Matrix® with four ESG  
rating areas from A to D. In the Bank’s Sustainability 
Matrix, the x-axis displays the industry score between  
0 (low) and 5 (high), and the y-axis displays the com-
pany score between 0 (low) and 5 (high). The ESG rat-
ings are reviewed at least annually by sustainable 
investment analysts and are cross-referenced with 
other credible sources.

The definition of the A-rated universe ensures that 
approximately 50% of the total global investment uni-
verse of issuers for which ESG data is available, is 
excluded. A- and B-rated companies together represent 
about 85% of the global investment universe for which 
ESG data is available. The C-rated universe (worst-
out), which is not eligible for sustainable investment 
strategies, consists of about 10-15% of issuers, with the 
remaining part forming the exclusion list of controver-
sial business activities (D-rated universe). 

 

public domain rather than company-issued materials, 
i.e. news and events concerning the company. In doing 
so, the news value (influence of the source, severity of 
criticism, newness of the issue), the news intensity 
(frequency and timing) as well as the company’s reac-
tion (transparency, pro-activeness and remediation 
efforts) are considered. 

The industry rating is formulated using a proprietary 
input-output model that evaluates the ESG risks and 
opportunities unique to different industries. The sus-
tainable investment analyst defines the material exter-
nalities for the industry, taking into account both 
direct and indirect impacts along the value chain and 
the alignment with the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs). As a result, each industry receives its 
industry score. 

In a subsequent step, the company and the industry 
scores are combined and displayed in the proprietary  
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Case study: Upgraded Country ESG Rating 
Building on its first Sustainable Country Rating 
established in 2002 and the expertise developed 
since then, the Bank has taken significant steps in 
2023 to provide a more nuanced and equitable 
assessment of countries’ environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) performance. The most notewor-
thy advancements in the new Country ESG Rating 
model is its approach to correcting for income bias. 
Traditional models often result in higher income 
levels being strongly correlated with better ESG 
practices, which limits the meaningfulness and 
application of the resulting ESG ratings.

The Bank’s new methodology corrects for this 
ingrained income bias via a statistical framework, 
whereby log linear relations between GDP per capita 
(PPP adjusted) and ESG Key Issue scores are esti-
mated. This adjustment accounts for variations in the 
level of wealth, the cost of living and services across 
countries, providing a more relative picture of the 
ESG performance of countries. By using this income- 
adjusted data, the upgraded Country ESG Matrix now 
offers valuable insights into which economically dis-
advantaged countries are effectively managing ESG 
risks. These countries also urgently need funding to 
reach their Sustainable Development Goals. At the 
same time, the Country ESG Matrix identifies wealth-
ier nations that are not fully utilising their wealth to 
manage ESG risks and are lagging their developed 
peers. 

This innovative approach gives investors a clearer 
understanding of relative ESG performance, unbi-
ased by income level. 

The Country ESG Rating incorporates material key 
issues such as biodiversity, environmental resilience, 
climate transition, potential for social unrest and 
political governance. The Country ESG Rating is also 
adjusted downwards for countries that have not rati-
fied key environmental and social treaties and con-
ventions. As additional information, the Country 
ESG Matrix indicates whether a country displays a 
positive or negative ESG momentum across material 
indicators such as corruption perception, business 

sophistication, rule of law and private civil liberties. 
This is a valuable piece of information and recent 
research has shown that it can be of benefit to 
investors.

The Group is convinced that the updated Country 
ESG Rating methodology enables a better identifica-
tion and participation in the relative outperformance 
of countries that have the potential to achieve their 
SDGs.
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war or conflict

Countries undergoing war or conflict, or against which 
Switzerland has issued a comprehensive military or repression 
goods embargo due to a violation of international law, namely 
human rights, are D-Rated

positive trend

negative trend

Countries exhibiting a positive/negative trend across equally 
weighted basket of indicators, related to level of corruption, 
business sophistication, rule of law and civil liberties
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United States

Figure: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Country ESG Matrix

Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023
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into consideration. Tailoring the investment solutions 
to the client’s needs, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management utilises a set of proprietary engines to 
construct and monitor the respective strategies, and 
set contribution and/or impact goals (if applicable).

Climate Engine and ESG performance: For a 
number of strategies, the Bank assigns ESG and cli-
mate objectives which the portfolio managers must 
adhere to. Climate objectives often relate to the carbon 
footprint of the strategies against the benchmark. 
Climate risk analysis focuses on long-term and tail 
risks arising from climate change and the respective 
changes in the regulatory environment. By using cli-
mate-related data, such as the CO2 footprint or 
stranded asset exposure, transitional and physical cli-
mate risks are identified and measured within the 
portfolio context. The focus of the analysis is to high-
light and reduce tail risks. In the portfolio construc-
tion step of the investment process, changes in the 
investment portfolio are being analysed with reference 
to the change in the climate profile (ex ante). 

Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) Engine: 
Certain strategies may use outcome-oriented data on 
SDG-related corporate revenues and have explicit tar-
gets to achieve a higher number of portfolio holdings 
with SDG-related revenues. Strategies may have 
explicit targets in relation to the percentage of aggre-
gated SDG-related revenues. 

Biodiversity Engine: As its newest improvement 
during 2023, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management has developed a new biodiversity engine 
for its toolbox. This new engine facilitates the integra-
tion of biodiversity factors into the portfolio analysis 
process as well as the monitoring of the strategy 
according to biodiversity impacts (the impact of com-
panies on biodiversity) and dependencies (the depen- 
dency of companies on biodiversity). The Group is 
working on integrating the new tool into existing 
investment processes and strategy specific reporting. 

Once set up, portfolio managers will monitor the 
aggregated ESG and climate-related metrics of their 
strategies and compare them with the benchmark or 
reference portfolio in their risk management systems 
on an ex ante basis.

Investment analysis
In the second step of the investment process, J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management uses propri-
etary bottom-up investment research to analyse long-
term sustainability trends. ESG factors are funda - 
mentally embedded in the individual investment cases. 
The portfolio manager/analyst enhances the financial 
assessment with ESG, SDG, climate and other sustain-
ability performance data to get a more comprehensive 
view of the investment case and to make a better-in-
formed decision. In the top-down allocation process, 
long-term sustainability trends can determine the 
definition of structural over- or underweights with 
regard to regional or industry allocation in a specific 
strategy. Sustainability trends can also have an impact 
on the selection of investment themes or clusters in 
specific strategies. In the bottom-up security selection, 
ESG factors are combined with traditional financial 
data and integrated into the investment process in 
order to get a holistic view of an investment case. For 
strategies where detailed financial models are built, 
financially material ESG factors can have an impact on 
the determination of a security’s fair value. This pro-
cess also includes defining sustainable key perfor-
mance indicators for each investment case. 

Portfolio construction
In the third step, portfolio managers construct the 
strategy and assess the sustainability-related risks. 
For the majority of strategies and to complement the 
fundamental research, the portfolio construction pro-
cess relies on a quantitative multifactor risk model to 
construct portfolios and control for external risks. The 
(ex ante) risk attribution and the (ex post) performance 
attribution are based on the same multi-factor model. 
The portfolio construction process considers inputs 
based on the investment strategy’s universe and bench-
mark (if available), the sustainability rating of issuers, 
specific sustainability risk factors as well as SDG reve-
nue percentage. The implementation is an iterative 
process, respecting the impact on portfolio factor 
exposures, risk measures and restrictions, and the 
impact on the risk/return profile. The change of ESG 
profile and the ESG tail risk assessment are also taken 
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Case study: Achieving sustainable outcomes 
With a selection of its investment strategies, the Bank 
aims for sustainable outcomes by positively contrib-
uting to one or several of the 17 Sustainable Devel- 
opment Goals (SDGs) established by the United 
Nations. Such contributions are targeted alongside 
financial returns and result from the invested com-
pany’s products and services, or the best operational 
practice in the respective industry. The approach is 
also seeking exposure to firms which are transition 
leaders in their respective fields.

The Bank has therefore developed a robust frame-
work to translate the 17 SDGs and its 169 sub-targets 
into quantifiable and actionable investment cases by 
regrouping them into four areas – two for the people: 
Fulfilling Basic Needs and Empowering People, and 
two for the planet: Preserving Natural Capital and 
Achieving the Energy Transition. The alignment of a 
strategy with the SDGs is measured in two dimen-
sions. First, for each portfolio, the percentage of rev-
enues generated by products and services which 

support the SDGs is shown (referenced as SDG reve-
nues). Second, the average percentage of SDG revenues 
is calculated at the portfolio level.

Leveraging in-house expertise for customised 
solutions
In addition to offering collective investment strategies 
aligned with the SDGs, the Bank also acts as a trusted 
advisor for the creation of bespoke strategies. In 2023, 
the Bank was proud to be selected as a partner for a 
European bank to advise on the implemen tation of its 
first investment strategy with the explicit and strong 
objective of supporting the SDGs, in particular the 
environmental dimension. 

In the process, the Bank was able to use its well- 
established SDG Engine, which analyses the revenues 
of companies and calculates their individual contribu-
tion to the SDGs. The Bank demonstrated its expertise 
on how to target specific SDGs in the investment pro-
cess by analysing the SDG exposure of each company, 
while achieving a well-diversified investment portfolio. 

Global Climate 2035

Green Planet

SDG Opportunities

Achieving 
net zero

No “stranded 
assets”

Achieving 
the energy
transition

Preserving 
natural capital

Fulfilling
basic needs

Empowering
people

Global Climate 2035

Green Planet

SDG Opportunities

Achieving
net zero

No “stranded 
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Achieving 
the energy
tratransinsitiotionn

Preserving
natural capip tal

Fulfilling
basic needs

Empowering
peop plep

Temperature pathGoal

Focus 
areas

Products for the planet Products for the people

Strategies

Figure: Sustainable outcomes at J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management

Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023
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performance of the portfolio on a range of strategically 
relevant metrics and key insights. To inform clients  
on the sustainability aspects of specific sustain- 
able strategies, multiple metrics are made available  
via the strategy specific reports as well as other 
documents.

Going one step further, upon request, J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management provides clients with 
an even more detailed ESG report by sustainability 
strategy with additional KPIs such as the contribution 
to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) or the 
strategy’s warming potential. 

With this extensive set of sustainability-related data 
points and KPIs, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management enables clients to make informed invest-
ment decisions, considering the sustainability dimen-
sion of their portfolios. 

Monitoring & stewardship
Monitoring: In the fourth step of the investment pro-
cess, the Risk and Performance Committee (RPC) as 
well as Risk Office (RIOF) monitor performance and 
risk figures for each investment strategy compared to 
its pre-defined benchmark, strategic asset allocation 
or peer group as well as the strategy specific threshold 
and limitations defined. The monitoring includes 
defined sustainability factors and respective targets. 
Deviations from the targets and thresholds set are 
discussed and explained in the RPC. Both passive and 
active deviations of the investment guidelines are 
f lagged and monitored accordingly until resolution.

The ESG portfolio-reporting framework aims to pro-
vide greater insight into the ESG characteristics of the 
portfolio and its individual holdings. It provides a rel-
ative and absolute assessment of the aggregated ESG 
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Case study: Incorporating biodiversity in the
investment process
By embracing biodiversity as a vital consideration in 
the investment process, the Bank sets a precedent for 
responsible investment practices that prioritise both 
financial returns and positive environmental impact. 
In 2023,  the Bank has achieved notable progress in 
integrating biodiversity considerations into its invest-
ment approach. 

Biodiversity engagement: J. Safra Sarasin Sust- 
ainable Asset Management’s commitment to biodiver-
sity preservation is evident through its active engage-
ments on critical biodiversity issues. By leveraging the 
FAIRR network (a collaborative investor network that 
raises awareness of material ESG risks and opportu-
nities in the global food sector), it has participated in 
collective engagements targeting key concerns like 
animal pharma or waste and pollution. These engage-
ments underline the dedication to addressing biodi-
versity challenges head-on and contributing to a 
positive impact on the ecosystem. In 2023, the Bank 
also joined the Nature Action 100 initiative to collec-
tively engage with companies to take meaningful 
actions to reduce their environmental footprint in 
four out of five key drivers of nature and biodiversity 
loss: land and ocean use change, overexploitation of 
natural resources, pollution and invasive species.  

By targeting these critical topics, J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management is actively contribut-
ing to more sustainable business practices respecting 
biodiversity within the relevant industries.

Integration of biodiversity factors in the new 
Country ESG Ratings: J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 
Asset Management has taken a pioneering step in the 
integration of biodiversity in the investment process 
by incorporating biodiversity and ecosystem services 
as financially material factors in the new Country 
ESG Ratings. This approach represents an important 
step, as it recognises the intrinsic value of biodiver-
sity for economies and societies. By adding biodiver-
sity as a key issue in the environmental rating of 
countries, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management is setting a precedent for incorporating 
the comprehensive assessment of biodiversity into 
investment decisions. 

Biodiversity Engine: J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 
Asset Management has developed a new tool that 
analyses portfolio holdings to determine the impacts 
and dependencies of their business activities on biodi-
versity at an ecosystem service level. This empowers 
investors with critical insights for making informed 
investment decisions and can serve as valuable input 
for internal investment analysis and stewardship 

Natural capital dependencies: 
What ecosystem services is the company 
dependent on?

Natural capital impacts:
What impacts does the company have on 
ecosystem services?

Water quality

Water flow
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Flood and storm
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Business activity: Soft drink and ice manufacturing (100%)

Mass stabilisation 
and erosion control 

Dependencies/ Impacts

Figure: Biodiversity Engine – Exemplary illustration for a beverage company

Sources: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023
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website. The Stewardship Policy outlines the Bank’s 
approach to engagement and voting activities, docu-
menting the guiding principles and the goals. The 
Corporate Governance and Proxy Voting Guidelines set 
out the Bank’s specific understanding of how to vote on 
various topics that are routinely presented to share-
holders, such as the election of the Board of Directors, 
executive remuneration structures, and environmental 
and social resolutions. The approach is aligned with the 
sustainable investment methodology and considers 
numerous international guidelines and standards such 
as the UN Global Compact, the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises or ICGN recommendations. 

The Stewardship Strategy is based on five different ways 
of addressing and communicating sustainability issues 
either directly by engaging with companies or indirectly 
by contributing to change the regulatory landscape.

The dedicated Stewardship team pursues one-on-one 
engagements with the companies (see figure J. Safra 
Sarasin Stewardship Approach, box 1), discussing com-
pany specific ESG-issues such as the corporate sustain-
ability strategy or climate transition plans. As a second 
instrument, collaborative investor engagements (2) with 
other investors are used to leverage collective power and 
address ESG issues that affect an industry as a whole, 
such as biodiversity loss or deforestation, or to advocate 
for change towards more sustainable business practices. 
Additionally, management interactions (3) on ESG top-
ics through the investment teams themselves represent 
another way of communicating with companies and 
addressing material ESG topics. In the case of share-
holdings, proxy voting rights (4) may also be used to 
directly accept or reject items on the agenda of the 
Annual General Meetings or Extraordinary General 
Meetings. For the execution of proxy voting rights, 
J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management receives 
operational support from an external proxy advisor to 

Stewardship: J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management sees its role as an asset manager with a 
long-term perspective. Stewardship, comprising enga- 
gement and proxy voting activities, is an important 
component of this principle. J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 
Asset Management aims to foster robust corporate gov-
ernance structures and shareholder rights within inves-
tee companies, as well as strong social and environ- 
mental performance and transparency. 

The Stewardship Policy and the Corporate Governance 
and Proxy Voting Guidelines serve as guiding docu-
ments for this endeavour and are available on the 

activities. The biodiversity engine will enable J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management to scrutinise 
biodiversity aspects within its portfolio, leading to 
more effective integration and engagement strategies. 

 
Advancing standard setting: In 2023, Bank  
J. Safra Sarasin actively participated in the develop-
ment of the UN Principles for Responsible Banking 
(UN PRB) Guidance on Nature Target Setting. This 

industry-first guide, created collaboratively by 34 
signatory banks and key nature finance organisa-
tions, sets a precedent for banks to systematically 
address nature and biodiversity loss. It offers a com-
prehensive strategy for banks to integrate nature 
within their core operations and set practical targets 
aligned with the Global Biodiversity Framework, 
accelerating the banking sector’s progress towards a 
nature-positive economy.

2023 2022

Number of meetings 727 682

Number of proposals 10,283 9,258

“Against” management votes 18% 25%

E and S Shareholder proposals 139 140

Table: Overview of voting activity

Figure: Number of meetings by region
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• FAIRR – Restaurant Antibiotics 
• FAIRR – Waste & Pollution
• Nature Action 100
• UN PRI – Advance 

Public policy engagement / work groups 

• Association of Foreign Banks in Switzerland (AFBS)– 
Sustainable Finance Group

• Asset Management Association Switzerland (AMAS) 
and Swiss Sustainable Finance (SSF) – Working 
Group on the Swiss Stewardship Code

• Swiss Sustainable Finance – Focus Group 
Regulatory 

• Swiss Sustainable Finance – Focus Group 
Sustainable Real Estate Investments

• Swiss Sustainable Finance – Focus Group  
Active Ownership in Wealth Management

• Vereinigung Schweizerischer Assetmanagement- 
und Vermögensverwaltungsbanken (VAV) –
Sustainable Finance Working Group

analyse individual proposals based on the custom proxy 
voting guidelines. In-house expertise is considered for 
an in-depth analysis of specific company transactions 
and other key voting issues.

As an instrument to indirectly influence companies 
by changing their framework conditions, participation 
in public policy engagements (5) are directed to influ-
ence local or international frameworks, such as report-
ing or accounting standards. Through involvement in 
leading sustainable investment initiatives and organi-
sations, such as Swiss Sustainable Finance (SSF),  
J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management fosters 
contacts with policymakers and other stakeholders to 
promote the consideration and integration of relevant 
ESG themes on a regulatory level.

In 2023, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Man-
agement participated in the following collective and 
public policy engagements: 

Collective engagements

• Access to Medicine (ATM) Index
• Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) – Non-Disclosure 

Campaign 2023
• Farm Animal Investment Risk  

and Return (FAIRR) – Animal Pharma
• FAIRR – Protein Diversification 

1

One-on-one 
company engagement

5

Public policy 
engagement

Collaborative investor 
engagement

2

Management 
interaction

3

Proxy voting

4

Directly 
influence 
investee 
behaviour

Indirectly 
influence 
investee 
behaviour

Influence on 
frameworks 

and 
regulations

Figure: J. Safra Sarasin stewardship approach 

Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023

Case study: Contribution to the  
Swiss Stewardship Code 
In a move that underscores Switzerland’s ambition 
to be a key player in sustainable finance, in 2023, the 
Bank and other financial institutions were invited  
to collaborate with Swiss Sustainable Finance (SSF) 
and the Asset Management Association Switzerland 
(AMAS) on the development of the new Swiss 
Stewardship Code. 

The Swiss Stewardship Code is comprised of nine 
core principles for effective stewardship and serves 
as a comprehensive framework to guide responsible 
and ethical investment practices. These principles 
mirror the core values that have been already largely 
entrenched in J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Manage-
ment’s Stewardship Policy.

The Bank is proud to be 
 recognised as a stewardship 
expert, being able to contrib-
ute to the important Swiss 
Stewardship Code with its 
in-depth knowledge of voting 
and engagement.
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Case study: Site visit to the Ivory Coast
When enjoying a chocolate bar, few consider the 
origins of its ingredients or the environmental and 
social impact of its production. To fully understand 
the origins of the cocoa bean and the complexities of 
the chocolate value chain, the Head of Stewardship  
of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management 
travelled to the Ivory Coast on a trip led by a Swiss-
based chocolate producer. The goal of the mission 
was to understand the barriers to the long-term sus- 
tainability of the cocoa supply chain, and to assess 
whether the industry is taking concrete steps. 

Nearly half of the world’s cocoa supply is grown in 
the Ivory Coast. Not only is the economy heavily 
reliant on cocoa, it also plays an integral part of the 
culture. Yet, many cocoa farmers are barely living at 
subsistence levels.

Systemic issues and the path to sustainability 
One clear takeaway from the trip to the Ivory Coast is 
that for cocoa to be sustainable – and for cocoa 
farmers to earn a living while protecting nature and 
the rights of vulnerable groups – governments, in- 
dustry and investors must all work together to drive 
significant and systematic change.

Improving yields to improve livelihoods: 
One of the key problems for the sector is declining 
yields, which have dropped from a peak of 700 kilo- 
grams per hectare to 520 kilograms1. A recent report 
by Cocoa Barometer estimates that the amount of 
cocoa produced per hectare worldwide has slumped 
to around 350 kilograms per hectare, with the typical 
farming plot covering around three hectares2. 

Climate change: Cocoa crops are highly sensitive 
to the changing climate. The Ivory Coast is experienc- 
ing desertification from the north, which, combined 
with deforestation to clear land for agricultural crops, 
is reducing the land available to grow cocoa. 

Child labour: Child labour has been, and still is, a 
deep-rooted problem in the global chocolate value 
chain. In the Ivory Coast, the practice is illegal and is 
officially discouraged. But the reality is different. 

In 2020, the US Labor Department estimated that 
that 1.6 million children were working in the industry 
in Ivory Coast and Ghana alone3. 

Driving positive change:  
a multi-stakeholder effort
The trip to the Ivory Coast demonstrated that the 
industry has begun to shift to a more practical multi-
stakeholder approach to tackle some of the problems 
associated with cocoa production. The Swiss-based 
chocolate producer and its clients are working on 
numerous pilot projects to address some of the issues. 
They aim to improve yields through better irrigation 
techniques, fertilisers and crop diversification. By 
providing farmers with direct assistance in the fields, 
the company has moved towards aiding farmers to 
reduce child labour. The chocolate industry has also 
responded with its own sustainability certification 
programmes, which have set specific goals and 
timelines.

Our role as investors
Investors can play their part by participating in 
collaborative investor initiatives or one-on-one com- 
pany discussions. For its part, J. Safra Sarasin Sus- 
tainable Asset Management uses its inf luence with 
investee companies through stewardship activities. 
The Stewardship team believes that the best en- 
gagement results come from nurturing long-term 
relationships with companies. The Bank main- 
tains an ongoing dialogue on cocoa certification,  
child labour and deforestation to monitor progress  
on sustainability programmes in cocoa-producing 
countries.  

This approach also helps companies improve the 
transparency of their sustainability initiatives, which 
is essential for effective investor oversight.

While challenges remain, the collaborative efforts 
of various stakeholders are key to fostering a more 
sustainable cocoa sector, ultimately mitigating the 
negative impact on farmers and the environment 
alike.

1) Our World in Data, Cocoa bean yields 1961 to 2021.
2) Cocoa Barometer 2022.

3) US Department of Labor, Child Labor in the Production of Cocoa, 
2020.
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Climate Pledge 
As part of its Climate Pledge, J. Safra Sarasin Sus- 
tainable Asset Management has defined four action 
areas to achieve its climate goals: 

1. Investing in companies whose solutions enable 
emissions reduction

2. Engaging with financial market participants and 
fostering collaboration

3. Focusing on analysing, mitigating and reporting 
financial risks of climate change investment 
strategies 

4. Aiming for net zero outcome for all sustainable 
assets managed in-house by 2035

For the first objective, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management offers several investment strategies for in - 
vesting in solution providers and has a well-established 
engagement and proxy voting strategy to inf luence 
companies as part of its stewardship approach. In order 
to engage with market participants and to foster collab-
oration, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management 
is involved in various sustainability initiatives such as 
Swiss  Sustainable Finance (SSF), where it proactively 

More detailed information on the stewardship approach 
of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management can 
be found in the Stewardship Policy available on the 
website and in the Stewardship Report, showcasing the 
stewardship activities of the year. In addition, each vote 
executed can be reviewed online on the proxy voting 
portal. 

Net zero target
In order to contribute to the achievement of the Paris 
Agreement, in 2020, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management formulated its Climate Pledge, aiming  
for a carbon-neutral outcome by 2035 for the in-house 
managed sustainable assets. The Climate Pledge for 
sustainable strategies managed by J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management is complemented by  
a net zero Action Plan covering the assets managed 
 discretionally by Sarasin & Partners. 

The Climate Pledge and the net zero Action Plan 
together cover the sustainable assets of the Group and 
underline the strategic commitment to align with the 
net zero goals of the Paris Agreement. Both commit-
ments are governed by the Net Zero Asset Managers 
initiative (NZAM) of which both entities are members. 
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Figure: J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management Climate Pledge net zero 2035 –  
Example of transition pathway
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Climate 2035. Benchmark: 100% MSCI World NR, Source: MSCI. Note: Carbon Footprint data is based on Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions.
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Net Zero Action Plan of Sarasin & Partners
In line with the Net Zero Asset Managers’ Com- 
mitment (NZAM), to which it was a founding signa-
tory in December 2020, Sarasin & Partners seeks to 
align its investment service with the goals of the 
Paris Agreement. It has specifically committed to 
reducing its financed emissions (those associated 
with investee entities) in line with a 1.5 °C pathway 
and, thus, to net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 
2050 or sooner. It will gradually extend its net zero 
methodology to 100% of the assets over which it has 
unencumbered investment and stewardship discre-
tion by 2025.

A key pillar of Sarasin & Partners approach is its 
focus on delivering real-world emission reductions  
in underlying investee entities, rather than purely 
through buying and selling securities. Consequently, 
the approach emphasises company engagement and 
policy outreach as core drivers of decarbonisation. 

The key elements of Sarasin & Partners’ Net Zero 
Action Plan are:

Climate-aware investing: This incorporates two 
aspects: 1) undertaking climate risk assessments (both 
physical and transition risks) in the most exposed 
holdings, known as the Climate Amber List; and 2) 
seeking climate solutions through Sarasin & Partners 
thematic process.

Stewardship: Engaging with investee companies 
to encourage them to adopt net zero targets and credi-
ble transition plans. Sarasin & Partners introduced a 
supportive net zero voting policy in 2018, and contin-
ues to enhance this to ensure its voting power is used 
not just to support climate-related resolutions that are 
in keeping with its NZAM commitments, but critically 
to hold board of directors and auditors to account at 
shareholder meetings.

Market outreach: In keeping with the systemic 
nature of climate change, Sarasin & Partners recog-
nises the importance of pressing for market-wide 
behavioural change. A key pillar of its Action Plan, is to 
lead and support collective investor initiatives that call 
for policy or other market changes in support of deliv-
ering a 1.5 °C pathway. 

More details on the Net Zero Action Plan can be 
found in the separate description available on the 
website.

participates in working groups to steer the financial 
markets towards more sustainable business practices 
and to further promote sustainability standards. 

To analyse, mitigate and report on climate-related 
financial risks, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management uses multiple metrics to monitor the 
strategies and report to clients. This approach ensures 
that climate-related financial risks are handled in an 
effective manner. 

To achieve a carbon neutral outcome by 2035, the 
methodology was derived from the EU Benchmark 
Regulation as part of the EU Action Plan on Financing 
Sustainable Growth. In line with the Climate Tran- 
sition Benchmarks, the reduction target is based on 
the carbon intensity of the strategy’s benchmark per 
31 December 2020. The initial target is a 30% reduc-
tion of the benchmark carbon intensity. In each follow-
ing year, the maximum intensity is reduced by 7%, 
which amounts to a reduction of approximately 50% by 
2030. From 2030 onwards, the target reduces linearly 
until the net carbon intensity reaches 0 in 2035. In 
order to ensure a strict monitoring, the Climate Pledge 
adherence for in-scope portfolios was added to the 
monthly Risk and Performance Committee (RPC) 
dashboard.

Currently, the Climate Pledge includes Scope 1 and 
Scope 2 GHG emissions of the portfolio holdings with 
the long-term goal to also increasingly include Scope 3 
emissions once the data quality is improved. The ESG 
Committee oversees the yearly progress of the portfo-
lio share covered by the Climate Pledge, with the final 
goal to cover the sustainable strategies of J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management. 

By the end of 2023, 38.1% (+12.2% compared to 
December 20221) of the sustainable assets managed 
in-house by J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management are invested in line with the 2035 net zero 
target of the Climate Pledge. More information on the 
implementation of the Climate Pledge can be found in 
the J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management 
Climate Policy available on the website. 

1) As of 2023, the Climate Pledge of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable 
Asset Management focuses on in-house managed sustainable 
assets, excluding white-label and non-sustainable strategies. The 
reported increase of 12.2% reflects this change in methodology 
and uses an adjusted Climate Pledge coverage of 25.9% as of 
31.12.2022.
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Case study: Sustainable real estate
management
For the management of its sustainable real estate 
strategies, the Bank relies on a sustainable invest-
ment process focused on the management of  
climate-related risks as promoted in the recommen-
dations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD).

Strategy: The Bank is convinced that climate- 
related transition and physical risks are financially 
material for real estate investments and has therefore 
implemented processes to measure and monitor cli-
mate-related risks (and ESG-risks more broadly) in 
the investment process. 

The Bank’s Sustainability Real Estate Analysis 
leads to a deeper understanding of real estate invest-
ments, as it shows the interdependence between eco-
nomic, social and environmental criteria. Three 
themes are assigned to each of the three sustainabil-
ity dimensions: society, economy and environment. 
These themes are in turn subdivided into criteria and 
are included in the evaluation. The differentiated 
assessment ensures that sustainability is an integral 
component throughout the entire life cycle of the 
property.

Risk management: Depending on the specific 
strategy, the Bank uses multiple tools to assess the 
climate-related risks of its real estate investments. 
The proprietary Climate Monitor tracks the green-
house gas (GHG) intensity and the energy intensity of 
each property, providing a high-level overview of the 
aggregated portfolio and its comparison to peer port-
folios. The complementary Climate Transition Risk 
Monitor analyses the risks associated with the  
transition to a low-carbon economy. The following 
factors are considered as part of this climate-risk 
assessment: 

• Excessive energy: potential regulatory risk of 
properties based on energy consumption intensity

• Greenhouse gas emissions: high GHG emissions 
are directly linked to a stranded asset risk

• Reliance on fossil fuels: heating systems based on 
gas and fossil fuels present a high transition risk 

• Health & well-being: disregard of health and 
well-being of tenants resulting in a higher transi-
tion risk

In order to gain a full understanding of climate- 
related risks in its real estate strategies, the Bank is 
actively working to enhance its current climate risk 
assessment methodology by further integrating phys-
ical risks.

Metrics and targets: With a net zero target by 
2035 as part of the J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management Climate Pledge, selected real estate 
strategies are in scope of the Climate Pledge tracking 
and reducing their GHG emissions over time, follow-
ing a strategic carbon reduction pathway. Different 
KPIs of the individual properties and the overall 
portfolio are measured, such as GHG emissions per 
square meter. Climate-related risks are covered by an 
additional set of metrics. As an example, the climate 
risk KPI uses an internal carbon price in order to 
assess the overall potential financial exposure based 
on the GHG emissions of the portfolio, as well as the 
impact of a potential carbon tax on returns.

3.60
Sustainability

rating
(scale 0–5)

70.5%
Green building
certifications

12.5
kg CO2/m2

Scope 1 & 2

59%
Renewable

energy

92%
Properties

developed after
2010

81
kWh/m2 

final energy
(excl. tenant 
electricity)

36
Investments

Figure: Example of sustainability KPIs for  
real estate strategies

Source: Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd, December 2023
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MSCI Fund ESG Quality Score

The MSCI ESG Fund Quality Score measures the over-
all ESG quality (for example, of the holdings of mutual 
funds) as measured by the ability of constituent com-
panies to manage medium- to long-term risks and 
opportunities arising from ESG exposures. It assesses 
funds on a scale from 0 to 10. A score of 10 ref lects 
underlying holdings that rank best-in-class globally 
based on their exposure to and management of ESG 
risks and opportunities. A score of 0 ref lects holdings 
that generally rank worst-in-class globally based on 
their exposure to similar factors. Numerous f lagship 
strategies of Bank J. Safra Sarasin were ranked in the 
top 10% of funds globally on the basis of their ESG cre-
dentials, and even more strategies were ranked in the 
top 10% of their fund peer group.

Austrian Ecolabel

Bank J. Safra Sarasin is a holder of the Austrian 
Ecolabel, granted by the Austrian government, which 
certifies ethically oriented projects and companies 
that generate profits through sustainable investments. 

PWM/The Banker Global Private Banking Awards 2023 – 
Best Private Bank for Impact and Sustainable Investing

Bank J. Safra Sarasin is proud to have been awarded 
the “Best Private Bank for Impact and Sustainable 
Investing” by PWM/The Banker for the second consec-
utive year.

Labels and awards 
Depending on the investment strategy, J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management cooperates with dif-
ferent sustainability labels in order to adhere to the 
respective criteria and underline its commitment to 
sustainable investments. 

Forum Nachhaltige Geldanlagen (FNG)

The FNG-Label is the leading quality standard for sus-
tainable investment funds in German-speaking coun-
tries and must be renewed annually. The credibility of 
the FNG-Label is underpinned by an independent 
audit and goes far beyond a pure portfolio assessment 
and is holistic and meaningful. Through its in-depth 
analysis and consistent standards, the FNG-Label  
provides investors with a stable source for further ana-
lysing the sustainability of funds, even in a some-
times-volatile regulatory environment. The ratings in 
the form of stars (zero to three) are an expression of 
the potential for the fund to achieve real impact in 
terms of (greater) sustainability. Each star is a recogni-
tion of a higher quality already implemented than just 
the bare minimum. Only high-quality sustainability 
funds that excel in the areas of institutional credibility, 
product standards and impact are awarded up to three 
stars. 

In 2023, the Bank had seven strategies in scope to 
receive the FNG-Label. The quality standard for sustain-
able investment funds awarded three stars (the highest 
possible rating) to five strategies and two stars to two 
strategies of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Man- 
agement, for their ambitious and comprehensive sustain-
ability strategy. FNG’s high ratings reflect the Bank’s strong 
commitment to sustainability and its above-average per-
formance in sustainability practices. 
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Der Boersianer – Most Sustainable Fund Company in 
Austria 2023

J. Safra Sarasin Fund Management has received the 
award as “Austria’s most sustainable fund company in 
2023” from the Boersianer, a special category under 
“Best fund companies”. 188 financial companies from 
six sectors, including 55 fund companies, were nomi-
nated and the Group is proud that its focus on sustain-
ability has been recognised with this award. 

Scope Alternative Investment Award 2024 – Best 
Asset Manager ESG Commercial Real Estate

Bank J. Safra Sarasin received the award “Best Asset 
Manager – ESG Commercial Real Estate” from Scope 
for the European real estate strategy for the third time 
in a row. The Scope fund analysts identify outstanding 
asset management achievements and the most con-
vincing fund concepts to honour them with the Scope 
award. The Scope Alternative Investment Awards take 
into consideration both quantitative and qualitative 
criteria and look back on a history of more than 15 
years.

Global Finance Best Private Bank Awards 2024

Bank J. Safra Sarasin was awarded two prestigious 
awards by Global Finance: 

• Best Private Bank in Switzerland 
• Best Private Bank for Social Responsibility 

These awards “… honour banks that best serve the spe-
cialised needs of high-net-worth individuals as they 
seek to enhance, preserve and pass on their wealth. 
The winners are not always the biggest institutions, 
but rather the best — those with qualities that individ-
uals rate highly when choosing a provider.” 

The Bank is proud to be recognised as a leading 
Swiss private bank and partner for social responsibil-
ity. This is the fourth time that the Bank received the 
award for “Best Private Bank for Social Responsibility” 
and the second year in a row. 

ESG Investing – Best Bank for Sustainable Finance

In 2023, Bank J. Safra Sarasin received the “Best Bank 
for Sustainable Finance” award from ESG Investing as 
part of their annual “ESG Investing Awards”. The Bank 
is proud to be recognised as a leading bank for sus-
tainable finance. 
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UN Principles for Responsible Investment
The UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UN 
PRI) established a framework for incorporating ESG-
factors into investment practices. The UN PRI were 
founded in 2006 and the Bank is proud to be a found-
ing signatory. The UN PRI have grown consistently 
since 2006 and currently have more than 5,300 signa-
tories globally, representing over USD 121 trillion 
assets under management. 

The signatories commit to the following principles:

• Principle 1: We will incorporate ESG issues into 
investment analysis and decision-making processes.

• Principle 2: We are active owners and incorporate 
ESG issues into our stewardship policies and 
practices.

• Principle 3: We seek appropriate disclosure on ESG 
issues by the entities in which we invest.

• Principle 4: We promote acceptance and implemen-
tation of the Principles.

• Principle 5: We will work together to enhance our 
effectiveness in implementing the Principles.

• Principle 6: We will each report on our activities 
and progress towards implementing the Principles.

The UN PRI Report assesses its signatories’ implemen-
tation of responsible investment practices across asset 
classes, providing a year-on-year comparison as well 
as with peers. In the UN PRI Report, the Bank received 
high scores for all modules for which it was assessed, 
well above the industry average.

In the 2023 UN PRI rating, the Bank was awarded 
five out of five stars for the modules of Direct Listed 
Equity-Active Quantitative and Direct Listed Equity-
Active Fundamental (scoring 93% for each one). For 
the modules Policy Governance and Strategy (85%), 
Direct Fixed Income SSA (83%) and Direct Fixed 
income Corporate (83%), the Bank received four out of 
five stars, positioning itself clearly above the median 
of all participants. Four out of five stars were also 
awarded for the module of Confidence Building Mea-
sures (80%). 

The scores reflect the Bank’s pioneering position in 
the field of sustainable investments and its firm com-
mitment to integrating ESG principles into each step of 
its investment process. 

IV. Collaboration
For the Bank, the concept of sustainability is not just 
limited to the provision of financial services, but 
extends to a broader perspective, in which it sees itself 
as an actor in shaping society’s path towards sustain- 
ability. Hence, it has taken on multiple initiatives to 
advance sustainable finance practices and strives 
towards enhancing existing standards. By doing so, 
the Bank has proven its commitment to promoting 
social welfare while simultaneously ensuring prof- 
itable business growth for itself and its stakeholders. 
The Paris Agreement presents one such goal that aligns 
perfectly with the Bank’s objectives, which aim to con-
tribute to reduce carbon emissions and limit global 
warming within two degrees Celsius by 2050. 

Memberships
For many years, the Bank has been actively involved in 
numerous initiatives and organisations which work 
towards sustainable development. The Bank partici-
pates in political opinion-forming via these initiatives 
and its membership in various organisations. 

Strategic commitments

• Energy Agency of the Swiss Private Sector (EnAW)
• Finance for Biodiversity Pledge*
• Net Zero Asset Managers initiative (NZAM)
• Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi)
• UN Principles for Responsible Banking (UN PRB)*

Reporting and disclosure standards

• Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
• UN Global Compact (UNGC)
• UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UN PRI)*

Collaboration

• Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP)
• Climate Action 100+ (CA100+)
• European Sustainable Investment Forum (Eurosif)
• Farm Animal Investment Risk and Return (FAIRR)
• Forum Nachhaltige Geldanlagen (FNG)
• Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC)
• International Corporate Governance Network (ICGN)
• Nature Action 100
• öbu – Network for sustainable business
• ShareAction
• Sustainable Finance Geneva (SFG)
• Swiss Climate Foundation*
• Swiss Sustainable Finance (SSF)*
• UN Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI)

Table: Overview of the commitments  
and memberships

* Founding member
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far-reaching consequences. Financial institutions can 
play an important role in helping to reverse nature’s 
losses. As a signatory, the Bank recognises the need to 
protect biodiversity. Besides collaborating and sharing 
knowledge, the Bank commits to engaging with com-
panies by including biodiversity in its investment pro-
cesses and policies. The Bank also pledges to assess its 
biodiversity impact and set science-based targets in 
order to significantly increase the positive impact 
while minimising any negative effects. As a pioneer  
in sustainable investments with over 30 years of expe-
rience, the Bank has long embedded environmental 
issues across the investment process. It is also a focus 
topic in its engagement with corporate leaders. 

Swiss Climate Foundation
The Bank has been a founding member of the Swiss 
Climate Foundation for over 15 years. Catering to its 
claim “Protecting the climate. Strengthening small and 
medium enterprises (SMEs)”, the Climate Foundation 
supports projects of SMEs that help to reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions. The Swiss Climate Foundation is a 
voluntary initiative by the Swiss financial sector which 
has benefitted from the reimbursement of the proceeds 
of the CO2-levy introduced by the Swiss Federal 
Government in 2008. As service providers are lower CO2 
emitters, the Bank and other financial service compa-
nies decided to voluntarily use these proceeds to make 
an active contribution to mitigating climate change 
through financing climate solutions and projects. 

In 2023, the Bank continued its long-standing part-
nership with the Swiss Climate Foundation to reflect 
its sustainability commitments related to climate 
action. On top of its membership, the Group’s Chief Sus- 
tainability Officer serves as a member of the Board of 
Trustees.

Swiss Sustainable Finance
The Bank is a founding member of Swiss Sustainable 
Finance (SSF), a platform to promote sustainable 
finance set up in 2014. Its mission is to promote 
Switzerland in the global marketplace as a leading cen-
tre for sustainable finance by informing, educating 
and catalysing growth. The Bank actively participates 
in SSF working groups like the “SSF Focus Group 
Regulatory” and contributes to publications such as 
the annual Swiss Sustainable Investment Market 
Study. 

UN Principles for Responsible Banking
In 2019, the Bank joined the UN Principles for 
Responsible Banking (UN PRB) as a founding signa-
tory, making another significant commitment towards 
a more sustainable future. The UN PRB’s principles 
were developed by banks for banks and gathered strong 
support from 342 signatory banks, representing over 
54% of all banking assets globally. Targeting six key 
areas, the UN PRB provide a framework for a sustain-
able banking system and guides signatories to achiev-
ing society’s goals as expressed in the UN Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) and the Paris Agreement. 
In 2023, the Bank published its third UN PRB Progress 
Report and received positive feedback as part of the 
review process with the UN PRB bodies.

As part of its UN PRB commitment, the Bank has 
defined Climate Change Mitigation as well as Bio- 
diversity as the two main impact areas where it aims to 
make a positive contribution. This is closely aligned 
with the goals of the Paris Agreement, the Sustainable 
Development Goals, as well as internal targets such as 
the Climate Pledge. The most recent UN PRB Progress 
Report can be found on the website.

Net Zero Asset Managers Initiative
In April 2021, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management joined the Net Zero Asset Managers 
initiative (NZAM). The initiative aims to mobilise 
the asset management industry to transition to net 
zero emissions and deliver ambitious climate action 
and investment strategies to achieve the goals set out 
by the Paris Agreement. By December 2023, NZAM 
had 315 signatories managing USD 57 trillion assets 
under management. The signatories commit to sup-
porting the goal of net zero greenhouse gas emis-
sions by 2050 or sooner. These are in line with global 
efforts to limit global warming to 1.5 °C and support 
net zero emissions investing by 2050 or sooner. At 
the UN Climate Change Conference COP26 in 
October 2021, J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management participated in the inaugural NZAM 
Progress Report. 

Finance for Biodiversity Pledge
In 2020, the Bank joined the Finance for Biodiversity 
Pledge as a founding signatory and the first Swiss 
institution. With global wildlife populations declining 
and facing mass extinction, the planet is facing 
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commitment to spearheading thought leadership in 
sustainable investing. 

Throughout 2023, several events to share knowledge 
were also organised by the Group. These events were 
arranged for private and institutional clients and pro-
fessional audiences. Experts and analysts from the 
Sustainable Investment and Sustainability teams par-
ticipated in a range of conferences to advance the 
global sustainability agenda and provide insights on 
the Group’s sustainable investment approach.

Sponsorship
Philanthropy, art, sports and other projects in the 
areas of culture and education remained the main stra-
tegic focus for the Group’s sponsoring engagements in 
2023. As part of its cultural sponsorship of institutions 
promoting art, the Bank continues to support organi-
sations, institutions and communities in general. 

In Switzerland, the long-standing partnership with 
Foundation Beyeler was maintained. The sponsoring 
of the Esmeralda Charity Golf Cup 2023 organised by 
the Limmat Foundation in Zurich, a philanthropic ini-
tiative supporting projects and schools for children in 
Colombia, was also continued. The Bank also remains 
one of the longest-standing partners to Swiss Indoors, 
the largest annual Swiss sporting event. 

In the UK, Sarasin & Partners concluded a second 
year of supporting Grief Encounter, a charity that sup-
ports bereaved children and young adults. Over the 
past two years the business raised funds for the charity 
through various events, including its annual summer 
party auction, a Three Peaks Challenge undertaken by 
staff members, static bike rides, raff les and cake sales.

In the Netherlands, the Group was again the main 
sponsor of PAN Amsterdam, the country’s leading fair 
in art, antiques and design. The Group also sponsored 
PYM, an independent foundation that connects and 
guides wealth owners to invest their capital consciously 
for a better world. 

In Panama, aiming to support organisations that 
promote education, the Group sponsored the Magen 
David Academy, the Albert Einstein institute and 
Mitzvah tots, which provides social work and educa-
tion for children. 

Knowledge-sharing
In 2023, the Group maintained a strong focus on 
thought leadership in sustainable investing. The Group 
has a dedicated sustainability team responsible for this 
endeavour, involving experts from various depart-
ments to ensure a comprehensive approach. Recognis-
ing the importance of education and information 
dissemination in advancing sustainability, the team 
was instrumental in publishing reports and raising 
awareness on sustainable investing. Among the nota-
ble publications in 2023 authored by J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management are:

• “Targeting positive outcomes with ESG-
labelled bonds” – How can labelled bonds add 
value to a portfolio?

• “Does sustainability lead to better returns in 
emerging markets bonds?” – Some believe that 
taking sustainability into account means sacrificing 
on returns. Yet, when it comes to emerging market 
debt in particular, integrating ESG can offer better 
downside protection and improves overall risk- 
adjusted returns.

• “Adapting to a warmer world” – Extreme 
weather events are escalating in our warming  
world, impacting nations unevenly. To safeguard 
against losses, the climate adaptation process 
requires investments in resilient technologies  
and infrastructure. How can investors  
contribute to creating a more climate-adapted  
world?

• “Country ESG Ratings – Sovereign ESG per-
formance through a new lens” – This paper 
examines how the updated Country ESG Framework 
of the Bank can help best assess country ESG per-
formance and add value to the sovereign investment 
process.

• “Cocoa Supply Chain” – An in-depth case study 
on the challenges of cocoa farming in the Ivory 
Coast. 

By producing these research papers, the Group not 
only provides valuable resources for its clients and the 
broader financial community but also solidifies its 
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Basis of reporting for this Sustainability Report 
This Sustainability Report is prepared by the Group’s 
sustainability team in close collaboration with various 
departments and under the oversight of the Chief 
Sustainability Officer. The report, while primarily 
based on the Group’s own sustainability framework, 
thoughtfully considers the structural elements of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards and the 
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) in order to facilitate 
comparability, however, it does not strictly adhere to 
these external standards. 

Corporate sustainability
The Group adheres to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG 
Protocol) Corporate Standard as a guiding framework for 
its corporate greenhouse gas (GHG) accounting. It 
reports GHG emissions for locations with more than 15 
full-time equivalents (FTEs) and where it has the opera-
tional control to introduce and implement its operating 
policies (operational control approach). The Group uses 
the Sphera Corporate Sustainability tool for the calcula-
tion of GHG emissions. The measured activities and the 
reported GHG emissions are grouped according to the 
scope definition of the GHG Protocol, with the following 
activity data included for each location in scope where 
data is available:  

energy procured from the energy provider. For elec-
tricity from non-renewable sources, the local residual 
mix is used, i.e. the local electricity mix minus the pro-
duction from renewable sources that is clearly allo-
cated to specific consumers. In instances where 
residual mix data is not available, the calculation 
defaults to the location-based emission factor. This 
approach ref lects the direct environmental inf luence 
of the Group’s energy purchasing decisions.

GHG data collection and calculation
The sustainability team manages the data collection 
and assessment process for all locations in scope. The 
data is reported by local data collectors at each loca-
tion and centrally collected by the Sustainability 
Manager, who reviews the data and performs a quality 
and plausibility check before submitting it to the GHG 
accounting tool. The aggregated results undergo an 
internal review by the Chief Sustainability Officer. 

Calculation of GHG emissions: In principle, the 
Group uses reported activity data (such as electricity 
consumption), which is based on actual consumption 
values that can be substantiated by supporting docu-
mentation. Data is only estimated in case there is no 
measured activity data available (i.e. if the electricity 
consumption for a location is not available for one 
month, the annual average is considered). Internal fol-
low-ups are carried out to ensure these cases remain 
limited. The activity data collected is multiplied by 
corresponding conversion and emission factors within 
the tool provided by Sphera Corporate Sustainability. 
These emission factors express the amount of GHG 
emissions generated by specific activities, such as tons 
of CO₂e per kWh of electricity. The Group uses 100-
year GWP emission factors. For this Sustainability 
Report, the following emission factors are used:

Scope 1: GHG emissions from sources that are directly owned or 
controlled by the Group

• Fuel combustion in boilers and furnaces
• Fuel combustion from company leased vehicles

Scope 2: GHG emissions from the generation of electricity purchased by 
the Group

• Scope 2 location-based
• Scope 2 market-based

Scope 3: GHG emissions that occur in the value chain of the Group

• Business travel
• Paper usage
• Waste water generated 

The Group employs both location-based and mar-
ket-based methods for calculating Scope 2 emissions. 
The location-based approach uses average grid emis-
sions factors, derived from the typical mix of energy 
sources in a region’s power grid. This method provides 
an estimate of emissions based on the average energy 
production in a particular region. The market-based 
methodology calculates carbon emissions by incorpo-
rating emission factors linked to the specific type of 

Scope Emission factors

Scope 1 • Defra 2023 Greenhouse Gas Reporting 
Conversion Factors (Defra V12, 09/2023)

Scope 2 –
location-based

• IEA Standard Emissions Factors 2023
 (IEA Version 3.0, 12/2023)

Scope 2 – 
market-based

• Sphera Residual Mixes 2023
 (Version 11.0, 09/2023)
• Sphera Managed Life Cycle Assessment Data
 (Version 16.0, 10/2023)

Scope 3 • Defra 2023 Greenhouse Gas Reporting 
Conversion Factors (Defra V12, 09/2023)

• Sphera Managed Life Cycle Assessment Data 
(Version 16.0, 10/2023)
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companies, excluding C-rated companies due to their 
poor ESG performance and D-rated companies due to 
their involvement in business practices that are part of 
the standard exclusion list (negative screening). If a 
strategy invests in A- and B-rated companies, an addi-
tional sustainability approach such as fundamental 
ESG integration, climate alignment (reducing the strat-
egy’s GHG emissions over time) or stewardship is 
required. By investing exclusively in A-rated compa-
nies, some strategies adopt a best-in-class approach 
according to AMAS guidelines and, in combination 
with the mandatory exclusion of D-rated companies, 
qualify as ESG Consideration. 

For strategies where the J. Safra Sarasin Sustain-
ability Matrix cannot be used, i.e. sustainable real estate 
investment strategies and strategies managed by third-
party asset managers, a qualitative assessment of  
the sustainability approach against the sustainability 
standards of J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset Man- 
agement is carried out to determine whether the strat-
egy qualifies for ESG consideration. 
Assets managed by Sarasin & Partners LLP are classi-
fied as ESG Consideration. During the investment selec-
tion process, the Sustainability Impact Matrix (SIM) is 
used to conduct a comprehensive ESG analysis and to 
derive an ESG rating. Where concerns are identified, 
these are assessed for materiality as part of the invest-
ment analysis. The most material concerns are priori-
tised in stewardship activities to mitigate the identified 
risks. Further information on the investment process 
of Sarasin & Partners LLP can be found in their annual 
Stewardship Report under Principle 7 “Stewardship, 
investment and ESG integration”, available on the web-
site www.sarasinandpartners.com in the section 
“Stewardship at Sarasin”.

ESG Contribution: ESG Contribution strategies 
use the J. Safra Sarasin Sustainability Matrix®, there-
fore only investing in A- and B-Rated companies and 
applying the standard exclusion list of J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management, and also have a  specific, 
non-financial outcome objective. The ESG Contribution 
classification is based on the requirements of Article 9 
of the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation 
(SFDR). 

Climate pledge coverage
To calculate the percentage of assets under manage-
ment (AuM) that are in line with J. Safra Sarasin 

Financial sustainability
The indicators presented in the financial sustainability 
chapter for the asset management activities are pro-
vided at the Group level, unless otherwise stated. The 
assets under management are divided into the follow-
ing categories:  

• J. Safra Sarasin total assets: all assets managed by 
the Group independent of the sustainability 
classification 

• J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Assets: all assets classi-
fied as sustainable managed by J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainable Asset Management and Sarasin & 
Partners LLP

• J. Safra Sarasin non-sustainable assets (Classic) 

The definition of sustainable assets is derived from the 
Group’s internal sustainable product classification, which 
was developed under consideration of the EU Sustainable 
Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) and the Swiss 
self-regulation of the Asset Management Association 
Switzerland (AMAS).
 
The following classifications are used: 

Classic: Strategies which fall under this classifica-
tion have no explicit integration of ESG factors in the 
investment process and do not have an ESG focus or 
claim. Typically, these are white-label strategies or 
strategies for which the Group does not yet have an 
ESG methodology in place. 

ESG Consideration: ESG Consideration strategies 
integrate ESG factors into the investment process, but 
do not have an explicit non-financial outcome objective. 
The focus is on the integration of financially material 
ESG factors into investment decisions, negative screen-
ing, climate alignment and stewardship, with at least 
two of these elements used per strategy. This classifica-
tion ref lects, where applicable, the general principles  
of Article 8 of the Sustainable Finance Disclosure 
Regulation (SFDR) and the minimum requirements of 
the AMAS self-regulation for sustainable investments.

Assets managed by J. Safra Sarasin Sustainable Asset 
Management that are classified as ESG Consideration 
generally use the J. Safra Sarasin Sustainability 
Matrix® as a foundation for the ESG information used 
in the investment process. Using the J. Safra Sarasin 
Sustainability Matrix®, strategies classified as ESG 
Consideration can only invest in A- and B-rated 
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entails a systematic evaluation by the auditor in  
order to verify the KPIs’ conformity with established 
reporting frameworks and the absence of material 
misstatements. Notably, the audit statement provides 
a detailed description of the scope of the limited assur-
ance review, outlining the specific areas and aspects 
covered by the auditor. 

The review process, combining an internal review 
process and the external limited assurance by the 
auditor, ensures a robust and transparent presentation 
of the Group’s sustainability performance metrics.

This Sustainability Report has been approved by the 
Board of Directors of J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd.

Juerg Haller Jorge Kininsberg
Member of the Member of the
Board of Directors Board of Directors

Sustainable Asset Management’s climate pledge, the 
following methodology is applied: the numerator is 
given by the AuM of all strategies that have imple-
mented the climate pledge by following the required 
carbon reduction pathway. The sustainability team 
measures the adherence to the climate pledge of each 
strategy and reports to the Risk and Performance 
Committee (RPC). The denominator is the total AuM 
of all sustainable assets managed in-house by J. Safra 
Sarasin Sustainable Asset Management.

Review and approval process
This Sustainability Report is subject to an extensive 
internal validation process before its publication. This 
process involves the critical assessment and review by 
the Chief Sustainability Officer. Complementing this 
internal review process, the reported key performance 
indicators (KPIs) are subject to a limited assurance 
review by an independent external auditor, as ref  lect- 
ed in the accompanying audit statement. This review 
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UN Global Compact

Launched in 2000, the United Nations Global Compact is a call to companies around the world to align their strategies 
and operations with ten universal principles in the areas of human rights, labour, environment and anti-corruption, and 
to act in support of broader UN goals. It is the world’s largest voluntary corporate responsibility initiative, with more 
than 15,000 signatories in over 160 countries.

The Ten Principles of the UN Global Compact Implementation at J. Safra Sarasin Report reference

Human Rights

Principle 1: Businesses should support and  

respect the protection of internationally proclaimed  

human rights.

Bank specific: non-discrimination and equal treatment

• Code of Compliance 

• Code of Business Conduct

• Whistleblowing Directive

• Staff Regulation

• Directive “Protection against Sexual Harassment, 

Bullying and Discrimination in the Workplace”

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio and 

stewardship

• Portfolio-based Stewardship Strategy on social or 

environmental issues

• Exclusion of companies violating UN Global Compact 

Principles 

• Portfolio-based commitment to social and environmental 

issues

• Assets subject to environmental or social screening

93

93

93

97

97

110

102

107

102

Principle 2: Make sure that they are not complicit in human- 

rights abuses.

Bank specific:

• Code of Compliance 

• Code of Business Conduct

• Whistleblowing Directive

• Staff Regulation

• Directive “Protection against Sexual Harassment,  

Bullying and Discrimination in the Workplace”

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio 

stewardship:

• Portfolio-based Stewardship Strategy on social or 

environmental issues

• Exclusion of companies violating Global Compact 

Principles

• Portfolio-based commitment to social and environmental 

issues

• Assets subject to environmental or social screening

93

93

93

97

97

110

102

107

102

Labour

Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom of 

association and the effective recognition of the right to 

collective bargaining.

Bank specific:

• Regulations on Employee Participation

• Swiss Collective Labour Agreement (Agreement on 

Conditions of Employment for Bank Employees, VAB)

98

98

Principle 4: The elimination of all forms of forced and 

compulsory labour.

Bank specific:

• Code of Business Conduct

• Whistleblowing Directive

• Staff Regulation

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio and 

stewardship:

• Exclusion of companies violating UN Global Compact 

Principles

93

93

97

102

Principle 5: The effective abolition of child labour. Bank specific:

• Code of Business Conduct

• Whistleblowing Directive

• Supply chain due diligence for child labour issues

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio and 

stewardship:

• Exclusion of companies violating UN Global Compact 

Principles

93

93

93

102
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The Ten Principles of the UN Global Compact Implementation at J. Safra Sarasin Report reference

Principle 6: The elimination of discrimination in respect of 

employment and occupation.

Bank specific:

• Code of Business Conduct

• Employee Rules and Regulations –  

Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd 

• Directive “Protection against Sexual Harassment,  

Bullying and Discrimination in the Workplace”

93

97

97

Environment

Principle 7: Businesses should support a precautionary 

approach to environmental challenges.

Bank specific:

• Reduction of energy consumption

• Reduction of greenhouse gas emission

• Reduction of the use of materials

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio and 

stewardship:

• Portfolio-based Stewardship Strategy on social or 

environmental issues

• Implementation of the Net Zero Targets 

• Exclusion of high-emitting sectors

94

94

94

110

113

102

Principle 8: Undertake initiatives to promote greater 

environmental responsibility.

Bank specific:

• Sustainability training

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio and 

stewardship:

• Portfolio-based Stewardship Strategy on social or 

environmental issues

• Implementation of the Net Zero Targets

• Exclusion of high-emitting sectors 

98

110

113

102

Principle 9: Encourage the development and diffusion of 

environmentally friendly technologies.

Bank specific:

• Reduction of energy consumption

• Reduction of greenhouse gas emission

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio and 

stewardship:

• Portfolio-based Stewardship Strategy on social or 

environmental issues

• Implementation of the Net Zero Targets

• Portfolio-based commitment to social and environmental 

issues

• Assets subject to environmental or social screening

94

94

110

113

107

102

Anti-Corruption

Principle 10: Businesses should work against corruption in  

all its forms, including extortion and bribery.

Bank specific:

• Code of Business Conduct

• Code of Compliance

• Whistleblowing Directive

Financial sector-specific indicators: product portfolio and 

stewardship:

• Exclusion of companies violating UN Global Compact 

Principles

93

93

93

102
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Deloitte AG 

Pfingstweidstrasse 11 

8005 Zurich 
Switzerland 
 
Phone: +41(0) 58 279 60 00 

www.deloitte.ch 

 

 
 

To the Management of  

JJ..  SSaaffrraa  SSaarraassiinn  HHoollddiinngg  LLttdd..,,  BBaasseell  

 
OOuurr  eennggaaggeemmeenntt  

We have been engaged to conduct a limited assurance engagement on selected sustainability indicators presented in 

the Sustainability Report 2023 of J. Safra Sarasin Group (comprising J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries) 

for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

BBaassiiss  ooff  oouurr  aassssuurraannccee  wwoorrkk    

Our work was carried out by a multi-disciplinary team of sustainability and assurance specialists in accordance with 

the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (ISAE 3000) (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other 

than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance 

Standards Board (IAASB). To achieve limited assurance, ISAE 3000 (Revised) requires that we review the processes, 

systems and competencies used to compile the areas on which we provide assurance. It does not include detailed 

testing of source data or the operating effectiveness of processes and internal controls. 

SSccooppee  aanndd  ssuubbjjeecctt  mmaatttteerr  

Our limited assurance procedures focused on the sustainability indicators for the year ended  

31 December 2023 presented in the Sustainability Report 2023 as listed below: 

Financial indicators: 

• Sustainable assets under management (billion CHF), thereof ESG consideration (billion CHF) and thereof ESG 

contribution (billion CHF) on page 100 

• Volume of J. Safra Sarasin sustainable investment funds domiciled in Luxembourg and Germany (billion CHF), 

thereof SFDR Art. 8 and thereof SFDR Art. 9 on page 100 

Social indicators: 

• The total number of employees (FTE), breakdown between Switzerland and abroad on page 99 

• The proportion of part-time employees (headcount) on page 99 

• The proportion of female FTEs (%) on page 99 

• The proportion of female FTEs in management positions (%) on page 99 

• Employee turnover rate (%) on page 99 

Environmental indicators: 

• Total office space (m2) on page 96 

• Total GHG emissions Scope 1 (t CO2e), breakdown by intensity per FTE (kg CO2e) and intensity per m2 (kg 

CO2e) on page 96 

• Total GHG emissions Scope 2 (market-based, t CO2e), breakdown by intensity per FTE (kg CO2e) and intensity 

per m2 (kg CO2e) on page 96 

• Share of energy from renewable sources, breakdown by electricity consumption (MWh) and electricity 

consumption per FTE (kWh) on page 96 

• Total GHG emissions Scope 2 (location-based, t CO2e) on page 96 

CCrriitteerriiaa  

The reporting criteria (“Applicable Criteria”) are described in the Basis of Reporting document prepared by J. Safra 

Sarasin Group (page 121) which considers the structural element of the Standards of the Global Reporting Initiative 

(GRI), and the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol), as well as own developed criteria. 

IInnhheerreenntt  lliimmiittaattiioonnss    

The accuracy and completeness of non-financial information is subject to inherent limitations given its nature and 

methods for determining, calculating and estimating such data. Our assurance report should therefore be read in 

connection with J. Safra Sarasin Group's reporting guidelines used to present such non-financial information. 
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RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  ooff  JJ..  SSaaffrraa  SSaarraassiinn  GGrroouupp’’ss  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  

The Management of J. Safra Sarasin Group is responsible for the preparation of the Sustainability Report and the 

information contained therein in accordance with the aforementioned Applicable Criteria. This responsibility includes 

developing, implementing and safeguarding internal controls of material importance for the preparation of a report 

that is free of material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. This responsibility includes selecting and 

applying Applicable Criteria as well as measurement methods and estimates deemed suitable in view of the 

circumstances. 

OOuurr  rreessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the selected sustainability indicators based on our limited assurance 

procedures. ISAE 3000 (Revised) requires that we plan and perform our procedures to obtain limited assurance, 

whether the selected sustainability indicators have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 

Applicable Criteria.  

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are less in extent 

than for, a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance 

engagement is substantially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance 

engagement been performed. 

LLiimmiitteedd  aassssuurraannccee  pprroocceedduurreess  ppeerrffoorrmmeedd  

Our procedures consisted primarily of:  

• Inquiring of the J. Safra Sarasin Group Sustainability Team to understand the governance and review process 

for data management and collection, the process around reporting, the review and challenge made internally 

over the data and expectations of year end performance given the understanding of the operations during the 

year; 

• Inquiring of key personnel involved in the data collection, management and reporting processes, to obtain an 

understanding of the process for how the information is captured, processed and reported including how these 

feeds up to the Group; 

• Inspecting documentation to corroborate the results of these inquiries, including seeking supporting evidence 

for the statements made, and documentation of reporting processes and minutes of relevant meetings; and 

• Conducting analytical procedures, inspecting and testing underlying data on a non-statistical sample basis to 

assess whether the data has been collected and reported in accordance with the Applicable Criteria, including 

inspecting source documentation. 

OOuurr  iinnddeeppeennddeennccee  aanndd  qquuaalliittyy  ccoonnttrroollss  

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements established by the Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, which are based on 

fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and 

professional behavior. 

Deloitte AG applies International Standard on Quality Management 1 and, accordingly, maintains a comprehensive 

system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical 

requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

CCoonncclluussiioonn  

Based on procedures performed, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the sustainability 

indicators are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Applicable Criteria. 

DDeellooiittttee  AAGG    

 
 
 
 
Marcel Meyer  

Konstantin Meier 

Licensed Audit Expert 
Director 

Auditor in Charge 

 
Zurich, 26 March, 2024 
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Address List

Nassau

Panama City

Doha

SWITZERLAND

London

Guernsey
Warsaw

Munich

Frankfurt

Amsterdam

Luxembourg

Gibraltar

Monaco
Milan

Vienna

6

7

15

14

11

2

5

16 23

2410

1

Madrid
12

19

Paris

17

13
Mexico City

18

20
São Paulo

9
Istanbul

22
Tel Aviv

3 4

Dubai

21

Singapore

8
Hong Kong



J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd., Annual Report 2023 | 131

SWITZERLAND (1)

INTERNATIONAL

Bern
Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG 
Waisenhausplatz 10 
Postfach
3001 Bern 
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 59 59

Geneva
Banque J. Safra Sarasin SA 
Quai de l’Ile 3
Case postale 
1211 Genève 11 
Suisse
T: +41 (0)58 317 55 55

Geneva
Banque J. Safra Sarasin SA 
Rue de la Corraterie 4 
Case postale
1211 Genève 11 
Suisse
T: +41 (0)58 317 55 55

Geneva
J. Safra Sarasin Asset 
Management (North America) Ltd
Rue de la Corraterie 4
1204 Geneva 
Switzerland
T: +41 (0)58 317 64 00

Lucerne
Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG 
Ledergasse 11
Postfach
6002 Luzern 
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 50 50

Lugano
Banca J. Safra Sarasin SA 
Via Marconi 2
Casella postale 
6901 Lugano
Svizzera
T: +41 (0)58 317 58 58

Zurich
Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG 
Bleicherweg 1/Paradeplatz 
Postfach
8022 Zürich 
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 51 51

Zurich
Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG 
Alfred-Escher-Strasse 50
Postfach
8022 Zürich
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 33 33

Zurich
bank zweiplus ag 
Buckhauserstrasse 22
Postfach
8048 Zürich
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 059 22 16

J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. 
Wallstrasse 1
4051 Basel 
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 44 44

Baden
Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG
Kreuzweg 11
Postfach
5401 Baden
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 65 00

Basel
Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG 
Elisabethenstrasse 62 
Postfach
4002 Basel 
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 44 44

Basel
J. Safra Sarasin 
Investmentfonds AG 
Wallstrasse 9 
Postfach
4002 Basel 
Schweiz
T: +41 (0)58 317 44 44

Amsterdam (2)
Banque J. Safra Sarasin 
(Luxembourg) SA – Dutch Branch
Rembrandt Toren, 22e verdieping  
Amstelplein 1
1096 HA Amsterdam
Nederland
T: +31 20 258 96 66

Doha (3)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin (QFC) LLC 
Suite 702, Level 7
Qatar Financial Centre, Tower 1 
Ambassadors Street
Al Corniche Area
P.O. Box 22728 
Doha
State of Qatar
T: +974 (0)4 496 8018

Dubai (4)
J. Safra Sarasin (Middle East) Ltd 
Burj Daman, Level 12
P.O. Box 506774
Dubai International 
Financial Centre
Dubai
United Arab Emirates
T: +971 (0)4 381 26 26

Frankfurt (5)
J. Safra Sarasin 
(Deutschland) GmbH 
Kirchnerstraße 6–8
60311 Frankfurt am Main 
Deutschland
T: +49 (0)69 714497 300

Gibraltar (6)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin 
(Gibraltar) Ltd
First Floor, Neptune House 
Marina Bay
P.O. Box 542 
Gibraltar GX11 1AA 
T: +350 2000 2500 

Guernsey (7)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd 
Guernsey Branch
P.O. Box 348
1st Floor, Frances House 
Sir William Place
St. Peter Port 
Guernsey GY1 3UY 
Channel Islands
T: +44 (0) 1481 76 11 11

Hong Kong (8)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd 
Hong Kong Branch
40/F Edinburgh Tower 
The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central 
Hong Kong
T: +852 2287 9888

Istanbul (9)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG, 
Representative Office in Turkey 
(Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG 
Türkiye Temsilciliği)
Süzer Plaza, Askerocağı caddesi, 
No:6, Kat:22, Daire 2201
Elmadağ – Şişli
34367 İstanbul
Türkiye
T: +90 212 952 99 00

London (10)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin 
(Gibraltar) Ltd 
London Branch
47 Berkeley Square 
London W1J 5AU 
United Kingdom
T: +44 (0) 20 3964 9000

London (10)
Sarasin & Partners LLP 
Juxon House
100 St Paul’s Churchyard 
London EC4M  8BU 
United Kingdom
T: +44 (0) 20 7038 7000

Luxembourg (11)  
Banque J. Safra Sarasin 
(Luxembourg) SA
17–21, Boulevard Joseph II 
1840 Luxembourg
Luxembourg
T: +352 45 47 81 1

Luxembourg (11) 
J. Safra Sarasin Fund  
Management (Luxembourg) S.A.
11–13, Boulevard de la Foire
1528 Luxembourg
Luxembourg
T: +352 26 21 25 1

Madrid (12)
Banque J. Safra Sarasin 
(Luxembourg) SA, 
Sucursal en España
Paseo de la Castellana, 13, piso 3
28046 Madrid
España
T: +34 (0)91 787 89 00

Mexico (13)
JSS Servicios S.A. de C.V. 
Edificio Forum
Andrés Bello 10, Piso 19 
Polanco
11520 Ciudad de México
México
T: +52 55 52 946 155

Milan (14)
Banque J. Safra Sarasin  
(Luxembourg) SA
Succursale Italiana
Via Bigli 19
20121 Milano
Italia
T: +39 02 36213 600

Monaco (15)
Banque J. Safra Sarasin 
(Monaco) SA
La Belle Epoque
15 bis/17 Avenue d’Ostende 
BP 347
MC-98006 Monaco Cedex 
Principauté de Monaco
T: +377 (0)93 10 66 55

Munich (16)
J. Safra Sarasin 
(Deutschland) GmbH 
Ottostraße 3
80333 München 
Deutschland
T: +49 (0)89 558 999 497

Nassau (17)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin 
(Bahamas) Ltd.
Lyford Financial Centre
Building 2 – Western Road 
P.O. Box CB-10988 – Lyford Cay  
Nassau 
The Bahamas 
T: +1 242 603 79 00 

Panama (18)
J. Safra Sarasin 
Asset Management S.A. 
Avenida Balboa y
Calle Aquilino de La Guardia 
BICSA Financial Center, Piso 39 
Ciudad de Panamá
República de Panamá
T: +507 380 70 70

Paris (19)  
Banque J. Safra Sarasin 
(Luxembourg) SA,
Succursale en France
75 Rue du Faubourg Saint-Honoré 
75008 Paris
France
T: +33 (0)1 40 08 15 55

São Paulo (20)
JSS Administradora 
de Recursos Ltda. 
Avenida Paulista, 2150 
15º andar
Bela Vista
CEP 01310-300
São Paulo, SP 
Brasil
T: +55 (11) 3550-1111

Singapore (21)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd 
Singapore Branch
8 Marina View
#25-01 Asia Square Tower 1
Singapore 018 960
T: +65 6536 6848

Tel Aviv (22)
Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd 
Representative Office in Israel 
Sarona Azrieli Tower
Derech Menachem Begin 121–123 
40th Floor
Tel Aviv 6701203 
Israel
T: +972 76 531 5555

Tel Aviv (22)
Banque J. Safra Sarasin 
(Luxembourg) SA 
Representative Office in Israel 
Sarona Azrieli Tower
Derech Menachem Begin 121–123 
40th Floor
Tel Aviv 6701203 
Israel
T: +972 76 531 5555

Tel Aviv (22)
J. Safra Sarasin
Asset Management (Israel) Ltd 
Sarona Azrieli Tower
Derech Menachem Begin 121–123 
40th Floor
Tel Aviv 6701203 
Israel
T: +972 76 531 5555

Vienna (23)
J. Safra Sarasin Fund Management 
(Luxembourg) S.A. – Austria Branch 
Kohlmarkt 8–10, 1. Stock
1010 Wien 
Österreich
T: +43 (0)1 227 46 10 28

Warsaw (24)
J. Safra Sarasin Polska sp. z o.o.
ul. Poznańska 37
00-689 Warszawa 
Polska
T: +48 (0)22 41 88 654





“If you choose to sail upon the seas  
of banking, build your bank as  

you would your boat, with the strength  
to sail safely through any storm.”

Jacob Safra (1891 – 1963)
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Links to third-party Internet sites

J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. accepts no responsibility for the 

information provided on the third-party Internet sites men-

tioned in this publication and does not endorse their content.

Precautionary notice regarding forward-looking statements

This report contains forward-looking statements. These state-

ments may include specific assumptions about J. Safra Sarasin 

Group’s future business performance and development of income 

as well as general assumptions underlying such statements.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve 

inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific. 

There is therefore a risk that predictions, forecasts and other 

expectations described or implied in the forward-looking 

statements will not be achieved.

A number of factors can lead to actual outcomes and devel-

opments that are materially different from those described 

in the forward-looking statements. These factors include the 

economic situation, the state of the financial markets world-

wide and possible loan losses or potential defaults of trading 

counterparties.

J. Safra Sarasin Holding Ltd. does not assume any respon-

sibility for updating such forward-looking statements and adapt 

them to new information or future events.

www.jsafrasarasin.com

Usage of third-party data

This report contains certain information (the “Information“) 

sourced from Bank J. Safra Sarasin Ltd’s information providers, 

including without limitation, MSCI ESG Research LLC and its 

affiliates (the “ESG Parties“) and may have been used to cal-

culate scores, ratings or other indicators. The Information may 

only be used for your internal use, may not be reproduced or 

redisseminated in any form and may not be used as a basis 

for, or a component of, any financial instruments or products or 

indices. Although they obtain information from sources they con-

sider reliable, none of the ESG Parties warrants or guarantees 

the originality, accuracy and/or completeness, of any data herein 

and expressly disclaim all express or implied warranties, includ-

ing those of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. 

None of the Information is intended to constitute investment 

advice or a recommendation to make (or refrain from making) 

any kind of investment decision and may not be relied on as 

such, nor should it be taken as an indication or guarantee of any 

future performance, analysis, forecast or prediction. None of the 

ESG Parties shall have any liability for any errors or omissions in 

connection with any data or Information herein, or any liability for 

any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential or any other 

damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility 

of such damages. 

Usage of index data

The MSCI information may only be used for your internal use, may 

not be reproduced or redisseminated in any form and may not be 

used as a basis for or a component of any financial instruments 

or products or indices. None of the MSCI information is intended 

to constitute investment advice or a recommendation to make 

(or refrain from making) any kind of investment decision and may 

not be relied on as such. Historical data and analysis should not 

be taken as an indication or guarantee of any future performance 

analysis, forecast or prediction. The MSCI information is provided 

on an “as is” basis and the user of this information assumes the 

entire risk of any use made of this information. MSCI, each of its 

affiliates and each other person involved in or related to com-

piling, computing or creating any MSCI information (collectively, 

the “MSCI Parties”) expressly disclaims all warranties (including, 

without limitation, any warranties of originality, accuracy, com-

pleteness, timeliness, non-infringement, merchantability and fit-

ness for a particular purpose) with respect to this information. 

Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall any MSCI 

Party have any liability for any direct, indirect, special, incidental, 

punitive, consequential (including, without limitation, lost profits) 

or any other damages. (www.msci.com)








	Blank Page



